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Distribution Finance Capital Holdings plc

("DF Capital" or the "Company" together with its subsidiaries the "Group")
 

Audited Results for the year ended 31 December 2024
 

Strong performance ahead of initial expectations
 

Distribution Finance Capital Holdings plc, the specialist bank providing working capital solutions to dealers and
manufacturers across the UK, today announces its audited results for the year ended 31 December 2024.
 
Highlights

2024 2023 Change
Performance
Loan Book (£m) 666 581 15%
New loans advanced to customers (£m) 1,440 1,200 20%
No of dealer customers 1,334 1,182 13%
Financial
Gross Revenue (£m) 76.8 60.4 27%
Net Income (£m) 45.6 38.0 20%
Cost of Risk (bps) (4) 228 (102%)
Profit before tax (£m) 19.1 4.6 317%
Net Assets (£m) 115.4 100.4 15%
Basic earnings per share (pence) 7.8 1.8 338%
Tangible net asset value per share (pence) 63.8 55.6 15%

 
 

·     Strong financial performance, delivering profit before tax of £19.1m, including a £4.7m write
back of a provision made in 2023, more than four times 2023 outturn

·     Strong growth in new loan origination of £1.44bn, up almost £250m on the prior year supporting
a record year-end loan book of £666m, up 15% on 2023

·     Net Interest Margin ("NIM") increased by 30bps to 7.9%, well ahead of target
·     Strong credit risk performance with continued low number of arrears cases: 33 dealers (2023:

30), with arrears one day past due and in legal recovery, representing less than 3% of the
Group's entire dealer customer base

·     Retail deposits increased during the year by £75m to £650m with over 15,600 savings accounts
·     Tangible net asset value per share increased by 8.2p to 63.8p, up 15% on 2023.
·     Continued progress in diversifying the Group's product set and end markets, ensuring further

avenues for long-term growth without the need for a dilutive capital raise
 
 
Carl D'Ammassa, Chief Executive, commented: "2024 was another year of significant progress for the Group,
marking our third consecutive year of profit growth since our authorisation in 2020. This year, we have continued to
scale the bank in our core inventory finance lending space, whilst also making investments in new products and
services, bringing to life our ambitions to become a multi-product lender. I am incredibly proud of the team and the
products we are bringing to life for our customers. We have an exciting journey ahead of us."
 
An overview video of the results, by CEO Carl D'Ammassa, is available to watch here:
https://bit.ly/DFCH_FY2024_overview and on the Company's website: https://www.dfcapital-investors.com/
 
Analyst presentation
The Company will host an analyst webinar at 9am today relating to the results. Analysts wishing to join can register
by emailing dfcapital@almastrategic.com.
 
Investor presentation
The Company will also provide a presentation to existing and potential shareholders via the Investor Meet Company
platform at 2:30pm. Investors can register for the webinar here: https://www.investormeetcompany.com/distribution-
finance-capital-holdings-plc/register-investor
 
A recording of the presentation will be made available on the Company's website following the conclusion of the
investor presentation.
 
Annual General Meeting
The Company will hold its Annual General Meeting on 4 June 2025 at the Company's registered office in
Manchester.  The Notice of AGM and Form of Proxy will be posted to shareholders in due course and a copy will be
available at www.dfcapital-investors.com.
 
The Group's full Annual Report and Financial Statements have today been published and are available on its investor
website at www.dfcapital-investors.com.  
 
The person responsible for arranging the release of this announcement on behalf of the Company is Karen D'Souza
(Company Secretary).
 
For further information contact:

https://bit.ly/DFCH_FY2024_overview
https://www.dfcapital-investors.com/
mailto:dfcapital@almastrategic.com
https://www.investormeetcompany.com/distribution-finance-capital-holdings-plc/register-investor
http://www.dfcapital-investors.com/
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For further information contact:
 
Distribution Finance Capital Holdings plc
Carl D'Ammassa - Chief Executive Officer +44 (0) 161 413 3391
Kam Bansil - Head of Investor Relations +44 (0) 7779 229508
http://www.dfcapital-investors.com
 
Panmure Liberum Limited (Nomad and Broker) +44 (0) 203 100 2000
Chris Clarke
William King
 
Alma Strategic Communications +44 (0) 203 405 0235
Josh Royston
Hilary Buchanan
Hannah Campbell
Sarah Peters
 
About DF Capital
 
DF Capital is a specialist independent bank providing award-winning commercial finance solutions and savings
products to consumers and small businesses.
 
Founded in 2016, the Group is headquartered in Manchester with over 130 people. DF Capital's commercial lending
supports, distributors and manufacturers across sectors including Automotive, Leisure and Luxury. In 2020, the
Group became a fully authorised bank and started offering a range of consumer savings products.
 
The Group is listed on AIM on the London Stock Exchange under the ticker DFCH.
For more information, please visit www.dfcapital.bank
 
Chair's Statement
It is with immense pride that I present my statement for the last financial year. 2025 marks my sixth year with the
Company, having assumed the role of Chair in 2021. During this time, it has been truly rewarding to see how the firm
has grown and developed, having achieved the status of a bank only four years ago. This year, we are pleased to
report significant year-on-year increases in profit, continued loan book growth and the imminent launch of new
products and services. Such accomplishments are remarkable, especially considering the early-stage nature of our
bank. As a Board, we believe that DF Capital's journey since authorisation has been exceptional, marked by
outstanding delivery and achievement of key milestones.

This year, in addition to our strong financial performance, we have made great progress towards our ambitions to be a
multi-product lender, supporting our dealer and manufacturer customers in a bigger way though lending product
adjacencies. Our singular focus on reaching profitability quickly after authorisation has paid off. We have a strong
financial base and accretive capital position that allows us to grow at meaningful levels year-on-year. We are now in a
virtuous circle of scale, generating increasing levels of annualised earnings, which in turn creates capital unlocking
further scale in our lending capacity.

Our updated medium-term guidance, which does not require additional Tier 1 capital, sets the firm apart from many
early-stage banks. We are now delivering double digit returns on equity that is firmly "baked in" to our financial
performance and we are on track to achieving mid-to-high teens returns in the medium term.

Whilst delivering on our financial objectives is undoubtedly critical, what I believe further sets DF Capital apart is the
equal focus given to having a strong positive culture, where employees can thrive and demonstrate their passion to
deliver the very best levels of customer service. As a Board, we do not put the financial successes down to good
fortune. We believe it is the careful orchestration of a strong strategic focus, great culture, fabulous people and
exceptional leadership that bring this level of performance to life.

The team at DF Capital is passionate about its purpose, doing the right thing and giving back to the communities in
which it operates. Throughout our workforce, the ambition and enthusiasm for what they do is palpable. My fellow
Board members and I enjoy spending time with the DF Capital team, lending our support and providing constructive
challenge to the management team to drive greater success.

The Board believes DF Capital is an exciting growth story with a strong investment case. It's undoubted that we have
many opportunities ahead of us to further scale the bank at attractive risk adjusted returns in specialised lending
niches. The management team's focus on delivering exceptional service to our borrowers and retail depositors,
through scalable and cost-efficient technology solutions sets it apart, demonstrated by the significant year-over-year
growth in lending and strength of customer sentiment and the industry recognition and awards received.

We believe the launch of our share buyback programme in January 2025 sends a clear message about the
confidence we have in the Group's intrinsic earnings potential and runway for further growth. As a Board, we continue
to believe the Group's share price undervalues its current and future prospects and given this material disparity we felt
compelled to launch the programme.

It is also undoubted that we have a high-quality team at DF Capital, but this level of performance is not possible
without supportive shareholders, customers and wider stakeholders, to whom I extend my gratitude.

Whilst the global macro-economic uncertainty and some negative business sentiments in the UK remain, I'm
optimistic about DF Capital's future prospects. We are at a point of transformation for the firm as we accelerate our
multi-product lending ambitions and drive further scale across the bank, unconstrained by legacy issues or
remediation activities felt by others in the sector.

Mark Stephens

Independent Non-executive Chair

Chief Executive Officer's Report
2024 has seen us continue to scale the bank in line with our growth plans. In particular, we are proud to have
delivered our third consecutive year of profit, only four years since being authorised as a bank in 2020. During that
time, we have seen more than a sevenfold increase in our loan book, supported by our retail savings proposition, and
it is this scaling of lending that underpins our franchise and overall profit generation.

The Group has delivered pre-tax profit of £19.1m being more than a four-fold increase on the prior year (2023: £4.6m),
including a significant write-back of the provision we made last year relating to RoyaleLife and associated companies.
The Group's adjusted pre-tax profit is £14.4m being a 55% year on year increase (2023: £9.3m). Tangible net asset
value per share increased significantly during the period to 63.8p (2023: 55.6p).

http://www.dfcapital-investors.com/
http://www.dfcapital.bank


I believe the Group's performance in the year clearly demonstrates the successful delivery against our strategic
objective to become a multi-product lender. I'm extremely proud of the business we continue to build and the products
and services we are bringing to life for our customers.

Disciplined approach to growth drives strength of financial return
The Group continues to operate in attractive niche lending markets, providing working capital solutions to dealers and
manufacturers. Despite significant macro-economic headwinds, we have continued to grow our new loan origination
both in the core inventory finance product and new product adjacencies. New loan origination reached £1.44bn up
almost £250m on the prior year (2023; £1.2bn). The Group's loan book increased by almost 15% to £666m (2023:
£581m).

Whilst we remain focused on delivering double digit rates of loan book growth, we have not compromised on credit
quality and have also maintained a disciplined approach to pricing, given the value and opportunity our lending
products unlock for our customers.

We have selectively increased our lending customers to 1,334 (2023: 1,182) and now support 88 (2023: 89)
manufacturer partners, who meet our current credit standards and represent scalable ongoing relationships. Total
credit lines pledged to customers were £1,142m (2023: £1,030m). The number of dealers in arrears held strong at 33
(2023: 30), with arrears classified as a payment of at least one day past due, representing less than 3% of the
Group's entire dealer customer base. The Group's total arrears closed the year at £4.3m (2023: £14.0m), equal to
0.64% (2023: 2.4%) of total lending.

Net Interest Margin (NIM) increased marginally through the year to 7.9% (2023: 7.6%), a significant driver of our year-
over-year profit improvement.

Our operating platform is significantly scalable and, whilst costs have increased overall given new hires, investments
in technology and product capabilities, as well as general inflationary pressures, our cost-to-income ratio broadly held
at 59% (2023: 58%). We expect this cost income ratio to continue to fall over the medium term as the Group scales
its loan book, and expect this ratio to be less than 50% by 2028.

The Group's adjusted return on equity, excluding the RoyaleLife write back, is on the cusp of exceeding 10% at 9.8%
(2023: 6.7%).

Continued momentum in core lending product builds market share
In our core inventory finance product, the range of end-user markets we support remains stable and our portfolio
continues to be well diversified across multiple sectors. Undoubtedly, it has been another unpredictable year from a
macro-economic perspective, impacted further by the change in Government during the second half of the year.

During the year we have grown our market share, demonstrated through the increase in new loan origination, which
reached £1.44bn. It is clear in some sectors that the measures from the UK Government's budget caused a number
of dealers to be more cautious in ordering and holding inventory over the festive period and winter months, traditionally
a period where dealers would build up stock in readiness for the spring and the period where end-user sales ordinarily
increase. This reticence has continued through the start of 2025, whilst some dealers consider the wider impact on
their business of anticipated business rates increases, alongside an increase in employers' national insurance
contributions and an expectation of interest rates continuing to be elevated.

Average stock days, which measures the average age of loans outstanding, was 145 days for the year remaining
consistent with the prior year (2023: 145 days). We saw a modest reduction during Q4 2024 to 140 days (Q4 2023:
148 days).

Overall, we are pleased with where our loan book closed the year at £666m, up 15% on 2023. We continue to make
significant strides forward in the motorhomes and caravans, marine, motorcycles and automotive sectors, where we
have grown our market share materially during the year despite some of the market challenges.

Motorhome and caravan end-user demand has been particularly high during the second half of the year given the
better weather conditions, encouraging people to seek out domestic holidays. This increase in demand and a
rebalance of production by manufacturers has allowed dealers to adjust their stock levels to better align to anticipated
demand. Elevated end-user demand for motorhomes and pre-orders saw an unprecedented number of sales during
the first half of the year, reaching more normalised levels after the summer months.

In the caravan tourer market, much of the year has been characterised by stock overhang from prior years, with
manufacturers adjusting production to better match dealer orders meaning that fewer new units have been
manufactured during the year. End-user demand was slower in the first half having been adversely impacted by poor
weather conditions.

The holiday home and lodge sector has continued to work through more challenging times, caused by severe weather
conditions and the aftermath of the failure of RoyaleLife. That being said, having now adjusted production levels, sales
are increasing as park operators fill stock gaps and rebalance their existing stock towards larger units in line with
demand. The market has seen some shift to short-term holiday rental bookings versus sales of units; the Group's
flexible lending products ably help unlock this opportunity for the park operators. Additionally, there continues to be a
healthy level of activity among those with sizeable pension pots looking to make investments in prefabricated holiday
homes to enjoy during retirement.

Like other sectors, marine manufacturers have also adjusted their production levels to align better with end-user
demand, particularly at the leisure craft / smaller boat end of the market. Larger boats continue to see strong
demand.

Generally, end-users in these leisure focused markets are resilient to the impact of elevated interest rates and cost of
living pressures, leaving dealers buoyant about prospects in 2025 and beyond.

Whilst growing from a low base, the automotive sector has seen consistent levels of demand across higher value
cars, with more challenging times relating to conventional and electric vehicles in particular. This more challenging
landscape has been mirrored in the transport sector, particularly the light commercial vehicles space where some
market participants have ran significant discount campaigns, adding pressure to our distributor partners who operate
in this market. Government policy on electric vehicles has also materially impacted demand for new EVs more
generally.

The industrial sectors, which is predominantly plant and machinery, correlates closely with government plans of major
infrastructure projects. Constraints to the HS2 programme and project delays due to change in government impacted
much of the year, although as we closed out 2024, we started to see green shoots of optimism.

The agricultural sector has seen investment tightening, firstly driven by the poor weather that impacted crop
harvesting, but more recently aligned to government policy which has created uncertainty amongst farming
community. Groundscare and forestry have remained buoyant throughout, although are small sectors for us.

Our diversification across these sectors, whilst maintaining intimacy in our relationships, whether dealers or
manufacturers, allows us to successfully navigate market challenges and support lending opportunities. We have
demonstrated our commitment to providing funding solutions that help our customers through more unpredictable



demonstrated our commitment to providing funding solutions that help our customers through more unpredictable
times whilst also allowing them to capitalise on opportunities presented to them and support their growth.

Looking forward, we believe adding new manufacturer partners and entering new sectors will provide further downside
protection should markets deteriorate. Our recent entry into the renewables asset class, specifically solar panels and
batteries, is a great example of how we continue to innovate and develop our proposition around a common capability
and financial product offering.

Structuring finance solutions that deepen relationships
Through the year we have been presented with more opportunities to support existing customers, partners or known
industry participants with structured or bespoke lending solutions. Drawing on the extensive experience and expertise
we have across the bank, we have been able to provide an array of ancillary lending products to our customers, which
includes short-term working capital, wholesale funding (i.e. lending to non-bank lenders), business related bridging,
receivables financing or business to business hire purchase loans. These opportunities are tailored to an individual
customer or partner's need and offer us attractive risk-adjusted returns.

Following the launch of these bespoke lending solutions in Q1 2023, we have successfully grown lending in this area
to almost £75m in 2024 (2023: £18m). Whilst always expected to be relatively small, and not representing more than
10-15% of our entire lending balance, having this lending capability is important and allows us to deepen our
relationships with existing customers and play an active role in supporting opportunities and sector participants right
across the spectrum of markets in which we operate.

We are particularly excited about the recently announced relationship with Satago Financial Solutions Limited
("Satago"), a leading provider of Lending as a Service software solutions and invoice financing, which will unlock
invoice discounting capabilities for our existing customers sitting alongside an inventory finance facility. This
arrangement will also enable us to selectively tap into Satago's partnerships, where they have their lending capability
integrated to accounting platforms and alike.

Over and above this, we have also continued to leverage our Euro-zone lending capabilities, to support selective
dealers in Republic of Ireland and Netherlands. At the end of the year, we had lent approximately €5m across this
customer cohort. Whilst we do not have immediate plans to expand into Europe in any meaningful way, having this
capability and being able to selectively support our existing dealer and manufacturer relationships is helpful. Equally,
this capability allows us to build knowledge and experience operating on a multi-currency basis, providing optionality
for the future as we continue to scale.

Asset Finance unlocks significant future growth and our multi-product lending ambitions
Having ruled out the pursuit of inorganic product development opportunities through M&A, we started the self-build of
an asset finance capability in early 2024. We believe this is the natural extension to our existing manufacturer and
dealer relationships by unlocking the opportunity to finance assets "beyond the forecourt", supporting the retail sales
of our dealer customers and thereby deepening our relationships with those dealers even further. Hire purchase and
leasing, commonly known as asset finance, are typical lending products required by end-users in order to purchase
dealers' products and is viewed as a welcomed addition to our proposition.

Having identified the leisure market, specifically motorhomes and caravans, as the best entry point for us, we are now
well progressed in both the product build and onboarding of dealers. In February 2025, as previously announced, we
were granted the relevant regulatory permissions in order to provide asset finance to consumer borrowers. Distributed
through existing dealer customers, these markets are significant in size, many times larger than those in which we
operate today. Importantly, this lending is also much longer tenor (three to five years) than our traditional core
inventory finance product which averaged c145 days during 2024. This will provide the basis of a 'stickier' loan book
and fuel an acceleration of our medium term loan book growth.

There has been much publicity around the challenges facing the motor finance sector following both the FCA's motor
finance review and the Court of Appeal's ruling in relation to commission disclosure. This has proven highly beneficial
to us in the build of our own capability. Having completed our application to the FCA, responded to their questions
and ensured our own capabilities address all elements of the motor finance sector challenges, we enter the consumer
asset finance market with no legacy issues, a proposition and offering that aligns to the most stringent standards,
whilst being a platform for further growth at a time when other lenders could find themselves distracted by remediation
activities.

Strength of deposit raising supports our lending ambitions
We have demonstrated over the four years or so since we were fully authorised as a bank, that having great savings
rates coupled with exceptional customer service resonates with depositors. We continue to iterate our savings
service proposition, making it even easier for customers to transact with us, whilst always knowing that they can
quickly, efficiently and effectively speak to one of our Manchester-based savings team when they need to.

Nothing has changed about how we do business in this regard. Our savings products are available using "Best Buy
Tables" as a route to attract savers, with a super-fast application journey that allows customers to open an account in
minutes, being issued with a dedicated sort-code and account number immediately on successful application.

We received feefo's Platinum Trusted Service Award in 2024 and again in 2025, building on their Exceptional Award
from 2023. We consistently achieve 4.8 feefo stars from our depositor customers for the service we offer.

We closed the year with £650m of deposits (2023: £575m) with over 15,600 accounts (2023: c.15,200 accounts) up
3% on the prior year. Having diversification to our saving product maturity profile remains a significant focus for us,
and we raised over £430m of new deposit or reinvestments through the year in the easy access, notice and fixed rate
markets. The average rate for new deposits was 5.1%.

Fostering a positive culture
Achieving consistent world class levels of employee engagement is at the heart of what we do. We have long believed
that having employees that are highly invested in our strategic ambitions, understand what we are looking to achieve
and do the right thing for our customers, communities, the environment and their colleagues define the quality of
shareholder return.

DF Capital has been ranked amongst the best places to work in the UK by Best Companies. We are recognised as
offering world class levels of employee engagement as a 3-star organisation and ranked:

- #5 Top Companies to Work For in the Financial Services Sector

- #21 Top Mid-Sized Companies to Work For in the UK
- #36 Top Companies to Work For in the North West

 
We believe giving back to our local communities is core to being a great place to work. We punch above our weight in
this regard and were recognised by Best Companies as the Top Mid-Sized Company for community initiatives. Our
"Mega Give Back" day is now firmly engrained in our operating rhythm, alongside many hours of voluntary work the



"Mega Give Back" day is now firmly engrained in our operating rhythm, alongside many hours of voluntary work the
DF Capital team consistently offer to community initiatives.
 
In creating an environment where our employees feel they can thrive, fulfil their careers ambitions and seek out
opportunities to grow and develop, I believe we've nailed a key ingredient to having a highly sustainable business
model. Accordingly, the extent of financial return is no surprise to me.
I am proud of the culture at DF Capital and what the team has achieved since being authorised as a bank in
September 2020.
 
Outlook
 
We are at an exciting point in the Group's strategic journey. 2025 will see us truly become a multi-product lender,
with significant opportunity to grow our lending and further scale the bank. With scale comes increasing returns and,
being on the cusp of double digit returns in 2024 already, we believe we are well on our way to achieve the high-teens
ROE we have talked about for some time.
 
The Group is not short of opportunities to grow, and our plans touch three key areas:-
 
Core inventory finance
 
- Grow market share in current sectors with existing and new relationships
- Enter new sectors and specifically leverage new technology to allow lending against other types of

serialised assets
 

Asset Finance
 
- Unlock lending in existing sectors that support dealer sales
 
Structured finance
 
- Providing bespoke lending solutions to existing customers and market participants
- Working capital / invoice discounting for existing and new customers through Satago relationship
 
As we look beyond 2025, we will continue to diligently and ruthlessly ensure our capital is put to work where we can
achieve the best risk adjusted returns.
 
We are now generating meaningful levels of annualised profit, organically delivering capital that unlocks further growth.
With scale we become even more cost efficient, underpinning our medium-term guidance. We do not require
additional dilutive Tier 1 capital to be raised from shareholders to support our medium-term growth plans and can
develop our loan book and scale at a healthy level year-on-year.
The opportunities ahead of us are immense, I'm excited about our future plans, whilst always cautious and vigilant
about the uncertainties presented by the global macro-economic environment.

Carl D'Ammassa

Chief Executive Officer

 

Chief Financial Officer's Report
We are delighted to report another year of strong and increasing profitability with continued momentum, delivering pre-
tax profit of £19.1m for the year, including a £4.7m recovery on a previously impaired loan, up 317% on the prior year
(2023: £4.6m). As we scale the business, we continue to increase returns with an adjusted return on equity for the
year of 9.8% (2023: 6.7%) and adjusted basic earnings per share for the year of 5.9p (2023: 3.7p).

Significant revenue growth whilst maintaining a strong Net Interest Margin
Gross revenues, which are predominantly comprised of interest and similar income, increased by 27% to £76.8m
(2023: £60.4m). The increase is a result of the 15% year-on-year loan book growth combined with a 10% increase in
gross yield for the year at 12.2% (2023: 11.1%). This increase in gross yield reflects our ability to pass on the base
rate rises that occurred through 2023 into newly originated loans.

Net Interest Margin (NIM), which is gross yield less interest expense, increased by 4% during the period to 7.9%
(2023: 7.6%).

The average cost of retail deposits increased during the year to 5.16% (2023: 4.27%) driven by base rate increases
over the life of the deposit book. As the Group's deposit book is predominantly an array of fixed rate tenors, it takes
time for increasing deposit rates to fully flow through to the deposit book as a whole, only impacting as older maturing
deposits are replaced by newer deposits at higher rates. Accordingly, during a period of rising base rates the loan
book has repriced more quickly than the deposit book given its shorter average tenor with this effect seen during 2023
and H1 2024. Additionally, since base rates started increasing from late 2021, the underlying increase in the cost of
new and retention of maturing existing deposits has not increased to the same extent as the base rate increase
leading to an additional increase in the underlying NIM over this period of base rate increase.

Summarised Statement of Comprehensive
Income

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Gross revenues 76,805 60,350
Interest expense (31,208) (22,336)
Net income 45,597 38,014
Operating expenses (26,714) (21,843)
Impairment charges 241 (11,598)
Provisions for commitments and other liabilities (50)
Profit before taxation 19,074 4,573
Taxation (5,053) (1,418)
Profit after taxation 14,021 3,155
Other comprehensive income 75 183
Total comprehensive profit 14,095 3,338
 

Net income, which is gross revenues less interest expense, increased by 20% to £45.6m (2023: £38.0m) given the
movement in these underlying components set out above.



movement in these underlying components set out above.

Investing in future growth
During the year we commenced the organic build of our asset finance lending capability. This has included, in late
2024, onboarding some senior hires to support these new products. Following FCA approval received in February
2025, we expect the launch of the new consumer lending products during H1 2025. Recruitment of personnel to
support this asset finance lending is currently underway and we expect, given the early development of this product
that it will have a c£2m drag on the Group's overall pre-tax profit in 2025, targeting breakeven of asset finance lending
in 2026.

Since the firm's inception we have focussed on, and have delivered, a highly digitised platform. However, to service
our proposition as a competitive differentiator, we continue to recognise the importance of further automation and
leveraging technology to provide continuous enhancements. During the year, these investments in robotic process
automation and character-recognition technologies, as well as deploying new market leading technology solutions
have enabled us to provide new products to our customers. Additionally, as a maturing bank, we continue to enhance
our underlying controls, with further investment in cyber security and in our risk management technology during the
year.

The Group's headcount reached 137 employees at the year end (31 December 2023: 133 employees) with an average
headcount during the year of 136 employees (2023: 126 employees). This headcount reflects that the people
resource required over the near term to scale our existing lending and retail deposit propositions (excluding the new
asset finance proposition) are already substantively embedded in the business, allowing us to unlock further
operational leverage on the existing loan book as we continue to grow our lending.

Total operating expenses for the year were £26.7m (2023: £21.8m) comprising £16.0m of staff costs (2023: £13.4m)
and £10.7m of other operating expenses (2023: 8.4m).

Strong credit risk performance
Despite the challenging macro-economic and higher interest rate environment the Group's overdue accounts have
continued to perform exceptionally well. This reflects the quality of our customer base, underpinned by the strength of
our credit risk and portfolio management. The number of customers with arrears one day past due at 31 December
2024 was 33 (31 December 2023: 30) comprising less than 3% of the Group's entire customer base, which includes
19 cases in legal recovery. The Group's total arrears closed the year at £4.3m (31 December 2023: £14.0m), equal to
just 0.6% of total lending.

As at 31 December 2023 an almost full provision of c£10m had been made in respect of RoyaleLife and associated
companies ("RoyaleLife") being equivalent to the customers entire outstanding unrecoverable balance at that time.
During 2024 we have diligently and proactively looked to make the fullest recovery possible. Due to this we have
recovered assets and cash of £1.7m and completed the successful negotiation of a £3m settlement against property
that is currently pending sale and is subject to a new counterparty loan. This has resulted in the write back of £4.7m
of the provision, reducing impairment losses in the year accordingly.

31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21

Arrears - principal
repayment, fees and
interest

1-30 days past due 271 696 136 105

31-60 days past due 1,146 265 1,084 834

61-90 days past due 199 946 25 0

91 days + past due 2,646 12,102 5,885 164

4,262 14,009 7,130 1,103

% Loan book 0.6% 2.4% 1.6% 0.4%

Associated principal
balance

    

1-30 days past due 1,305 1,253 2,016 951

31-60 days past due 2,623 717 1,512 834

61-90 days past due 449 1900 214 0

91 days + past due 3,912 12,821 16,317 184

 8,289 16,691 20,058 1,970

% Loan book 1.2% 2.9% 4.6% 0.8%

 

Cost of risk for the year was a gain in 2024 of 0.04% (2023: cost 2.28%), however excluding this RoyaleLife impact,
the adjusted cost of risk for the year would have been 0.75% (2023: 1.36%). We are very pleased with this underlying
cost of risk which reflects our proactive credit risk management supported by the ability to remediate dealer defaults
by product redistribution through our customer network or sale of our secured assets to other parties.

Portfolio ageing
We use average outstanding loan tenor as the most appropriate stock days measure to determine how our portfolio is
ageing compared to our historical experience and our sector tolerance levels used for portfolio oversight. Our
historical data, which covers 2018 to 2023, is significantly impacted by both pandemic and post-pandemic market
dynamics. During 2024, for the first time since 2020, we have seen normalised seasonality returning to the leisure
sectors with high levels of repayments over the spring/summer "selling" season and reduced repayments during the
autumn/winter "stocking" season.

Overall, there has been a modest reduction in stock days at year end to 140 days (December 2023: 148 days). This
reduction is a factor of both underlying sector movements and portfolio sector mix change.



The diversity of the portfolio sector characteristics means stock days have increased across some sectors and
decreased in others. Motorhome and caravan stock days has increased to 125 days (December 2023: 98 days), with
strong ongoing demand through the year but with manufacturers rebalancing production to align with demand. The
lodges sector has seen an increase in stock days to 278 days (December 2023: 239 days) driven by dealers earlier
in the year not acquiring new stock whilst they reduced stock levels, although manufacturer orders increased in the
second half with the stock days reducing towards the year end accordingly. In the transport sector dealers have been
better managing their inventory levels to match muted demand with a reduction in stock days to 93 days (December
2023: 122 days). Marine stock days has reduced to 119 days (December 2023: 147 days) as manufacturers better
align their production to customer demand.

The main mix change driving a decrease in overall portfolio stock days has been the below portfolio average stock
turning motorhome and caravan sector seeing significant growth to 35% of the inventory finance portfolio at December
2024 (December 2023: 23%), whilst the above portfolio average stock days in the lodge sector has reduced to 15% of
the inventory finance portfolio at December 2024 (December 2023: 26%).

Overall, all sectors of the portfolio operate well within our tolerances.

Strong underlying security position
In our core inventory finance lending product, we take legal title against individual assets to provide working capital to
fund dealers' inventory or stock. The Group's lending relative to its security position continues to remain strong with a
Loan to Wholesale Value ('LTV') of 84% (31 December 2023: 85%). We do not advance funds measured against retail
prices, which typically represent a mark-up of approximately 20% on the wholesale invoice price. Accordingly, for the
Group to incur losses on recovery of an asset in the event of default there would need to be an average reduction of
approximately 30% in retail prices across the sectors and products we lend against.

We have manufacturer repurchase or redistribution agreements in place across c60% of our inventory finance loan
book (2023: c.60%) which further mitigate credit losses. Also, we often hold additional security in the form of personal
and/or cross company guarantees.

Growth ambitions underpinned by a well-capitalised balance sheet
As at 31 December 2024 the Group's equity stood at £115.4m (31 December 2023: £100.4m). Regulatory capital
which is the Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital together with Tier 2 capital increased to £109.0m (31 December
2023 £89.5m). This includes £10m drawn in 2023 under the £20m Tier 2 capital facility with British Business
Investments.

During the year the ENABLE Guarantee with the British Business Bank, which was entered in 2023, was upsized
from £250m to £350m. The strong retained earnings and increased utilisation of the ENABLE Guarantee has meant
that despite an increase in the loan book of 15%, the CET1 ratio only reduced by a small amount ending the year at
21.6% (31 December 2023: 22.8%). This CET1 ratio is well above our regulatory minimum.

Given the combination of an existing well capitalised balance sheet, the sizeable retained earnings expected to be
generated going forwards, increasing utilisation of the ENABLE Guarantee and full utilisation of the Tier 2 facility, the
business expects to be able to meet its medium term financial targets without the need to raise any additional Tier 1
capital.

Gavin Morris

Chief Financial Officer

 Recent trend vs expected
norms

  Actual Actual

 New Loans Repayments Historical
Annual

Average

Tolerance
Level

31-Dec-
24

31-Dec-
23

Agriculture In line In line 119 240 153 141

Automotive In line In line 73 200 84 83

Industrial In line In line 120 250 179 167

Lodges Lower Slower 154 300 278 239

Marine Higher Faster 132 250 119 147

Motorcycle Higher Faster 107 200 107 113

Motorhome & Caravan Higher In line 105 200 125 98

Transport Lower Faster 86 200 93 122

Loan book average 128 240 150 148

 
Report of the Directors
The Directors  present their Annual  Report on the affairs  of the Group, together with the consol idated financial  s tatements ,
company financial  s tatements  and auditor's  report, for the year ended 31 December 2024.
 
Detai ls  of s ignificant subsequent events  are contained in note 45 to these consol idated financial  s tatements . An indica(on
of l ikely future developments  in the bus iness  of the Group are included in the Strategic Report section.
 
I nforma(on about the use of financial  instruments  by the Group is  detai led within note 39 to the consol idated financial
statements .
 
Principal activity
The principal  ac(vity of the Group is  as  a  specia l is t savings  and commercial  lending bank group. The Group provides  niche
working capital  funding solu(ons to dealers  and manufacturers  across  the UK , enabled by compe((vely priced customer
savings  products .
 
Results and dividends
The total  comprehensive profit for the year, a/er taxa(on, amounted to £14,096,000 (2023: £3,338,000). The Directors  do
not recommend the payment of a  dividend (2023: £ni l ).



not recommend the payment of a  dividend (2023: £ni l ).
 
Directors'
The Directors  who held office during the year and up to the date of the Directors ' report were as  fol lows:
 
Mark Stephens
Sheryl  Lawrence                                 
Nicole Col l                                             
Thomas Grathwohl
Haakon Stenrød                                  
Carl  D'Ammassa                                   
Gavin Morris
 
Directors' shareholdings
As at 31 December 2024, the Directors  held the fol lowing ordinary shares  in the Company:

Director Position No. of ordinary shares Voting rights (%)
 

Mark Stephens Independent Board Chair              62,500 0.03%
Thomas Grathwohl Independent Non-Executive Director            533,312 0.30%
Carl  D'Ammassa Chief Executive Officer            638,666 0.36%
Gavin Morris Chief Financial  Officer            470,816 0.26%
 
Significant shareholders
As at 31 December 2024, the fol lowing par(es  held greater than 3% of i ssued share capital  in the Company in accordance
with the requirements  of Rule 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules:

 No. of ordinary shares Voting rights (%)
 

Watrium AS                                                         28,827,593 16.07%
Davidson Kempner Capital  Management                                                         23,899,990 13.32%
Lombard Odier Investment Managers                                                         17,856,408 9.96%
Janus Henderson Investors 17,299,501 9.64%
River Global  Investors                                                         16,925,000 9.44%
Premier Miton Investors                                                         12,745,000 7.11%
Crucible Clari ty Fund                                                            8,149,922 4.54%
BlackRock                                                            7,388,910 4.12%
Al l ianz Global  Investors                                                            6,266,736 3.49%
 
Political and charitable donations
The Group made chari table dona(ons of £23,335 (2023: £11,703) and no pol i(cal  dona(ons during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: £ni l ).
 
Annual General Meeting
The Company an(cipates  holding i ts  Annual  General  Mee(ng in June 2025.  The No(ce of AGM and Form of P roxy wi l l  be
posted to shareholders  in due course and a copy wi l l  be avai lable at www.dfcapital -investors .com. The AGM wi l l  be held at
the Company's  registered office in Manchester.
 
Directors' insurance and indemnities
The Group has  maintained Directors  and O fficers  l iabi l i ty insurance for the benefit of the Group, the Directors , and i ts
officers . The Directors  cons ider the level  of cover appropriate for the bus iness  and wi l l  remain in place for the foreseeable
future.
 
Statement of Going Concern
The Directors  have completed a formal  assessment of the Group's  financial  resources. I n making this  assessment the
Directors  have cons idered the Group's  current avai lable capital  and l iquidity resources, the bus iness  financial  projec(ons
and the outcome of stress  tes(ng. Based on this  review, the Directors  bel ieve that the Group is  wel l  placed to manage i ts
bus iness  risks  successful ly within the expected economic outlook. See note 1.6 for further detai ls .
 
Accordingly, the Directors  have a reasonable expecta(on that the Group has  adequate resources  to con(nue in opera(onal
existence for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of the financial  s tatements . Accordingly, they
continue to adopt the going concern bas is  in preparing the Annual  Report and Financial  Statements .
 
Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance Report on pages  63 to 99 contains  informa(on about the Group's  corporate governance
arrangements .
 
Subsequent events
Detai ls  rela(ng to s ignificant events  occurring between 31 December 2024 and the date of approval  of the financial
statements  are detai led further within Note 45 of the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
Disclosure of information to the auditor
Each of the persons  who is  a  Director at the date of approval  of this  annual  report confi rms that:
 
● so far as  the Director is  aware, there is  no relevant audit informa(on of which the Company's

auditors  are unaware; and

● the Director has  taken al l  the steps  that they ought to have taken as  a  Director in order to make
themself aware of any relevant audit informa(on and to establ ish that the Company's  auditors  are
aware of that information.

 
This  confi rmation is  given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provis ions  of s418 of the Companies  Act 2006.
 
Reappointment of auditor
DeloiKe LLP  have expressed their wi l l ingness  to con(nue in office as  auditors  and a resolu(on to reappoint them wi l l  be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual  General  Meeting.



proposed at the forthcoming Annual  General  Meeting.
 
 
Approved by the Board on 01 Apri l  2025 and s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 
 
 
………………………………………..
Carl  D'Ammassa
Director

 

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report and the Group and parent Company financial  s tatements  in
accordance with appl icable law and regulations.
 
Company law requires  the Directors  to prepare Group and parent Company financial  s tatements  for each financial  year.
Under that law the Directors  have elected to prepare the financial  s tatements  in accordance with United K ingdom adopted
I nterna(onal  Accoun(ng Standards. The financial  s tatements  a lso comply with I nterna(onal  F inancial  Repor(ng
Standards  (I F RSs) as  i ssued by the I nterna(onal  Accoun(ng Standards  Board (I AS B). The Directors  have chosen to prepare
the parent Company financial  s tatements  on the same bas is .
 
Under company law the Directors  must not approve the financial  s tatements  unless  they are sa(sfied that they give a  true
and fa ir view of the state of affa irs  of the Group and parent Company and of their profi t or loss  of the Group for the year.
 
In preparing these consol idated financial  s tatements  and Company financial  s tatements , the Directors  are required to:
 
● properly select and apply accounting pol icies ;

● present informa(on, including accoun(ng pol icies , in a  manner that provides  relevant, rel iable,
comparable and understandable information;

● provide addi(onal  disclosures  when compl iance with the specific requirements  of the financial
repor(ng framework are insufficient to enable users  to understand the impact of par(cular
transac(ons, other events  and condi(ons on the en(ty's  financial  pos i(on and financial
performance; and

● make an assessment of the company's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern.

 

The Directors  are responsible for keeping adequate accoun(ng records  that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's
transac(ons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any (me the financial  pos i(on of the Group and enable them to
ensure that the financial  s tatements  comply with the Companies  Act 2006.  They are responsible for such internal  control
as  they determine is  necessary to enable the prepara(on of financial  s tatements  that are free from materia l  misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and have general  responsibi l i ty for taking such steps  as  are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets  of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other i rregulari ties .
 
Under appl icable law and regula(ons, the Directors  are a lso responsible for preparing a  Strategic Report, D irectors '
Report, and Corporate Governance Statement that compl ies  with that law and those regulations.
 
The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and integri ty of the corporate and financial  informa(on included on the
Company's  website. Legis lation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial  s tatements
may di ffer from legis lation in other jurisdictions.
 
Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of the annual financial report
 
Each of the persons  who is  a  Director at the date of approval  of this  report confi rms, to the best of their knowledge, that:
 
● the financial  s tatements , prepared in accordance with the appl icable set of accoun(ng standards,

give a  true and fa ir view of the assets , l iabi l i(es , financial  pos i(on and profit or loss  of the Company
and the undertakings  included in the consol idation taken as  a  whole;

 

● the Strategic Report/Directors ' Report includes  a  fa i r review of the development and performance of
the bus iness  and the pos i(on of the Company and the undertakings  included in the consol ida(on
taken as  a  whole, together with a  descrip(on of the principal  risks  and uncertain(es  that they face;
and

 

● the annual  report and financial  s tatements , taken as  a  whole, are fa i r, balanced and understandable
and provide the information necessary for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  pos ition and
performance, bus iness  model  and strategy.
 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
 
 2024 2023

Note £'000 £'000
 

Interest and s imi lar income 4 76,820 59,970
Interest and s imi lar expenses 6  (31,208)  (22,336)
Net interest income  45,612 37,634



Net interest income  45,612 37,634
 

Fee income 7 1,237 1,393
Fee expenses 8  (1,626)  (719)
Net gains/(losses) from derivatives  and other financial
instruments  at fa i r value through profi t or loss 22 372  (303)

Other income 2 9

Total operating income  45,597 38,014
 

Staff costs 9  (16,044)  (13,431)

Other operating expenses 11 (10,670)  (8,412)

Net impairment gain/(loss) on financial  assets 14 241  (11,598)

Other provis ions 13  (50) -

Total operating profit  19,074 4,573
 

Profit before taxation  19,074 4,573
 

Taxation 16  (5,053)  (1,418)

Profit after taxation  14,021 3,155
 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):  
Items that may subsequently be transferred to the
income statement:

 

FVOCI investment securi ties :

Amounts  transferred to the income statement 75 -

Fair value movements - 183
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of
tax

 
75 183

 

Total comprehensive income for the year  14,096 3,338

 
Earnings per share:  pence pence

Basic EPS 40 7.8 1.8

Di luted EPS 40 7.4 1.7
 
 
 
The notes  on pages  120 to 184 are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements .
 
The financial  results  for a l l  periods  are derived entirely from continuing operations.

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
2024 2023

Note £'000 £'000
 

Assets  
Cash and balances  at central  banks                      110,030                                    89,552
Loans and advances  to banks 28                          3,771                                      3,475
Investment securi ties 21                              769                                    14,839
Derivatives  held for risk management (asset) 22                              295                                          537
Loans and advances  to customers 20 660,772                                  568,044
Trade and other receivables 24                          4,678                                      5,335
Current taxation asset 25                                   -                                            55
Deferred taxation asset 27                          3,980                                      7,111
Property, plant and equipment 17                          1,093                                      1,145
Right-of-use assets 18 202                                      1,227
Intangible assets 19                              950                                          618
Total assets  786,540                                  691,938

 
Liabilities  
Customer deposits 35                      649,665                                  574,622
Amounts  due to banks 22 180 -
Derivatives  held for risk management (l iabi l i ty) 22                                  6                                          565
Fair value adjustments  on hedged l iabi l i ties 23                              136                                          424
Financial  l iabi l i ties 36 90                                      1,255
Trade and other payables 38 9,335                                      4,297
Provis ions 13 285                                            67
Current taxation l iabi l i ty 26                          1,259                                            73
Subordinated l iabi l i ties 37                        10,230                                    10,221
Total liabilities  671,186                                  591,524

 
Equity  



Equity  
Issued share capital 31                          1,793                                      1,793
Share premium 31                                   -                                               -
Merger rel ief 31                        94,911                                    94,911

Merger reserve 33
                    

(20,609)                                  (20,609)

Own shares 32
                          

(440)
                                      

(401)
Retained earnings 39,699                                    24,720
Total equity  115,354                                  100,414

 
Total equity and liabilities  786,540                                  691,938
 
 
The notes  on pages  120 to 184 are an integral  part of these consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
These financial  s tatements  were approved by the Board of Directors  and authorised for i ssue on 01 Apri l  2025. They were
s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 
 
……………………………
Carl  D'Ammassa
Director
01 Apri l  2025
 
Registered number: 11911574

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
 

Issued
share

capital
Share

premium3
Merger

relief
Merger
reserve

Own
shares2

Retained
earnings/(loss) Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Balance at 1
January 2023

           
1,793 39,273 94,911  (20,609)  (364)         (18,765) 96,239

 
Profi t after
taxation

                    
- - - - -             3,155 3,155

Other
comprehensive
income

                    
- - - - -                183 183

Total
comprehensive
income

                    
- - - - -             3,338 3,338

Share-based
payments1

                    
- - - - -                905 905

Employee
Benefi t Trust2

                    
- - - -  (37)                 (31)  (68)

Share premium
account
cancel lation3

                    
-  (39,273) - - -          39,273 -

Balance at 31
December
2023

           
1,793 - 94,911  (20,609)  (401)          24,720 100,414

 
Profi t after
taxation

                    
- - - - -          14,021 14,021

Other
comprehensive
income

                    
- - - - -                      75 75

Total
comprehensive
income

                    
- - - - -          14,096 14,096

Share-based
payments1

                    
- - - - -                985 985

Employee
Benefi t Trust2

                    
- - - -  (39)              (102)  (141)

Balance at 31
December
2024

           
1,793 - 94,911  (20,609)  (440)          39,699 115,354

 
1 Refer to note 10 for detai ls  on share-based payments  during the year.
2 The Group has  adopted look-through accounting (see note 1.3) and recognised the Employee Benefi t Trust as  Own Shares.
Refer to note 32 for further detai ls  of the movements  in the year.
3In the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company cancel led i ts  share premium account - refer to note 31 of the
consol idated financial  s tatements  for detai ls
 



 
The notes  on pages  120 to 184 are an integral  part of these consol idated financial  s tatements .

 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
 
 

2024 2023

Note £'000 £'000

 
Cash flows from operating activi ties :
Profi t before taxation                       19,074                         4,573
Adjustments  for non-cash i tems and other adjustments
Included in the income statement 29                          3,822                       13,000
Increase in operating assets 29  (92,390)                   (149,456)
Increase in operating l iabi l i ties 29                       79,376                       94,171
Taxation paid 25,26                           (681)                                  -
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities                           9,201                     (37,712)

 
Cash flows from investing activi ties :
Purchase of investment securi ties 21 (9,918)                         (14,554)
Proceeds from sale and maturi ty of investment securi ties 21                       25,000                           23,000
Dividend income on money market funds 21                               25                                      -
Interest income on investment securi ties 21                             75                                 383
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17                           (397)                               (418)
Purchase of intangible assets 19                           (623)                               (117)
Net cash generated from investing activities                        14,162                             8,294

 
Cash flows from financing activi ties :
Repayment of lease l iabi l i ties 34                           (252)                               (227)
Issuance of subordinated l iabi l i ties 37                                   -                           10,000
Acquis i tion of subordinated l iabi l i ties 29                                   -                                 (51)
Coupon paid on subordinated l iabi l i ties 29                        (1,273)                                      -
Purchase of own shares 32                           (142)                                 (67)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities                         (1,667)                             9,655

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                        21,696                         (19,763)
Cash and cash equivalents  at start of the period 29                       90,867                         110,630

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 29                     112,563                           90,867
 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Basis of preparation
 
1.1  General information
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  of Distribu(on Finance Capital  Holdings  plc (the "Company" or "D FC H plc") include
the assets , l iabi l i(es , and results  of i ts  whol ly owned subs idiaries , D F Capital  Bank Limited (the "Bank"), D F Capital
Financial  Solutions  Limited and DF Capital  Retai l  Finance Limited, which together form the "Group".
 
D FC H plc i s  registered and incorporated in England and Wales  whose company registra(on number is  11911574. The
registered office is  St James' Bui lding, 61-95 Oxford Street, Manchester, England, M1 6EJ. The Company's  ordinary shares
are l i s ted on the Alternative Investment Market ("AIM") of the London Stock Exchange.
 
The principal  ac(vity of the Company is  that of an investment holding company. The principal  ac(vity of the Group is as  a
special is t savings  and commercial  lending banking group. The Group provides  niche working capital  funding solu(ons to
dealers  and manufacturers , enabled by competitively priced savings  products .
               
These financial  s tatements  are presented in pounds sterl ing, which is  the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Group operates , and are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds, unless  stated otherwise.
 
1.2 Basis of preparation
 
The Group consol idated financial  s tatements  and the Company financial  s tatements  have been prepared and approved by
the Directors  in accordance with I nterna(onal  F inancial  Repor(ng Standards  ("I F RSs") as  adopted by the United K ingdom
(UK) and interpretations  issued by the IFRS Interpretations  Committee (IFRS IC).
 
The consol idated and Company financial  s tatements  are prepared on a going concern bas is  and under the historical  cost
conven(on except for the treatment of certain financial  instruments , including the  revalua(on of investment securi(es
held at fa i r value through other comprehensive income (F VTO C I ), and deriva(ve contracts  and other financial  assets  or
l iabi l i ties  held at fa i r value through profi t or loss  (FVTPL).
 
By including the Company financial  s tatements , here together with the Group consol idated financial  s tatements , the
Company is  taking advantage of the exemp(on in Sec(on 408 of the Companies  Act 2006 not to present i ts  individual
income statement and related notes  that form a part of these approved financial  s tatements .
 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, subs idiary undertakings  D F Capital  F inancial  Solu(ons Limited (Company number:
14891201) and D F Capital  Retai l  F inance Limited (Company number: 15788832) were exempt from the requirements  of the
Companies  Act 2006 rela(ng to the audit of individual  accounts  by vi rtue of sec(on 479A of the Companies  Act 2006. The
Company, as  the ul(mate parent company, i s  providing a  guarantee for D F Capital  F inancial  Solu(ons Limited and D F
Capital  Retai l  Finance Limited in accordance with section 479C of the Companies  Act 2006 as  at 31 December 2024.
 
1.3 Basis of consolidation



1.3 Basis of consolidation
 
The Group financial  s tatements  include the results  of the Company and i ts  subs idiary undertakings. Subs idiaries  are ful ly
consol idated from the date on which control  i s  transferred to the Group and are deconsol idated from the date that control
ceases. Accoun(ng pol icies  of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries  are cons istent. The Group 'controls' an entity if it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity.
 
Upon consol ida(on, a l l  intra-group transac(ons, balances, income, and expenses  are el iminated within the consol idated
financial  s tatements  within this  Annual  Report and Financial  Statements . The consol idated financial  s tatements  contained
in this  Annual  Report consol idate the statements  of total  comprehensive income, statements  of financial  pos i(on, cash
flow statements , s tatements  of changes  in equity and related notes  for Distribu(on Finance Capital  Holdings  plc, D F
Capital  Bank Limited, D F Capital  F inancial  Solu(ons Limited and D F Capital  Retai l  F inance Limited, which together form the
"Group", which have been prepared in accordance with appl icable I F RS accoun(ng standards. Accoun(ng pol icies  have
been appl ied cons istently throughout the Group and i ts  subs idiaries .
 
The Group's  Employee Benefi t Trust (EBT) i s  control led and recognised by the Company us ing the look-through approach, i .e.
as  i f the EBT is  included within the accounts  of the Company.
 
1.4 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations
 
International financial reporting standards issued and adopted for the first time in the year ended 31 December 2024
In the preparation of these financial  s tatements  no accounting standards  are being appl ied for the fi rst time.
 
International financial reporting standards issued but not yet effective which are applicable to the Group
In Apri l  2024 the IASB issued IFRS18 - "Presentation and Disclosure in Financial  Statements".  This  i s  expected to impact the
way in which information is  disclosed in financial  s tatements  without impacting materia l ly on the underlying accounting.
 
I F RS18 is  expected to apply to the Group with effect from the financial  year ending 31 December 2027, i f the standard is
endorsed for use in the UK. A detai led exercise to determine the impact of the new standard on the Group's  annual  reporting
wi l l  be carried out before the implementation date.
 
O ther than I F RS18 there are no new repor(ng standards  and interpreta(ons in issue but not effec(ve which address  maKer
relevant to the Group's  accounting and reporting.
 
1.5 Principal accounting policies
 
The principal  accoun(ng pol icies  adopted in the prepara(on of this  financial  informa(on are set out below. These pol icies
have been appl ied cons istently to a l l  the financial  periods  presented.
 
1.6 Reclassification
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group invested into a  low vola(l i ty money market fund. This  i s  a  type of
investment securi ty which required presenta(on under a  new financial  s tatement cap(on. I n addi(on to this  fund, the
Group also hold debt securi(es  in the form of UK  treasury bi l l s  (and previous ly government gi l ts ) which represent a
subcategory of investment securi(es. These balances  which were previous ly presented as  'debt securi(es ' within the
statement of financial  pos i(on wi l l  now be presented under 'investment securi(es ' in addi(on to the balance invested into
the money market fund.
 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has  reclass ified £ni l  from 'debt securi(es ' to 'investment securi(es ' (31
December 2023: £14,839,000). Both debt and investment securi(es  operate under the same accoun(ng pol icy, I F RS 9 -
financial  instruments , with the pol icy remaining unchanged.
 
1.7 Going concern
 
The financial  s tatements  are prepared on a going concern bas is  as  the Directors  are sa(sfied that the Group has  adequate
resources  to con(nue opera(ng for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of the financial  s tatements .  I n
making this  assessment the Directors  have cons idered:
 
·             The Group's  financial  projections;
·             The Group's  current avai lable capital  and  l iquidity   resources  and   surplus   over  regulatory

and risk appeti te requirements;
·             The  stress  tes(ng  and  capital  and  l iquidity  planning  performed  as  a  part of the I C AAP  and

I LAAP    indicate  adequate  capital  and  l iquidity  buffers  and  the abi l i ty  to  effec(vely 
manage  stresses  and resources.  A  number  of  severe  and  plaus ible  scenarios  were 
considered  as  part of   the   stress   tes(ng   process  with a  combina(on  of  severe
idiosyncra(c and macroeconomic  scenarios . The scenarios  included a global  supply chain
disrup(on impac(ng the amount of assets  our dealers  are able to source from manufacturers ,
combined with ris ing inflation and unemployment reducing consumer disposable income; 

·             Banking sector fa i lures  in recent years  and any impl ica(ons for the Group. This  included
considera(on of our deposit base, which is  made up predominantly of retai l  customers, of which
92% are ful ly covered by the F inancial  Services  Compensa(on Scheme ('FS C S'). The l iquid assets  of
the Group being predominantly ei ther cash held at the Bank of England or in UK  treasury bi l l s . The
Group's  asset and l iabi l i ty maturi ty profi le;

·             I n respect of cl imate change, the Board recognises  the long-term risks  and these are cons idered as
part of the annual  ICAAP.

 
Based on this  review, the Directors  bel ieve that the Group is  wel l  placed to manage i ts  bus iness  risks  successful ly within
the expected economic outlook. Accordingly, the Directors  have adopted the going concern bas is  in preparing the financial
statements .
 
I nforma(on on the Group's  bus iness  strategy, performance and outlook are detai led in the Chair's  Statement, Chief
Execu(ve O fficer's  review and Chief F inancial  O fficer's  review. The Risk O verview sec(ons further detai l  the key risks  faced
by the Group and mitigants  and provides  an overview of the Group's  Risk Management Framework.
 
1.8 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
 
I n accordance with I F RS, the Directors  of the Group are required to make judgements , es(mates  and assump(ons in certain
subjec(ve areas  whi lst preparing these financial  s tatements . The appl ica(on of these accoun(ng pol icies  may impact the
reported amounts  of assets , l iabi l i ties , income and expenses  and actual  results  may di ffer from these estimates.



reported amounts  of assets , l iabi l i ties , income and expenses  and actual  results  may di ffer from these estimates.
 
Any es(mates  and underlying assump(ons used within the statutory financial  s tatements  are reviewed on an ongoing
bas is , with revis ions  recognised in the period in which they are adjusted, and any future periods  affected.
 
Further detai ls  can be found in note 3 on the cri(cal  accoun(ng es(mates  and judgements  used within these financial
statements .
 
1.9 Foreign currency translation
 
The financial  s tatements  are expressed in Pound Sterl ing, which is  the functional  and presentational  currency of the Group.
 
Transac(ons in foreign currencies  are trans lated to the Group's  func(onal  currency at the foreign exchange rate rul ing at
the date of the transac(on. Monetary assets  and l iabi l i(es  denominated in foreign currencies  at the repor(ng date are
retrans lated to the func(onal  currency at the foreign exchange rate rul ing at that date. Non-monetary assets  and l iabi l i(es
that are measured in terms of historical  cost in a  foreign currency are trans lated us ing the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign exchange di fferences  aris ing on trans lation are recognised in the statement of income.
 
2. Summary of material accounting policies
 
2.1 Revenue recognition
 
Net interest income
I nterest income and expense for a l l  financial  instruments  except for those class ified as  held for trading or measured or
des ignated as  at fa i r value through profit and loss  ("F VTP L") are recognised in "Net interest income" as  "I nterest income"
and "Interest expenses" in the income statement us ing the effective interest method.
 
The effec(ve interest rate ("EI R") i s  the rate that exactly discounts  es(mated future cash flows of the financial  instrument
through the expected l i fe of the financial  instrument or, where appropriate, a  shorter period, to the net carrying amount of
the financial  asset or financial  l iabi l i ty. The future cash flows are es(mated taking into account a l l  the contractual  terms
of the instrument.
 
The calcula(on of the EI R includes  a l l  fees  and points  paid or received between par(es  to the contract that are incremental
and directly attributable to the speci fic lending arrangement, transaction costs , and al l  other premiums or discounts .
 
I n calcula(ng the EI R, management have taken into cons idera(on the behavioural  characteris(cs  of the underlying loans
in the lending portfol io which includes  evaluating the expected duration of loans  and any additional  behavioural  fees .
 
The EI R is  adjusted where there is  a  movement in the reference interest rate (S O NI A, or base rate) affec(ng porRol ios  with a
variable interest rate which wi l l  impact future cash flows.
 
The interest income/expense is  calculated by applying the EI R to the gross  carrying amount of non-credit impaired
financial  assets  (that i s , to the amor(sed cost of the financial  asset before adjus(ng for any expected credit loss
al lowance), or to the amortised cost of financial  l iabi l i ties .
 
For credit-impaired financial  assets , as  defined in the financial  instruments  accoun(ng pol icy, the interest income is
calculated by applying the EI R to the amor(sed cost of the credit-impaired financial  assets  (that i s , to the gross  carrying
amount less  the al lowance for expected credit losses  ("ECLs").
 
I nterest income on investment securi(es  is  included in interest and s imi lar income. I nterest on deriva(ves  is  included in
interest and s imi lar income or interest and s imi lar expenses  charges  fol lowing the underlying instrument i t i s  hedging.
 
Fee income
Al l  fee income relates  to fees  charged directly to customers  based on their credit faci l i ty. These fees  do not meet the cri teria
for inclus ion within interest income.  The Group sa(sfies  i ts  performance obl iga(ons as  the services  are rendered.  These
fees  are bi l led in arrears  of the period they relate to.
 
Fee income is  recognised in accordance with I F RS 15 which sets  out the principles  to fol low for revenue recogni(on which
takes  into cons idera(on the nature, amount, (ming and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows resul(ng from a contract
with a  customer. The accoun(ng standard presents  a  five-step approach to income recogni(on to enable the Group to
recognise the correct amount of income in the corresponding period(s):
 
·             the contract has  been approved by the parties  to the contract;  

·             each party's  rights  in relation to the goods or services  to be transferred can be identi fied;  

·             the payment terms for the goods or services  to be transferred can be identi fied;  

·             the contract has  commercial  substance; and  
·             i t i s  probable that the cons idera(on to which the en(ty is  en(tled to in exchange for the

goods or services  wi l l  be col lected.
 
Al l  other income is  currently recognised under I F RS 9 under the effec(ve interest rate methodology, however, when new fees
are implemented, they wi l l  be assessed as  to whether they fa l l  under I F RS 9 (EI R) or I F RS 15. I F RS 9 and I F RS 15 have been
appl ied cons istently to a l l  the financial  periods  presented.
 
Fee expense
Fee and commiss ion expense predominantly cons ists  of non-incremental  fees  in rela(on to financial  guarantee schemes,
undrawn faci l i ty commitment faci l i ty fees , introducer commiss ions, and other non-incremental  direct costs . W here these
fees  and commiss ions  are incremental  costs  that are directly aKributable to the issue of a  financial  instrument, they are
included in interest income as  part of the EI R calcula(on. W here they are not incremental  costs  that are directly
attributable, they are recognised within fee and commiss ion expense as  the services  are received.
 
Net gains / (losses) from derivatives and other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Net gains/(losses) from deriva(ves  and other financial  instruments  at fa i r value through profit or loss  relate to non-
trading deriva(ves  held for risk management purposes. I t includes  a l l  real ised and unreal ised fa ir value movements ,
interest and foreign exchange di fferences.
 



 
Other income from financial instruments
I nvestment securi(es  are measured at fa i r value through other comprehensive income. The securi(es  are measured at their
clos ing bid prices  at the repor(ng date with any unreal ised gain or loss  recognised through other comprehensive income.
O nce the assets  have been disposed, the corresponding real ised gain or loss  i s  transferred from other comprehensive
income into the income statement.
 
Other operating income
O ther opera(ng income predominantly cons ists  of payrol l  subs idies , specifical ly in rela(on to Statutory
Maternity/Paternity Pay (SMP/SPP) as  levied by HM Revenue & Customs.
 
2.2 Property, plant and equipment
Al l  property, plant and equipment is  s tated at historical  cost (or deemed historical  cost) less  accumulated deprecia(on,
and less  any iden(fied impairment. Cost includes  the original  purchase price of the asset and the costs  aKributable to
bringing the asset to i ts  working condition for i ts  intended use. 
 
Deprecia(on is  provided on al l  property, plant and equipment at rates  calculated to write each asset down to i ts  es(mated
res idual  value on a straight-l ine bas is  at the fol lowing annual  rates:
 
Fixtures  & fi ttings                                                  3 years
Computer equipment                                         3 years
Telephony & communications                            3 years
Leasehold improvements                                    1 - 10 years
Motor vehicles                                                      3 years
 
Right-of-use assets  are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful  l i fe of the underlying asset. Al l
current lease agreements  have a maximum lease term of 7 years . I f a  lease transfers  ownership of the underlying asset or
the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects  that the Group expects  to exercise a  purchase op(on, the related right-of-use asset
is  depreciated over the useful  l i fe of the underlying asset.
 
Useful  economic l ives  and estimated res idual  values  are reviewed annual ly and adjusted as  appropriate.
 
The gain or loss  aris ing on the disposal  of an asset i s  determined as  the di fference between the sales  proceeds less  any
costs  of disposal  and the carrying amount of the asset, which is  recognised in the Income Statement.
 
2.3 Intangible assets
 
Computer software
Computer so/ware which has  been purchased by the Group from third party vendors  is  measured at ini(al  cost less
accumulated amortisation and less  any accumulated impairments .

Computer so/ware is  es(mated to have a useful  l i fe of 3 years  with no res idual  value a/er the period. These assets  are
amor(sed on a straight-l ine bas is  with the useful  economic l ives  and es(mated res idual  values  being reviewed annual ly
and adjusted as  appropriate.
 

Internally generated intangible assets

I nternal ly generated intangible assets  are only recognised by the Group when the recogni(on cri teria  have been met in
accordance with IAS 38: Intangible Assets  as  fol lows:

 

·             expenditure can be rel iably measured;

·             the product or process  is  technical ly and commercial ly feas ible;

·             future economic benefi ts  are l ikely to be received;

·             intention and abi l i ty to complete the development; and

·             view to ei ther use or sel l  the asset in the future.

 

The Group wi l l  only recognise an internal ly generated asset should i t meet a l l  the above cri teria. I n the event of a
development not meeting the cri teria  i t wi l l  be recognised within the consol idated income statement in the period incurred.
 
Capital ised costs  include al l  di rectly aKributable costs  to the development of the asset. I nternal ly generated assets  are
measured at capital ised cost less  accumulated amortisation less  accumulated impairment losses .
 
The internal ly generated asset i s  amor(sed at the point the asset i s  avai lable for use or sale. The asset i s  amor(sed on a
straight-l ine bas is  over the useful  economic l i fe with the remaining useful  economic l i fe and res idual  value being assessed
annual ly. The estimated useful  economic l i fe of internal ly generated assets  i s  3-5 years  with no expected res idual  balance.
 
Any subsequent expenditure on the internal ly generated asset i s  only capital ised i f the cost increases  the future economic
benefits  of the related asset. O therwise, a l l  addi(onal  expenditure should be recognised through the income statement in
the period i t occurs .
 
2.4 Financial instruments
 
Initial recognition
Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i(es  are recognised in the statement of financial  pos i(on when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual  provis ions  of the instrument.
 
F inancial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i(es  are ini(al ly measured at fa i r value.  Transac(on costs  that are directly
aKributable to the acquis i(on or i ssue of the financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i(es  (other than financial  assets  and
financial  l iabi l i(es  at F VTP L) are respec(vely added to or deducted from the fa ir value of the financial  assets  or financial



financial  l iabi l i(es  at F VTP L) are respec(vely added to or deducted from the fa ir value of the financial  assets  or financial
l iabi l i(es , as  appropriate, on ini(al  recogni(on.  Transac(on costs  that are not directly aKributable to the acquis i(on of
financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  at FVTPL are recognised immediately in the consol idated income statement.
 
Classification
The Group class ifies  financial  instruments  based on the bus iness  model  and the contractual  cash flow characteris(cs  of
the financial  instruments . Under IFRS 9, the Group class i fies  financial  assets  into one of three measurement categories :
 
● Amor@sed cost - assets  in a  bus iness  model  whose objec(ve is  to hold financial  assets  to

col lect contractual  cash flows, where the contractual  terms of the financial  asset give rise on
specified dates  to cash flows that are solely payments  of principal  and interest (S P P I ) on the
principal  amount outstanding. The Group class ifies  non-deriva(ve financial  l iabi l i(es  as
measured at amortised cost.

● Fair value through other comprehensive income (F VO C I) - assets  held in a  bus iness  model
whose objec(ve is  to col lect contractual  cash flows and sel l  financial  assets  where the
contractual  terms of the financial  assets  give rise on specified dates  to cash flows that are
S P P I  on the principal  amount outstanding. The Group measures  investment securi(es  under
this  category.

● Fair value through profit or loss (F V TP L ) - assets  not measured at amor(sed cost or F VO C I . The
Group measures  derivatives  under this  category.

 

The Group has  no non-derivative financial  assets  or l iabi l i ties  class i fied as  held for trading.
 
The Group reassesses  i ts  bus iness  models  each reporting period.
 
The Group class i fies  certain financial  instruments  as  equity where they meet the fol lowing conditions:
 
● the financial  instrument includes  no contractual  obl iga(on to del iver cash or another financial

asset on potentia l ly unfavourable conditions;

● the financial  instrument is  a  non-deriva(ve that includes  no contractual  obl iga(on for the issuer to
del iver a  variable number of i ts  own equity instruments; or

● the financial  instrument is  a  deriva(ve that wi l l  be seKled only by the issuer exchanging a  fixed
amount of cash or another financial  asset for a  fixed number of i ts  own equity instruments .

 

Financial assets - measurement
 

I.             Financial assets measured at amortised cost

These are ini(al ly measured at fa i r value plus  transac(on costs  that are directly aKributable to the financial  asset.
Subsequently, these are measured at amor(sed cost us ing the EI R method. The amor(sed cost i s  the amount advanced less
principal  repayments , plus  or minus  the cumula(ve amor(sa(on us ing the EI R method of any difference between the
amount advanced and the maturi ty amount, less  impairment provis ions  for expected losses . The losses  aris ing from
impairment are recognised in the income statement and disclosed with any other s imi lar losses  within the l ine i tem "Net
impairment loss  on financial  assets". 
 
F inancial  assets  measured at amor(sed cost mainly comprise loans  and advances  to customers, loans  and advances  to
banks, and other receivables .
 

II.            Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

These are ini tia l ly measured at fa i r value plus  transaction costs  that are directly attributable to the financial  asset.
Subsequently, they are measured at fa i r value based on current, quoted bid prices  in ac(ve markets  for iden(cal  assets
that the Group can access  at the repor(ng date. W here there is  no ac(ve market, or the investment securi(es  are unl isted,
the fa ir values  are based on valua(on techniques  including discounted cash flow analys is , with reference to relevant
market rates  and other commonly used valua(on techniques. I nterest income is  recognised in the income statement us ing
the EI R method. I mpairment provis ions  for expected losses  are recognised in the income statement which does  not reduce
the carrying amount of the investment securi ty but is  transferred from the F VO C I  reserve in equity. O ther fa i r value
movements  are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the F VO C I  reserve in equity. O n disposal , the
gain or loss  accumulated in equity is  reclass i fied to the income statement.
 
F VTO C I  financial  assets  includes  investment securi(es  in the form of UK  Treasury Bi l l s  and UK  Gi l ts . These assets  are not
class i fied as : loans  and receivables; held-to-maturi ty investments; or financial  assets  at fa i r value through profi t or loss .
 
Regular purchases  and sales  of investment securi(es  are recognised on the trade date at which the Group commits  to
purchase or sel l  the asset.
 

III.           Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
 
These are measured both ini(al ly and subsequently at fa i r value with movements  in fa i r value recorded in the income
statement. Any costs  that are directly aKributable to their acquis i(on are recognised in profit or loss  when incurred. The
Group only measures  derivative financial  assets  under this  class i fication.
 
Financial assets - impairment
 
The Group recognises  loss  a l lowances  for expected credit losses  ("EC Ls") on the fol lowing financial  instruments  that are
not measured at FVTPL:
 
·     Financial  assets  measured at amortised cost;

·     Investment securi ties  measured at fa i r value through other comprehensive income; and

·     Loan commitments



·     Loan commitments

 

I F RS 9 permits  en((es to apply a  's impl ified approach' for trade receivables , contract assets  and lease receivables . The
s impl ified approach permits  en((es to recognise l i fe(me expected losses  on al l  these assets  without the need to iden(fy
s ignificant increases  in credit risk. The Group has  adopted this  s impl ified approach for assess ing trade and other
receivables  balances. The Group confirms these trade and other receivable balances  do not contain a  s ignificant financing
component.
 
W ith the excep(on of purchased or originated credit impaired ("P O C I ") financial  assets  (which are cons idered separately
below), ECLs  are measured through loss  a l lowances  calculated on the fol lowing bases.
 
EC Ls  are a  probabi l i ty-weighted es(mate of the present value of credit losses . The Group measures  EC L on an individual
bas is , or on a col lec(ve bas is  for porRol ios  of loans  that share s imi lar economic risk characteris(cs . The loss  a l lowance
is  measured as  the difference between the contractual  cash flows and the present value of the asset's  expected cash flows
using the asset's  original  EIR, regardless  of whether i t i s  measured on an individual  bas is  or a  col lective bas is .
 
A financial  asset that gives  rise to credit risk, i s  referred to (and analysed in the notes  to this  financial  informa(on) as
being in "Stage 1" provided that s ince ini(al  recogni(on (or s ince the previous  repor(ng date) there has  not been a
s igni ficant increase in credit risk, nor has  i t has  become credit impaired.
 
For a  Stage 1 asset, the loss  a l lowance is  the "12-month EC L", that i s , the EC L that results  from those default events  on the
financial  instrument that are poss ible within 12 months  from the reporting date.
 
A financial  asset that gives  rise to credit risk i s  referred to (and analysed in the notes  to this  financial  informa(on) as
being in "Stage 2" i f s ince ini(al  recogni(on there has  been a s ignificant increase in credit risk (S I C R) but i t i s  not credit
impaired.
 
For a  Stage 2 asset, the loss  a l lowance is  the "l i fe(me EC L", that i s , the EC L that results  from al l  poss ible default events  over
the l i fe of the financial  instrument.
 
A financial  asset that gives  rise to credit risk i s  referred to (and analysed in the notes  to this  financial  informa(on) as
being in "Stage 3" i f s ince ini tia l  recognition i t has  become credit impaired.
 
For a  Stage 3 asset, the loss  a l lowance is the difference between the asset's  projected exposure at default (EAD) and the
present value of es(mated future cash flows discounted at an appl icable EI R. Further, the recogni(on of interest income is
constrained rela(ve to the amounts  that are recognised on Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets , as  described in the revenue
recognition pol icy set out above.
 
I f ci rcumstances  change sufficiently at subsequent repor(ng dates , an asset i s  referred to by i ts  newly appropriate Stage
and is  re-analysed in the notes  to the financial  information.
 
W here an asset i s  expected to mature in 12 months  or less , the "12-month EC L" and the "l i fe(me EC L" have the same
effec(ve meaning and accordingly for such assets  the calculated loss  a l lowance wi l l  be the same whether such an asset i s
at Stage 1 or Stage 2. I n order to determine the loss  a l lowance for assets  with a  maturi ty of 12 months  or more, and
disclose s ignificant increases  in credit risk, the Group nonetheless  determines  which of i ts  financial  assets  are in Stages  1
and 2 at each reporting date. 
 
Significant increase in credit risk - policies and procedures for identifying Stage 2 assets
W henever any contractual  payment is  past due, the Group compares  the risk of a  default occurring on the financial
instrument as  at the repor(ng date with the risk of a  default occurring on the financial  instrument as  at the date of ini(al
recognition in order to determine whether credit risk has  increased s igni ficantly.
 
See note 39 for further detai ls  about how the Group assesses  increases  in s igni ficant credit risk.
 
Definition of a default
Cri(cal  to the determina(on of s ignificant increases  in credit risk (and to the determina(on of EC Ls) i s  the defini(on of
default. Default i s  a  component of the probabi l i ty of default (P D), changes  in which lead to the iden(fica(on of a
s igni ficant increase in credit risk, and PD is  then a factor in the measurement of ECLs . 
 
The Group's  defini tion of default for this  purpose is :

 
·     A counterparty defaults  on a payment due under a  loan agreement and that payment is  more than

90 days  overdue;

·     The col lateral  that secures , a l l  or in part, the loan agreement has  been sold or i s  otherwise not
avai lable for sale and the proceeds have not been paid to the Group; or

·     A counterparty commits  an event of default under the terms and conditions  of the loan agreement
which leads  the lending company to bel ieve that the borrower's  abi l i ty to meet i ts  credit
obl igations  to the Group is  in doubt.

 
The defini(on of default i s  s imi larly cri(cal  in the determina(on of whether an asset i s  credit-impaired (as  explained
below).
 
Credit-impaired financial assets - policies and procedures for identifying Stage 3 assets
A financial  asset i s  credit-impaired when one or more events  that have a detrimental  impact on the es(mated future cash
flows of the financial  asset have occurred. I F RS 9 states  that evidence of credit-impairment includes  observable data about
the fol lowing events :
 
·             A counterparty is  90 days  past due for one or more of i ts  loan receivables;

·             Signi ficant financial  di fficulty of the borrower or i ssuer;

·             A breach of contract such as  a  default (as  defined above) or past due event, or



·             The Group, for economic or contractual  reasons  rela(ng to the borrower's  financial  difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a  concess ion that the Group would not otherwise cons ider.

 

The Group assesses  whether debt instruments  that are financial  assets  measured at amor(sed cost or at F VTO C I  are credit-
impaired at each repor(ng date.  W hen assess ing whether there is  evidence of credit-impairment, the Group takes  into
account both qual i ta(ve and quan(ta(ve indicators  rela(ng to both the borrower and to the asset. The informa(on
assessed depends on the borrower and the type of the asset.  I t may not be poss ible to iden(fy a  s ingle discrete event -
instead, the combined effect of several  events  may have caused financial  assets  to become credit-impaired.
 
See note 39 for further detai ls  about how the Group identi fies  credit impaired assets .
 
Purchased or originated credit-impaired ("POCI") financial assets
P O C I  financial  assets  are treated differently because they are in Stage 3 from the point of original  recogni(on.  I t i s  not in
the nature of the Group's  bus iness  to purchase financial  assets  originated by other lenders , nor has  the Group to date
originated any loans  or advances  to borrowers  that i t would define as  credit impaired.
 
Movements back to stages 1 and 2
Exposures  wi l l  move out of stage 3 to stage 2 when they no longer meet the cri teria  for inclus ion and have completed a
minimum 3-month proba(on period as  set according to the type of lending and default event ci rcumstances. Movement
into stage 1 wi l l  only occur when the SICR cri teria  are no longer met.
 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss  a l lowances  for ECL are presented in the statement of financial  pos ition as  fol lows:
 
·     For financial  assets  measured at amor(sed cost: as  a  deduc(on from the gross  carrying

amount of the assets ; and

·     For loan commitments: as  a  provis ion.

 
Revisions to estimated cash flows
W here cash flows are s ignificantly different from the original  expecta(ons used to determine EI R, but where this  difference
does not arise from a modifica(on of the terms of the financial  instrument, the Group revises  i ts  es(mates  of receipts  and
adjusts  the gross  carrying amount of the financial  asset to reflect actual  and revised es(mated contractual  cash flows. The
Group recalculates  the gross  carrying amount of the financial  asset as  the present value of the es(mated future
contractual  cash flows discounted at the financial  instrument's  original  EIR.
 
The adjustment is  recognised in the consol idated income statement as  income or expense.
 
Modification of financial assets
A modifica(on of a  financial  asset occurs  when the contractual  terms governing a  financial  asset are renego(ated without
the original  contract being replaced and derecognised.  A modifica(on is  accounted for in the same way as  a  revis ion to
estimated cash flows, and in addition;
 
·     Any fees  charged are added to the asset and amor(sed over the new expected l i fe of the asset,

and

·     The asset i s  individual ly assessed to determine whether there has  been a s ignificant increase
in credit risk.

 

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises  a  financial  asset only when the contractual  rights  to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers  the financial  asset and substan(al ly a l l  the risks  and rewards  of ownership of the asset to another en(ty. I f the
Group neither transfers  nor retains  substan(al ly a l l  the risks  and rewards  of ownership and con(nues to control  the
transferred asset, the Group recognises  i ts  retained interest in the asset and an associated l iabi l i ty for amounts  i t may
have to pay. I f the Group retains  substan(al ly a l l  the risks  and rewards  of ownership of a  transferred financial  asset, the
Group continues  to recognise the financial  asset and also recognises  a  col lateral ised borrowing for the proceeds received.
 
O n derecogni(on of a  financial  asset in i ts  en(rety, the difference between the asset's  carrying amount and the sum of the
considera(on received and receivable and the cumula(ve gain or loss  that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is  recognised in the income statement.

O n derecogni(on of a  financial  asset other than in i ts  en(rety (e.g. when the Group retains  an op(on to repurchase part of
a transferred asset), the Group al locates  the previous  carrying amount of the financial  asset between the part i t con(nues
to recognise under con(nuing involvement, and the part i t no longer recognises  on the bas is  of the rela(ve fa ir values  of
those parts  on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount a l located to the part that i s  no longer
recognised and the sum of the cons idera(on received for the part no longer recognised and any cumula(ve gain or loss
al located to i t that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is  recognised in the consol idated statement of
comprehensive income. A cumula(ve gain or loss  that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is  a l located
between the part that con(nues to be recognised and the part that i s  no longer recognised on the bas is  of the rela(ve fa ir
values  of those parts .

Write-offs
Loans  and advances  are wriKen off when the Group has  no reasonable expecta(on of recovering the financial  asset; ei ther
in i ts  en(rety or a  por(on of i t. This  i s  the case when the Group determines  that the borrower does  not have assets  or
sources  of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts  subject to the write-off. A write-off
cons(tutes  a  derecogni(on event. The Group may apply enforcement ac(vi(es  to financial  assets  wriKen off. Recoveries
resulting from enforcement activi ties  wi l l  result in impairment gains .
 
Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments
Undrawn loan commitments  and leKers  of credit are commitments  under which, over the dura(on of the commitment, the
Bank is  required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. These contracts  are in the scope of the EC L
requirements . The nominal  contractual  value of financial  guarantees, leKers  of credit and undrawn loan commitments ,
where the loan agreed to be provided is  on market terms, are not recorded in the statement of financial  pos i(on. The
nominal  values  of these instruments  together with the corresponding ECLs  are disclosed in note 39.



 
Forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
EC Ls  and S I C R take into account forecasts  of future economic condi(ons in addi(on to current condi(ons. The Group has
developed a macroeconomic model  which adjusts  the EC Ls  calculated by the credit models  to provide probabi l i ty weighted
numbers  based on a number of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios .
 
Due to the assump(ons and es(mates  within these forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios , refer to note 3 for further
detai ls  of the Group's  approach.
 
Financial liabilities
A financial  l iabi l i ty i s  a  contractual  obl iga(on to del iver cash or another financial  asset or to exchange financial  assets  or
financial  l iabi l i(es  with another en(ty under condi(ons that are poten(al ly unfavourable to the Group or a  contract that
wi l l  or may be seKled in the Group's  own equity instruments , or a  deriva(ve contract over own equity that wi l l  or may be
seKled other than by the exchange of a  fixed amount of cash (or another financial  asset) for a  fixed number of the Group's
own equity instruments . Gains  or losses  on financial  l iabi l i(es  are recognised in the consol idated statement of
comprehensive income.
 
Subordinated liabilities
Subordinated notes  issued by the Group are assessed as  to whether they should be treated as  equity or financial  l iabi l i(es.
W here there is  a  contractual  obl iga(on to del iver cash or other financial  assets , they are treated as  a  financial  l iabi l i ty
and measured at amor(sed cost us ing the EI R method a/er taking account of any discount or premium on the issue and
directly aKributable costs  that are an integral  part of the EI R. The amount of any discount or premium is  amor(sed over the
period to the expected cal l  date of the instrument.
 
Al l  subordinated notes  issued by the Group are class i fied as  financial  l iabi l i ties .
 
Financial liabilities and equity
Debt and equity instruments  that are issued are class ified as  ei ther financial  l iabi l i(es  or as  equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual  arrangement.
 
Equity instruments
The Group class ifies  capital  instruments  as  financial  l iabi l i(es  or equity instruments  in accordance with the substance of
the contractual  terms of the instruments . W here an instrument contains  no obl iga(on on the Group to del iver cash or other
financial  assets , or to exchange financial  assets  or financial  l iabi l i(es  with another party under condi(ons that are
poten(al ly unfavourable to the Group, or where the instrument wi l l  or may be seKled in the Group's  own equity
instruments  but includes  no obl iga(on to del iver a  variable number of the Group's  own equity instruments , then i t i s
treated as  an equity instrument. Accordingly, the Group's  share capital  are presented as  components  of equity and any
dividends, interest or other distribu(ons on capital  instruments  are a lso recognised in equity. Any related tax is  accounted
for in accordance with IAS 12.
 
Financial liabilities - measurement
Financial  l iabi l i(es  are class ified as  ei ther financial  l iabi l i(es  measured at amor(sed cost or financial  l iabi l i(es  at
FVTPL.
 

I.             Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial  l iabi l i(es  at amor(sed cost are recognised ini(al ly at fa i r value net of transac(on costs  incurred. They are
subsequently measured at amor(sed cost. Any difference between the fa ir value and the redemp(on value is  recognised in
the income statement over the period of the borrowings  us ing the EIR method.
 
I nterest bearing loans  and borrowings  are measured at amor(sed cost us ing the effec(ve interest rate method. Gains  and
losses  are recognised in the income statement when the l iabi l i ties  are derecognised as  wel l  as  through the effective interest
rate method (EI R) amor(sa(on process . Amor(sed cost i s  calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquis i(on and fees  or costs  that are an integral  part of the EI R. The EI R amor(sa(on is  included in "I nterest and s imi lar
expenses" in the Income Statement.
 

II.            Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial  l iabi l i(es  at fa i r value through profit or loss  may include financial  l iabi l i(es  held for trading. F inancial
l iabi l i ties  are class i fied as  held for trading i f they are acquired for the purpose of sel l ing in the near term.
 
During the periods  presented the Group has  held no financial  l iabi l i(es  for trading, nor des ignated any financial  l iabi l i(es
upon ini tia l  recognition as  at fa i r value through profi t or loss .
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises  financial  l iabi l i ties  when, and only when, the Group's  obl igations  are discharged, cancel led or
they expire.
 
Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts  of the Group's  non-financial  assets , other than deferred tax assets , are reviewed at each repor(ng
date to determine whether there is  any indica(on of impairment. I f any such indica(on exists , then the asset's  recoverable
amount is  es(mated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-genera(ng unit i s  the greater of i ts  value in use and i ts
fa ir value less  costs  to sel l . I n assess ing value in use, the es(mated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
us ing a  pre-tax discount rate that reflects  current market assessments  of the (me value of money and the risks  specific to
the asset. For the purposes  of impairment tes(ng, assets  that cannot be tested individual ly are grouped together into the
smal lest group of assets  that generates  cash inflows from con(nuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets  or groups of assets  ('the cash-generating unit').
 
An impairment loss  i s  recognised i f the carrying amount of an asset or i ts  cash-genera(ng unit ("CGU") exceeds i ts
es(mated recoverable amount. I mpairment losses  are recognised in the income statement. I mpairment losses  recognised
in respect of CGUs are a l located to reduce the carrying amounts  of assets  in the unit (or group of units ) on a pro rata bas is .
 
An impairment loss  i s  reversed i f and only i f the reasons  for the impairment have ceased to apply.
 
I mpairment losses  recognised in prior periods  are assessed at each repor(ng date for any indica(on that the loss  has
decreased or no longer exists . An impairment loss  i s  reversed only to the extent that the asset's  carrying amount does  not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of deprecia(on or amor(sa(on, i f no impairment loss
had been recognised.



had been recognised.
 
2.5 Derivative financial instruments
 
The Group uses  deriva(ve financial  instruments  (interest rate swaps) to manage i ts  exposure to interest rate risk. I n
accordance with the Group Treasury Pol icy, the Group does  not hold or i ssue deriva(ve financial  instruments  for
proprietary trading.
 
Deriva(ve financial  instruments  are recognised at their fa i r value with changes  in their fa i r value taken to profit or loss .
Fair values  are calculated by discoun(ng cash flows at the prevai l ing interest rates . Al l  deriva(ves  are class ified as  assets
when their fa i r value is  pos i(ve and as  l iabi l i(es  when their fa i r value is  nega(ve. I f a  deriva(ve is  cancel led, i t i s
derecognised from the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i(on. A deriva(ve is  presented as  a  non-current asset or a
non-current l iabi l i ty i f the remaining maturi ty of the instrument is  more than 12 months  and i t i s  not due to be real ised or
settled within 12 months. Other derivatives  are presented as  current assets  or current l iabi l i ties .
 
2.6 Hedge accounting
 
Due to the s impl is(c nature of the Group's  hedging ac(vi(es, the Group has  adopted to apply I F RS 9 for porRol io assets
and l iabi l i ties  being hedged by applying fa ir value hedge accounting.
 
The Group des ignates  certain deriva(ves  held for risk management as  hedging instruments  in qual i fying hedging
rela(onships . O n ini(al  des igna(on of the hedge, the Group formal ly documents  the rela(onship between the hedging
instruments  and hedged i tems, including the risk management objec(ve, the strategy in undertaking the hedge and the
method that wi l l  be used to assess  the effectiveness  of the hedging relationship.
 
The Group makes  an assessment, both at the incep(on of the hedge rela(onship, as  wel l  as  on an ongoing bas is , as  to
whether the hedging instruments  are expected to be highly effec(ve in offseUng the movements  in the fa ir value of the
respective hedged i tems during the period for which the hedge is  des ignated.
 
The Group cons iders  the fol lowing as  key sources  of hedge ineffectiveness:
 
·     the mismatch in maturi ty date of the swap and hedged i tem, as  swaps with a  given maturi ty

date cover a  portfol io of hedged i tems which may mature throughout the month;

·     the actual  behaviour of the hedged i tem differing from expecta(ons, such as  early repayments
or withdrawals  and arrears ; and

·     minimal  movements  in the yield curve leading to ineffec(veness  where hedge rela(onships  are
sens itive to smal l  value changes.

 
W here there is  an effec(ve hedge rela(onship for fa i r value hedges, the Group recognises  the change in fa i r value of each
hedged i tem in profit or loss  with the cumula(ve movement in their value being shown separately in the Consol idated
Statement of F inancial  Pos i(on as  fa i r value adjustments  on hedged assets  and l iabi l i(es. The fa ir value changes  of both
the derivative and the hedge substantia l ly offset each other to reduce profi t volati l i ty.
 
The Group discon(nues hedge accoun(ng when the deriva(ve ceases  through expiry, when the deriva(ve is  cancel led or
the underlying hedged i tem matures, i s  sold or i s  repaid.
 
I f a  deriva(ve no longer meets  the cri teria  for hedge accoun(ng or i s  cancel led whi lst s(l l  effec(ve, the fa ir value
adjustment rela(ng to the hedged assets  or l iabi l i(es  within the hedge rela(onship prior to the deriva(ve becoming
ineffec(ve or being cancel led remains  on the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i(on and is  amor(sed over the
remaining l i fe of the hedged assets  or l iabi l i(es. The rate of amor(sa(on over the remaining l i fe i s  in l ine with expected
income or cost generated from the hedged assets  or l iabi l i ties . Each reporting period, the expectation is  compared to actual
with an accelerated run-off appl ied where the two diverge by more than set parameters .
 
Fair value hedge accounting for portfolio hedges of interest rate risk
The Group appl ies  fa i r value hedge accoun(ng for porRol io hedges  of interest rate risk. As  part of i ts  risk management
process , the Group iden(fies porRol ios  whose interest rate risk i t wishes  to hedge. The porRol ios  comprise of only
l iabi l i(es. The Group analyses  each porRol io into repricing (me periods  based on expected repricing dates , by schedul ing
cash flows into the periods  in which they are expected to occur. Us ing this  analys is , the Group des ignates  as  the hedged
item an amount of the l iabi l i ties  from each portfol io that i t wishes  to hedge.
 
The amount to hedge is  determined based on a movement in the present value of the Group's  balance sheet under a  200-
bas is  point shi/ in the yield curve being used to value the instruments  to ensure the mismatches  in expected repricing
buckets  are within the l imits  set by the Board on the sens i(vity analys is  approach us ing a  hypothe(cal  shi/ in interest
rates .
 
The Group measures  monthly the movements  in fa i r value of the porRol io rela(ng to the interest rate risk that i s  being
hedged. P rovided that the hedge has  been highly effec(ve, the Group recognises  the change in fa i r value of each hedged
item in the income statement with the cumula(ve movement in their value being shown on the statement of financial
pos i(on as  a  separate i tem, 'Fair value adjustment for porRol io hedged risk', ei ther within assets  or l iabi l i(es  as
appropriate.
 
The Group measures  the fa ir value of each hedging instrument monthly. The value is  included in deriva(ves  held for risk
management in ei ther assets  or l iabi l i(es  as  appropriate, with the change in value recorded in net gains  from deriva(ves
and other financial  instruments  at fa i r value through profit or loss  in the income statement. Any hedge ineffec(veness  is
recognised in net gains/(losses) from deriva(ves  and other financial  instruments  at fa i r value through profit or loss  in the
income statement as  the difference between the change in fa i r value of the hedged i tem and the change in fa i r value of the
hedging instrument.
 
2.7 Current and deferred income tax
 
I ncome tax on the result for the period comprises  current and deferred income tax. I ncome tax is  recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised directly in equity, in which case
it i s  recognised in equity.
 
Current tax is  the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income for the period, us ing tax rates  enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous  periods.



substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous  periods.
 
Deferred tax is  provided us ing the balance sheet l iabi l i ty method, providing for temporary differences  between the carrying
amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  for financial  reporting purposes  and the amounts  used for taxation purposes. The amount
of deferred tax provided is  based on the expected manner of real isa(on or seKlement of the carrying amount of assets  and
l iabi l i(es , us ing tax rates  enacted or substan(vely enacted at the repor(ng date. Deferred tax assets  are recognised to the
extent i t i s  probable that taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable against which the deduc(ble temporary differences  can be
uti l i sed.
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  i s  reviewed at each repor(ng date and reduced to the extent that i t i s  no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable to a l low al l  or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax
assets  and l iabi l i(es  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to set off current tax assets  against current tax
l iabi l i(es  and when they relate to income taxes  levied by the same taxa(on authori ty and the Group intends  to seKle i ts
current tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  on a net bas is .
 
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties  are recognised for a l l  taxable temporary di fferences.
 
The Company and i ts  UK subs idiaries  are in the same VAT group.
 
2.8 Cash and cash equivalents
 
For the purposes  of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash and non-mandatory deposits  held
with central  banks, mandatory deposits  held with central  banks  in demand accounts  and amounts  due from banks  with an
original  maturi ty of less  than three months  that are avai lable to finance the Group's  day-to-day operations.
 
2.9 Employee benefits - pension costs
 
A defined contribu(on plan is  a  post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays  fixed contribu(ons into a
separate en(ty and wi l l  have a legal  or construc(ve obl iga(on to pay further amounts . Contribu(ons to defined
contribu(on schemes are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as  they become payable in accordance with
the rules  of the scheme. Differences  between contribu(ons payable in the year and contribu(ons actual ly paid are shown
as ei ther accruals  or prepayments  in the statement of financial  pos ition.
 
2.10 Share-based payments
 
The Group has  a  number of long-term incen(ve share schemes for a l l  employees, including some Directors , whereby they
have been granted equity-seKled share-based payments  in the Group. The share schemes al l  have ves(ng condi(ons with
some schemes for senior management being subject to specific performance condi(ons. Al l  share schemes are equity
settled share-based payments .
 
The fa ir value of equity seKled share-based payment awards  are calculated at grant date and recognised over the period in
which the employees  become uncondi(onal ly en(tled to the awards  (the ves(ng period).  Fair value is  measured by use of
the Black-Scholes  op(on pricing model . The variables  used in the model  are adjusted, based on management's  best
estimate, for the effects  of non-transferabi l i ty, exercise restrictions  and behavioural  cons iderations.
 
The share-based payments  are recognised as  staff costs  in the income statement and expensed on a straight-l ine bas is  over
the ves(ng period, based on es(mates  of the number of shares  which may eventual ly vest. The amount recognised as  an
expense is  adjusted to reflect differences  between expected and actual  outcomes, such that the amount ul(mately
recognised as  an expense is  based on the number of awards  that meet the related service and specific performance
condi(ons at the ves(ng date. The change in es(ma(ons, i f any, i s  recognised in the income statement at the (me of the
change with a  corresponding adjustment in equity through the retained earnings  account.
 
I t i s  assumed where the Company grants  awards  to employees  of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries , the employee offers
services  to the respec(ve employing en(ty only. W here the Company sa(sfies  awards  granted to an employee of i ts
subs idiary, there is  no obl iga(on for the subs idiary to reimburse the Company. Consequently, a l l  share-based payments
are cons idered equity-seKled with any awards  to an employee of i ts  subs idiary being deemed a capital  contribu(on with a
corresponding debit to investment in subs idiaries . As  the Company is  seKl ing these awards  through i ts  own equity
instruments , there is  a  corresponding credit to the retained earnings  account. The Company recognises  the expense of
share-based payments  in the respective enti ty of the employee.
 
See note 10 for further detai ls  on the share schemes.
 
2.11 Leasing
 
The Group presently i s  only a  lessee with lease agreements  with third-party suppl iers . I t does  not hold any lessor contracts
with customers. 
 
I F RS 16 dis(nguishes  leases  and service contracts  on the bas is  of whether an iden(fied asset i s  control led by a  customer
for which these are deemed as  right-of-use assets . The lessee is  required to recognise a  right-of-use asset represen(ng the
Group right of use and control  over the leased asset. Furthermore, the Group is  required to recognise a  lease l iabi l i ty
represen(ng i ts  obl iga(on to make lease payments  over the relevant term of the lease. The Group wi l l  recognise both
interest expense and depreciation charges, which equate to the finance costs  of the leases.
 
Furthermore, the class ifica(on of cash flows wi l l  a lso be affected because opera(ng lease payments  under I AS 17 are
presented as  opera(ng cash flows; whereas  under the I F RS 16 model , the lease payments  wi l l  be spl i t into a  principal  and
an interest portion which wi l l  be presented as  financing and operating cash flows respectively.
 
Lease liability
The lease l iabi l i ty i s  ini(al ly measured at the present value of the lease payments  that are not paid at that date. The Group
assesses  on a lease-by-lease payments  the contractual  terms of the lease and l ikel ihood of the Group enacting on avai lable
extens ion and break clauses  within the lease in order to determine the expected appl icable term of the lease. O nce
determined, the Group analyses  the expected future payments  of the lease over this  appl icable term, which are discounted.
The interest rate used to discount the cashflows is  the interest rate impl ici t to the lease agreement. W here this  i s  not
avai lable, the Group has  appl ied their incremental  borrowing rate. The incremental  borrowing rate is  the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow, over a  s imi lar term and with a  s imi lar securi ty, the funds  necessary to obtain
an asset of a  s imi lar value to the right-of-use asset in a  s imi lar economic environment.
 



 
Subsequently, the lease l iabi l i ty i s  adjusted for interest and lease payments , as  wel l  as  the impact of lease modifica(ons,
amongst other variables . The interest expense of the lease l iabi l i ty i s  calculated under the effec(ve interest rate where the
interest expense equates  to the lease payments  over the remaining term.
 
Right-of-use asset
The right-of-use asset i s  ini(al ly measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain excep(ons) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses , adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease l iabi l i ty.
 
The cost at ini(al  recogni(on is  calculated as  the ini(al  lease l iabi l i ty plus  ini(al  direct costs , expected restora(on costs
and remaining prepayment balances  at the commencement date.
 
The right-of-use asset i s  subsequently measured at cost, less  accumulated deprecia(on, and any accumulated impairment
losses . Any remeasurement of the lease l iabi l i ty results  in a  corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
 
The Company calculates  deprecia(on of the right-of-use asset in accordance with I AS 16 'P roperty, P lant and Equipment'
and is  cons istent with the deprecia(on methodology appl ied to other s imi lar assets . Al l  leases  are depreciated on a
straight-l ine bas is  over the shorter of the lease term and the useful  l i fe of the right-of-use asset.
 
Restora(on costs  wi l l  be es(mated at ini(al  appl ica(on and added to the right-of-use asset and a corresponding
provis ion raised in accordance with I AS 37 'P rovis ions, con(ngent l iabi l i(es , and con(ngent assets . Any subsequent
change in the measurement of the restora(on provis ion, due to a  revised es(ma(on of expected restora(on costs , i s
accounted for as  an adjustment of the right-of-use asset.
 
Short-term leases and leases of low value assets
The Group leases  some smal ler asset classes , such as  computer hardware, which ei ther has  a  value under £5,000 per
annum or has  a  lease period of 12 months  or shorter. For such leases, the Group has  elected under I F RS 16 rules  to treat
these as  opera(ng leases  and hold off-balance sheet. These leases  are charged to the income statement on a straight-l ine
bas is  over the lease term.
 
2.12 Provisions for commitments and other liabilities
 
P rovis ions  are recognised when the Group has  a  present obl iga(on (legal  or construc(ve) as  a  result of a  past event, i t i s
probable that the Group wi l l  be required to seKle that obl iga(on and a rel iable es(mate can be made of the amount of the
obl igation.
 
The amount recognised as  a  provis ion is  the best es(mate of the cons idera(on required to seKle the present obl iga(on at
the repor(ng date, taking into account the risks  and uncertain(es  surrounding the obl iga(on. W here a provis ion is
measured us ing the cash flows es(mated to seKle the present obl iga(on, i ts  carrying amount is  the present value of those
cash flows (discounted at the Company's  weighted average cost of capital  when the effect of the (me value of money is
materia l ).
 
W hen some or a l l  of the economic benefits  required to seKle a  provis ion are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is  recognised as  an asset only i f i t i s  vi rtual ly certain that reimbursement wi l l  be received, and the amount of
the receivable can be measured rel iably.
 
 
2.13 Operating segments
 
I F RS 8 O pera(ng segments  requires  par(cular classes  of en((es (essen(al ly those with publ icly traded securi(es) to
disclose informa(on about their opera(ng segments , products  and services , the geographical  areas  in which they operate,
and their major customers. I nforma(on is  based on the Group's  internal  management reports , both in the iden(fica(on of
operating segments  and measurement of disclosed segment information.

The Group's  products  and the markets  to which they are offered are so s imi lar in nature that they are reported as  one class
of bus iness . As  a  result, the chief opera(ng decis ion maker uses  only one segment to control  resources  and assess  the
performance of the enti ty, whi le deciding the strategic direction of the Group.

2.14 Earnings per share
 
I n accordance with I AS 33, the Group wi l l  present on the face of the statement of comprehensive income bas ic and di luted
EPS for:
 
-   P rofit or loss  from con(nuing opera(ons aKributable to the ordinary equity holders  of the

Company; and
-   P rofit or loss  aKributable to the ordinary equity holders  of the Company for the period for

each class  of ordinary shares  that has  a  di fferent right to share in profi t for the period.
 

Bas ic EP S is  calculated by dividing profit or loss  aKributable to ordinary equity holders  of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares  outstanding during the period.
 
Di luted EP S is  calculated by adjus(ng the earnings  and number of shares  for the effects  of di lu(ve op(ons and other
di lutive potentia l  ordinary shares.
 
2.15 Merger relief
 
Merger rel ief i s  rel ief granted under the Companies  Act 2006 sec(on 612 which removes the requirement for the Company
to recognise the premium on issued shares  to acquire another company within the share premium account. Merger rel ief i s
recognised where al l  the fol lowing cri teria  are satis fied:
 
§ The Company secures  at least a  90% equity holding of a l l  share classes  in another company as

part of the arrangement; and

§ The Company provides  ei ther of the fol lowing as  cons idera(on for the al lotment of shares  in
the acquired company:

o  I ssue or transfer of equity shares  in the Company in exchange for equity shares  in
the acquired company; or

o  The cancel la(on of any such shares  in the acquired company that the Company



o  The cancel la(on of any such shares  in the acquired company that the Company
does not a l ready hold.

 

2.16 Merger accounting
 
Business combination and merger accounting
I F RS 3 Bus iness  Combina(ons prescribes  the accoun(ng treatment for bus iness  combina(ons, however, the change in
control  and ownership of a  company under common control  i s  outs ide the scope of I F RS 3 Bus iness  Combina(ons. I n the
absence of appropriate I F RS, the Directors  sought other appl icable accoun(ng standards, and elected to apply F RS 102 in
the form of Merger Accounting which provides  accounting guidance for transactions  of this  nature.
 
The principles  of merger accounting are as  fol lows:
 
§ Assets  and l iabi l i(es  of the acquired en(ty are stated at predecessor carrying values. Fair

value measurement is  not required;
§ No new goodwi l l  arises  in merger accounting; and
§ Any difference between the cons idera(on given and the aggregate book value of the assets  and

l iabi l i(es  of the acquired en(ty at the date of transac(on is  included in equity in retained
earnings  or in a  separate "Merger Reserve" account.

 
By way of us ing the merger accoun(ng methodology for preparing these consol idated financial  s tatements , compara(ve
informa(on wi l l  be prepared as  i f the Group had existed and been formed in prior periods. The Directors  agree this  wi l l
enable informa(ve compara(ves  to users  given the underlying ac(vi(es  and management structure of the Group remain
largely unchanged fol lowing the formation of the Group.
 
Merger reserve
W here merger accoun(ng has  been appl ied this  prescribes  that any difference between the cons idera(on given and the
aggregate book value of the assets  and l iabi l i(es  of the acquired en(ty at the date of transac(on is  included in equity in
retained earnings  or in a  separate reserve account. Therefore, on consol ida(on of the Group financial  s tatements , the
difference between the cons idera(on paid and the book value of the acquired en(ty is  recognised as  a  Merger Reserve, in
accordance with relevant accounting standards  relating to bus inesses  under common control .
 
2.17 Own Shares
 
O wn equity instruments  of the Group which are acquired by i t or by any of i ts  subs idiaries  (treasury shares) are deducted
from equity. Cons idera(on paid or received on the purchase, sale, i ssue, or cancel la(on of the Group's  own equity
instruments  is  recognised directly in equity. No gain or loss  i s  recognised in profit or loss  on the purchase, sale, i ssue, or
cancel lation of own equity instruments .
 
Own shares  represents  shares  of the Company that are held by the Employee Benefi t Trust.
 
3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
 
The prepara(on of financial  informa(on in accordance with I F RS requires  management to make judgements , es(mates  and
assump(ons that affect the appl ica(on of accoun(ng pol icies  and reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i(es , income and
expenses.
 
The es(mates  and associated assump(ons are based on historical  experience and various  other factors  that are bel ieved
to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances, the results  of which form the bas is  of making the judgements  about carrying
values  of assets  and l iabi l i(es  that are not readi ly apparent from other sources. Actual  results  may differ from these
estimates.
 
Judgements
 
The Group has  made the fol lowing key judgements  in applying the accounting pol icies :
 
3.1. Expected credit losses loan impairment
 
Signi ficant increase in credit risk for class i fication in stage 2
Counterpar(es  are class ified into stage 2 where the risk profile of the borrower profile has  s ignificantly increased from
incep(on of the exposure. This  increase in credit risk i s  s ignified by ei ther increases  in internal  or external  credit ra(ngs,
the counterparty becoming over 30 days  past due, or forbearance measures  being appl ied.
 
The Group has  a l igned i ts  assessment of s ignificant increases  in credit risk to i ts  internal  threshold cri teria  for promp(ng
customer pricing reviews for cons istency.
 
Due to the short-term behavioural  term of the majori ty of the current lending porRol io, the Group has  not appl ied a
proba(onary ("cool ing off") period to exposures  which are no longer triggering the stage 2 threshold cri teria  so these wi l l
move back to stage 1 once the class i fication cri teria  i s  no longer met.
 
Definition of default
The Group al igns  i ts  defini(on of default to the regulatory defini(on for default in a l l  periods  presented. The Group appl ies
the regulatory guidel ine of 90+ days  in arrears  and also uses  internal  and external  informa(on, a long with financial  and
non-financial  informa(on, avai lable to the Group to determine whether a  default event has  ei ther occurred or i s  perceived
to have occurred.
 
Should a  default event occur the Group appl ies  a  proba(onary ("cool ing off") period to Stage 3 counterpar(es  before being
transferred back to ei ther stage 1 or 2. The proba(onary period is  typical ly 3 months  but is  extended up to 12 months  for
more severe scenarios . During the proba(onary period the counterparty must no longer meet the cri teria  for Stage 3
inclus ion for the entire appl icable period.
 
Estimates
 
The Group has  made the fol lowing es(mates  in the appl ica(on of the accoun(ng pol icies  that have a s ignificant risk of
materia l  adjustment to the carrying amount of assets  and l iabi l i ties  within the next financial  year:
 
3.2. Expected credit losses loan impairment



3.2. Expected credit losses loan impairment
 
Probabi l i ty of default ("PD")
I n the absence of sufficient internal  historical  default data, the Group uses  an external  credit ra(ng agency to provide
credit ra(ngs  and corresponding probabi l i ty of defaults  ("P Ds") for the vast majori ty of the Group's  counterpar(es. These
are "Through-the-Cycle" P Ds which represents  a  long-run average probabi l i ty of default, opposed to Point-in-Time P Ds
which are shorter term and par(al ly reflect the current economic outlook. Further, the primary data points  which impact
credit ra(ngs  and P Ds are derived from past events , therefore, P Ds are inherently a  lagging indicator of expected default
activi ty over the fol lowing 12 month period and longer.
 
Consequently, the Group u(l ises  external  macro-economic forecast data sourced from an external  economics  research
company to adjust PDs from Through-the-Cycle to Point-in-Time, and further cons ider how default activi ty may evolve in the
future. Fol lowing this  exercise, as  at 31 December 2024 the Group has  appl ied a c.34% scalar increase to i ts  P Ds cons istent
to the c.34% scalar increase as  at 31 December 2023.
 
A 100% deteriora(on in P Ds from average P D of 2.62% to 5.25% (excluding stage 3 exposures, which are a lready in default),
would result in an additional  impairment charge of £1,445,000 at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: £1,901,000).
 
Loss  given default ("LGD")
The Group reviewed i ts  LGD model l ing assump(ons as  at 31 December 2024 by comparing observed loss  given default
rates  against model led LGD. The Group analyses  historical  default events  by different sectors , products , and counterparty
ac(vity to val idate whether i ts  current LGD methodology is  reasonable. The Group may apply manageria l  overlays  to i ts
LGD assump(ons to accommodate for devia(ons in expected LGD rates  over the fol lowing 12 month period and longer from
historical  observed LGD rates .
 
Although the Group has  observed strong performance in default recoveries  within the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group has  elected to review i ts  LGD model l ing assump(ons to reflect an uncertain economic outlook, specifical ly within
industries  iden(fied as  having higher poten(al  loss  rates . Col lateral  haircuts  have been reviewed at industry-level , a long
with an adjustment of "sold-out-trust" (S OTs) probabi l i(es , which weaken the Group's  recovery pos i(on due to becoming
uncol lateral ised.
 
A 10% reduction in the expected discounted cashflows from the col lateral  held by the Group would result in an addi(onal
impairment charge of £1,355,000 at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: £967,000).
 
Forward looking macroeconomic scenarios
The Group cons iders  four economic stress  scenarios  within i ts  impairment model l ing whereby the Group stresses  P D and
LGD inputs  in accordance with expected macro-economic outlooks. This  provides  an EC L impairment a l lowance for each
scenario which is  mul(pl ied by the l ikel ihood of occurrence over the next 12-month period from the balance sheet date to
give a  probabi l i ty weighted ECL. 
 
The fol lowing forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios , together with their probabi l i ty weigh(ng and key economic
variables , were used in calculating the ECLs  used for determining impairment provis ions:
 

Scenario
Probability Weighting

(%)
ECL Impairment

(£'000)
ECL Coverage1

(%)
 

31 December 2024  
Upside 20%                           4,618 0.68%
Base 50%                           5,621 0.83%
Downside 20%                           7,384 1.08%
Severe downside 10%                           13,656 2.01%
Weighted Total 100%                           6,577 0.97%

 
31 December 2023  
Upside 20%                             13,181 2.22%
Base 50%                             13,816 2.33%
Downside 20%                             15,243 2.57%
Severe downside 10%                             20,036 3.38%
Weighted Total 100%                             14,596 2.46%
 
1 EC L Coverage is  calculated by dividing the EC L impairment by the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is  typical ly higher than
the gross  loan receivable balance.
 
The fol lowing table detai ls  the addi(onal  impairment a l lowance charge/(credit) should one of the macroeconomic
scenarios  be ass igned a 100% probabi l i ty weighting:
 

2024 2023
Scenario £'000 £'000

 
Upside                            (1,959)                            (1,415)
Base                               (956)                               (780)
Downside                                 807                                 647
Severe downside                             7,079                             5,441
 
 
 
4. Interest and similar income
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At amortised cost (us ing effective interest rate method):
On loans  and advances  to customers 71,619                       55,203
On loans  and advances  to banks 4,930                         4,246



On loans  and advances  to banks 4,930                         4,246
On money market fund 28 -

76,577                      59,449

At FVOCI:
On investment securi ties 243                                521
Total interest and similar income 76,820                      59,970
 
 
5. Operating segments
 
I t i s  the Director's  view that the Group's  products  and the markets  to which they are offered are so s imi lar in nature that
they are reported as  one class  of bus iness . As  a  result, i t i s  cons idered that the chief opera(ng decis ion maker uses  only
one segment to control  resources  and assess  the performance of the en(ty, whi le deciding the strategic direc(on of the
Group. For this  purpose, the chief operating decis ion maker of the Group is  the Board of Directors .
 
 
6.  Interest and similar expenses
 
The Group is  solely funded by customer deposits  and Group reserves. See note 35 and 36 for further detai l  of the
movements  in customer deposits  and financial  l iabi l i ties  during the year.
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At amortised cost (us ing effective interest rate method):  
On customer deposits 29,482 21,799
On subordinated l iabi l i ties 1,272 269
 30,754 22,068
At FVTPL:  
Net interest expense on financial  instruments  hedging l iabi l i ties 454 268
Total interest and similar expense 31,208 22,336
 
 
7.  Fee income

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Faci l i ty-related fees                        1,237                          1,393
Total fee income                        1,237                          1,393
 
 
 
8.  Fee expense

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Enable guarantee charges                           988                           648
Financial  guarantee charges                              576                              19
Undrawn commitment faci l i ty fees 20                                                              8
Non-incremental  direct costs                              23                              44
Broker Fees 19 -
Total fee expense                           1,626                           719
 
 
 
9.  Staff costs
 
Analys is  of staff costs :

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Wages and salaries                      12,367                      10,437
Share-based payments                           985                           905
Contractor costs                             59                             22
Social  securi ty costs                        1,784                        1,314
Pension costs  aris ing on defined contribution schemes                           849                           753
Total staff costs                     16,044                     13,431
 
Contractor costs  are recognised within personnel  costs  where the work performed would otherwise have been performed by
employees. Contractor costs  aris ing from the performance of other services  is  included within other operating expenses.
 
Average number of persons  employed by the Group (including Directors):

2024 2023
 No. No.
 

Management                              13                              13
Finance                              10                                8
Credit & Risk                              30                              26
Sales  & Marketing                              36                              35
Operations                              31                              28
Technology                              16                              16
Total average headcount                           136                           126



Total average headcount                           136                           126
 
Directors ' emoluments:

Fees/basic
salary Bonuses

Employer
pension

contributions
Benefits in

kind 2024 total 2023 total
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Executive Directors :  
Carl  D'Ammassa 529 477 53                   9 1,068 808
Gavin Morris 299 120 30                 10 459 427

 828 597 83                 19 1,527 1,235
 

Non-executive Directors :  
Mark Stephens 150 - -                    - 150 150
Thomas Grathwohl 75 - -                    - 75 75
Nicole Col l 85 - -                    - 85 85
Sheryl  Lawrence 95 - -                    - 95 95
Haakon Stenrød1 -  - -                    - - -

 405 - -                    - 405 405
 

Total Director remuneration 1,233 597 83                 19 1,932 1,640
 
1 Haakon Stenrød holds  his  pos i(on as  Non-Execu(ve Director by vi rtue of major shareholding by Watrium AS exercis ing
their right to appoint a  Director under their Relationship Agreement. He is  compensated by Watrium AS.
2 Taxable gain on share awards  exercised during the year.
 
The pension for the year ended 31 December 2024 to Carl  D 'Ammassa and Gavin Morris  of £53,000 (2023: £44,000) and
£30,000 (2023: £29,000) respec(vely is  the sum of payments  made to these individuals  in l ieu of Group pension
contributions.
 
Carl  D 'Ammassa and Gavin Morris  have received share op(ons as  part of long-term incen(ve schemes - further detai ls  of
these share option schemes can be found in note 10.
 
Carl  D 'Ammassa is  the highest paid Director with total  remunera(on of £1,068,000 (2023: £808,000) in the year ended 31
December 2024. Carl  D 'Ammassa has  been awarded share op(ons of which none have been exercised yet as  at 31
December 2024 (2023: ni l ). Refer to note 10 for further detai ls  of these awards.
 
 
 
10. Share-based payments
 
The share-based payment expense during the year comprised the fol lowing:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Performance Share Plan (PSP)                    958                    860
Sharesave Scheme (SAYE)                      27                      45
Total share-based payments expense                    985                    905
 

 
 
The Group has  the fol lowing share options  scheme for employees  which have been granted and remain outstanding at 31
December 2024:  

Plan

No. of
options

outstanding
31

December
2024

Options
outstanding

value
31 December

2024
£'000

Grant
dates

Vesting
dates

Exercise
price

Performance
conditions
attached

Settlement
method

Charge for
year

ended 31
December

2024
£'000

 
General  Award 2020 105,000 39 Jun-20 Jun-23 Ni l No Equity  (2)
General  Award 2021 106,150 65 Jun-21 Jun-24 Ni l No Equity 15
General  Award 2022 304,836 97 May-22 May-25 Ni l No Equity 36
General  Award 2023 285,739 54 Apr-23 Apr-26 Ni l No Equity 32

General  Award 2024 841,881 38 Apr-24 Apr-27 Ni l No Equity 38

Manager CSOP Award 384,298 31
Aug-20
Aug-20
Aug-20

Jun-21
Jun-22
Jun-23

40.5p No Equity -

Manager PSP Award 301,904 122
Aug-20
Aug-20
Aug-20

Aug-20
Jun-21
Jun-22

Ni l No Equity -

CEO Recruitment
Award

900,000 338 Jun-20 Jun-23 Ni l Yes Equity -

Senior Manager
Award 2020 430,720 156 Jun-20 Jun-23 Ni l Yes Equity -

Senior Manager
113,394 68

Jun-21
Jun-21

Sep-22
Jun-24 Ni l No Equity 7



Award 2021 113,394 68 Jun-21
Nov-21

Jun-24
Nov-24

Ni l No Equity 7

Senior Manager
Award 2022 1,314,170 406

May-22
Sep-22

May-25
Sep-25 Ni l Yes Equity 151

Senior Manager
Award 2023 4,689,317 921

Apr-23
Aug-23
Oct-23

Apr-26
Aug-26
Aug-26

Ni l Yes Equity 493

Senior Manager
Award 2024

2,250,000 104

Jan-24
Apr-24
Jul -24

Nov-24

Jan-27
Apr-27
Jul -27

Nov-27

Ni l No Equity 105

Leader & High
Performer Award
2022

179,133 57
May-22
Feb-23

May-25
May-25 Ni l No Equity 21

Leader & High
Performer Award
2023

524,644 103 Apr-23 Apr-26 Ni l No Equity 61

Sharesave Scheme 2,312,987 83

Nov-21
Jun-22

May-23
May-24

Jan-25
Aug-25
Aug-26
May-27

46.3p
30p

30.72p
18p

No Equity 28

TOTAL 15,044,173 2,682      985

 
 
Al l  awards  are equity-seKled, and the shares  awarded for a l l  schemes are Distribu(on Finance Capital  Holdings  plc
ordinary shares  of £0.01 each of the current share capital  of the Company which are l i s ted on the Alterna(ve I nvestment
Market (AI M). The awards  were granted to employees  and Directors  within the Group with the majori ty of the employees
being employed by DF Capital  Bank Limited.
 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the movements  in share op(ons granted, forfei ted, and exercised were as
fol lows:

Options
outstanding

at start of
year

Options
granted

during the
year

Options
forfeited

during the
year

Options
exercised

during the
year

Options
outstanding

at end of
the year

Options
exercisable

at end of
the year

Plan No. No. No. No. No. No.
 

Year ended 31
December 2024

 

General  Award 2020 143,350 -  (4,233)  (34,117) 105,000 105,000
General  Award 2021 134,130 - 2,329  (30,309) 106,150 106,150
General  Award 2022 337,422 -  (32,586) - 304,836 -
General  Award 2023 325,739 -  (40,000) - 285,739 -
General  Award 2024 - 920,000  (78,119) - 841,881 -
Manager CSOP Award 384,298 - - - 384,298 384,298
Manager PSP Award 821,668 - -  (519,764) 301,904 301,904
CEO Recruitment Award 900,000 - - - 900,000 900,000
Senior Manager Award
2020

581,080 - -  (150,360) 430,720 430,720

Senior Manager Award
2021

113,394 - - - 113,394 113,394

Senior Manager Award
2022

1,314,170 - - - 1,314,170 -

Senior Manager Award
2023

5,592,609 -  (903,292) - 4,689,317 -

Senior Manager Award
2024

- 2,350,000  (100,000) - 2,250,000 -

Leader & High Performer
Award 2022

200,876 -  (21,743) - 179,133 -

Leader & High Performer
Award 2023

586,820 -  (62,176) - 524,644 -

Sharesave Scheme 1,418,952 1,977,620 (1,083,585) - 2,312,987 -
Total 12,854,508 5,247,620 (2,323,405)  (734,550) 15,044,173 2,341,466
 
 
Year ended 31
December 2023

 

General  Award 2020 222,500 -  (26,151)  (52,999) 143,350 143,350
General  Award 2021 160,248 -  (26,118) - 134,130 -
General  Award 2022 385,511 -  (48,089) - 337,422 -
General  Award 2023 - 365,000  (39,261) - 325,739 -
Manager CSOP Award 384,298 - - - 384,298 384,298
Manager PSP Award 853,334 - -  (31,666) 821,668 821,668
CEO Recruitment Award 900,000 - - - 900,000 900,000
Senior Manager Award
2020

885,000 -  (173,200)  (130,720) 581,080 581,080

Senior Manager Award
2021

144,370 -  (11,291)  (19,685) 113,394 19,685

Senior Manager Award
2022

1,765,000 -  (450,830) - 1,314,170 -

Senior Manager Award
2023

- 5,673,292  (80,683) - 5,592,609 -

Leader & High Performer 201,022 5,000  (5,146) - 200,876 -



Leader & High Performer
Award 2022

201,022 5,000  (5,146) - 200,876 -

Leader & High Performer
Award 2023

- 615,000  (28,180) - 586,820 -

Sharesave Scheme 1,068,212 717,166  (366,426) - 1,418,952 -
Total 6,969,495 7,375,458  (1,255,375)  (235,070) 12,854,508 2,850,081
 
The fa ir value at grant date is  calculated by taking into cons idera(on any restric(ve ves(ng cri teria, including any market
and/or non-market performance condi(ons. The below table summarises  the share schemes including the weighted
average remaining contractual  years  and the weighted average fa ir value at grant date:
 

2024 2023

Plan

Options
outstanding

at end of
the year

(No.)

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)

Weighted
average

fair value
at grant

date
(pence)

Options
outstanding

at end of
the year

(No.)

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)

Weighted
average

fair value
at grant

date
(pence)

 
General  Award 2020 105,000 - 37.50 143,350 - 37.50
General  Award 2021 106,150 - 61.00 134,130 0.4 61.00
General  Award 2022 304,836 0.4 37.00 337,422 1.4 37.00
General  Award 2023 285,739 1.3 38.50 325,739 2.3 38.50
General  Award 2024 841,881 2.3 23.50 - - -
Manager CSOP Award 384,298 - 8.00 384,298 - 8.00
Manager PSP Award 301,904 - 40.50 821,668 - 40.50
CEO Recruitment Award 900,000 - 37.50 900,000 - 37.50
Senior Manager Award
2020

430,720 - 37.50 581,080 - 37.50

Senior Manager Award
2021

113,394 - 60.27 113,394 0.5 60.27

Senior Manager Award
2022

1,314,170 0.4 34.85 1,314,170 1.4 34.85

Senior Manager Award
2023

4,689,317 1.4 36.75 5,592,609 2.4 36.75

Senior Manager Award
2024

2,250,000 2.6 31.71 - - -

Leader & High Performer
Award 2022

179,133 0.4 37.03 200,876 1.4 37.03

Leader & High Performer
Award 2023

524,644 1.3 38.50 586,820 2.3 38.50

Sharesave Scheme 2,312,987 2.1 13.96 1,418,952 2.0 13.98
 15,044,173   12,854,508   
 
 
W here a share award scheme has  an exercise price that i s  equal  to £ni l , valua(on models  such as  the Black Scholes
valua(on model  cannot be used to determine the fa ir value of the award at the grant date, therefore, i t i s  assumed the
market price of the share is  assumed to be the fa ir value. For schemes which have an exercise price greater than £ni l , the
Group has  used the fol lowing variables  for the respective schemes:
 

 
Manager

CSOP Award
Sharesave

Scheme
Sharesave

Scheme
Sharesave

Scheme
Sharesave

Scheme
 

Grant date Aug-20 Nov-21 Jun-22 May-23 May-24
Contractual  l i fe (years) 3 3 3 3 3
Share price at i ssue (pence) 40.50 57.50 37.50 38.40 29.00
Exercise price (pence) 40.50 46.30 30.00 30.72 18.00
Expected volati l i ty (%) 30.00% 30.00% 30.00% 30.00% 30.00%
Risk-free rate (%) 0.20% 0.55% 2.08% 3.91% 4.30%
Dividend yield (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
 
 
The terms of the individual  schemes are as  fol lows:
 
General  Award
I n the year ended 31 December 2024, ni l  cost op(ons over ordinary shares  of £0.01 each of the current share capital  of the
Company were granted to a l l  employees  (excluding Directors). These op(ons vest over a  3-year period and are not subject
to speci fic performance conditions.
 

 
Manager PSP and CSOP Award
 
As  part of a  Group reorganisa(on of i ts  exis(ng share capital  and employee loan agreements  in the year ended 31
December 2020, managers  and former managers  were awarded share op(ons so that they were not disadvantaged by this
exercise. PSP scheme ni l  cost options  and Company Share Option Scheme shares  ("CSOP") were issued over ordinary shares
of £0.01 each of the share capital  of the Company. The C S O P  O p(ons have an exercise price per share of 40.5p equal  to the
market value of O rdinary Shares  as  at the (me of grant and the P S P  O p(ons are ni l  cost op(ons. The P S P  and C S O P  O p(ons
became exercisable on the same (mel ine, and in the same propor(ons, that the corresponding original  O rdinary Shares
would have become freely transferable on the terms on which they were held. The O p(ons are not subject to the
satis faction of performance conditions.
 
The fa ir value of the C S O P  was measured at the grant date us ing the Black-Scholes  model  - see table above for further



The fa ir value of the C S O P  was measured at the grant date us ing the Black-Scholes  model  - see table above for further
detai ls  of the inputs  into this  valuation model .
 
No further awards  under this  scheme were granted in the years  ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
 
Senior Manager Award
Ni l  cost op(ons over ordinary shares  of £0.01 each of the current share capital  of the Company were granted to certain
senior managers .  Al l  of these share awards  have been granted in l ine with our P S P  rules  and have performance condi(ons
al igned to financial  performance, risk management and cultural  objectives .
 
I n the year ended 31 December 2024, Senior Managers  were granted addi(onal  awards  based on either promo(on,
recruitment incen(ves, or performance. No performance condi(ons are included for a l l  of the 2,350,000 awards  granted in
the year ended 31 December 2024, and al l  awards  vest over a  3-year period subject to service conditions  being met.
 
Sharesave Scheme
The Group has  operated a 'Save As  You Earn' scheme ('SAYE' or 'Sharesave Scheme') for several  years  which is  avai lable to
al l  UK-based employees. This  i s  a  H M RC-approved share scheme, whereby the scheme al lows employees  to purchase
op(ons by saving a  fixed amount of between £10 and £500 per month over a  period of three years  at the end of which the
op(ons, subject to leaver provis ions, are usual ly exercisable. I f not exercised, the amount saved is  returned to the
employee. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has  offered a scheme with a  grant date of May 2024 and a
vesting date of July 2027. The option price is  calculated us ing the clos ing bid-market price of a  Distribution Finance Capital
Holdings  plc ordinary share over the five deal ing days  prior to the Invitation Date and applying a  discount of 20%.
 
The fa ir value at grant date for the schemes is  calculated by us ing the Black-Scholes  Model  - see table above for further
detai ls  of the inputs  into this  valuation model .
 
 
 
Director share awards:
 
 
The below table summarises  share options  which have been awarded to Directors  as  part of long-term incentive schemes:
 

Options
outstanding at

start of year

Options
granted

during the
year

Options
forfeited

during the
year

Options
exercised

during the
year

Options
outstanding at

end of the
year

Options
exercisable at

end of the year
Plan No. No. No. No. No. No.

 
Year ended 31 December
2024  
Carl  D'Ammassa:
General  Award 2020 5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000
CEO Recruitment Award 900,000 - - - 900,000 900,000
Senior Manager Award 2022 400,000 - - - 400,000 -
Senior Manager Award 2023 1,168,000 - - - 1,168,000 -
Senior Manager Award 2024 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 -
Sharesave Scheme 60,000 - (60,000) - - -

 2,533,000 1,000,000  (60,000) -
        

3,473,000
               
905,000

Gavin Morris :
General  Award 2020 5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000
Manager CSOP Award 74,074 - - - 74,074 74,074
Manager PSP Award 19,733 - - - 19,733 19,733
Senior Manager Award 2020 130,720 - - - 130,720 130,720
Senior Manager Award 2022 200,000 - - - 200,000 -
Senior Manager Award 2023 753,000 - - - 753,000 -
Senior Manager Award 2024 - 200,000 - - 200,000 -
Sharesave Scheme 60,000 - - - 60,000 -
 1,242,527 200,000 - - 1,442,527 229,527
 
Total Director Awards 3,775,527 1,200,000  (60,000) - 4,915,527 1,134,527

 
Year ended 31 December
2023  
Carl  D'Ammassa:
General  Award 2020                   5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000
CEO Recruitment Award              900,000 - - - 900,000 900,000
Senior Manager Award 2022              400,000 - - - 400,000 -
Senior Manager Award 2023                            - 1,168,000 - - 1,168,000 -
Sharesave Scheme                 60,000 - - - 60,000 -
           1,365,000 1,168,000 - - 2,533,000 905,000
Gavin Morris
General  Award 2020                   5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000
Manager CSOP Award                 74,074 - - - 74,074 74,074
Manager PSP Award                 19,733 - - - 19,733 19,733
Senior Manager Award 2020              200,000 -  (69,280) - 130,720 130,720
Senior Manager Award 2022              200,000 - - - 200,000 -
Senior Manager Award 2023                            - 753,000 - - 753,000 -
Sharesave Scheme                 60,000 - - - 60,000 -
              558,807 753,000  (69,280) - 1,242,527 229,527
Total Director Awards           1,923,807 1,921,000  (69,280) - 3,775,527             1,134,527



Total Director Awards           1,923,807 1,921,000  (69,280) - 3,775,527             1,134,527
       

 
See above sec(on within this  note for further detai ls  of the schemes, including the fa ir value (market price) at grant date.
No performance condi(ons are aKached to the Senior Manager Award 2024 for both Carl  D 'Ammassa and Gavin Morris . Al l
awards  are subject to service conditions  being met over the vesting period.
 
 
11.  Other operating expenses

2024 2023
 Note £'000 £'000
 

Finance costs 12  103  76
Depreciation 17,18  641  498
Amortisation of intangible assets 19  285  376
Loss  on disposal  of fixed assets 17 5 -
Loss  on disposal  of intangible assets 19 6 -
Profess ional  services  expenses  2,998  2,189
Audit and accountancy fees 15 480 418
IT-related expenses  3,502  2,506
Other operating expenses  2,546  2,349
Foreign currency loss 104 -
Total other operating expenses   10,670  8,412
 
 
 
 
12.  Finance costs

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Interest on lease l iabi l i ties   103    76
Total finance costs   103    76
 
 
13.  Provisions
 
Analys is  for movements  in provis ions:
 

Leasehold dilapidations Other provisions Total
 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Year ended 31 December 2024  
At start of period                  67                      -                 67
Additions                      -                  50                 50
Uti l i sation of provis ion                      -                      -                     -
Unused amounts  reversed                      -                      -                     -
Unwinding of discount                     6                      -                    6
Lease modification                162                      -               162
At end of year                235                  50               285

 
Year ended 31 December 2023  
At start of period                  77                      -                 77
Additions                  25                      -                 25
Uti l i sation of provis ion                      -                      -                     -
Unused amounts  reversed                 (10)                      -                (10)
Unwinding of discount                     5                      -                    5
Lease modification                 (30)                      -                (30)
At end of year                  67                      -                 67
 
 
 
As detai led in note 18, the Group currently leases  office premises  at i ts  Manchester headquarters . During the year, the
Group agreed to enact the contractual  break clause which wi l l  terminate the lease in August 2025. This  resulted in a  lease
modifica(on which increased the es(mated total  restora(on costs . These amounts  have been discounted to present value
by us ing an appl icable discount factor.   
 
 
 
14. Net impairment (gain)/loss on financial assets
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Movement in impairment a l lowance in the year  (8,062)  11,034

Write-offs  7,821  564

Total net impairment (gains)/losses on financial assets  (241)  11,598
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group released the en(re expected credit loss  provis ion in respect of
RoyaleLi fe. As  at 31 December 2023 this  balance was c.£9.8m. The related write off was c.£4.9m fol lowing a recovery of c.



RoyaleLi fe. As  at 31 December 2023 this  balance was c.£9.8m. The related write off was c.£4.9m fol lowing a recovery of c.
£4.7m. See notes  20 and 24 for further analys is  of the movement in impairment a l lowances  on loans  and advances  to
customers  and trade receivables  respectively.
 
 
Analys is  of write-offs :
 

2024 2023

 Note £'000 £'000

 
Real ised losses  on loan receivables 20  7,286  355
Real ised losses  on trade receivables 24  223  8

Real ised losses  on other receivables - -
Recovery transaction costs  351  251
Bad debt VAT rel ief  (39)  (50)
Total write-offs  7,821  564
 
 
 
15.  Profit before taxation
 
Profi t before taxation is  s tated after charging:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                  444                  318
Depreciation of right-of-use assets                  197                  180
Amortisation of intangible assets                  285                  376
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment (5) -
Loss  on disposal  of intangible assets (6) -
Al lowance for credit impaired assets             (8,062)             11,034
Staff costs             16,044             13,431
Auditor's  remuneration                  480                  418
             9,377             25,757
 
 
Analys is  of auditor's  remuneration:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

Audit services:
Fees  payable to the Company's  auditor for the audit of the Company's
annual  accounts                     85                     72
Fees  payable to the Company's  auditor for the audit of i ts
subs idiaries                  255                  215
Fees  paid to the Company's  auditors  relating to prior periods                     40                     39
Total audit services fees                  380                  326

 
Assurance services:
Interim review                     78                    69
Net profi t veri fication 22 23
Total assurance services fees                     100                     92

 
Total auditor's remuneration                  480                  418
 
16.  Taxation
 
Analys is  of tax charge recognised in the period:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Current taxation charge:  
UK corporation tax on profi t for the current period                     1,925                               73
Adjustments  in respect of prior years                            (3)                                  -
Total taxation charge                     1,922                               73

 
Deferred taxation charge:  
Current period                     3,135                         1,345
Adjustments  in respect of prior years                            (4)                                  -
Total deferred taxation charge                     3,131                         1,345

 
Total taxation charge                     5,053                         1,418
 
 
Reconci l iation of profi t before taxation to total  tax charge recognised:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Profi t on ordinary activi ties  before taxation                   19,074                         4,573



Profi t on ordinary activi ties  before taxation                   19,074                         4,573

Taxation on Profi t on ordinary activi ties  at standard corporation tax
rate of 25% (2023: 23.5%)                     4,769                         1,076

Effects  of:
Fixed asset di fferences                           14                                 3
Disal lowable expenses                         322                            275
Other permanent di fferences                         (45)                             (18)
Other short-term timing di fferences  for which no deferred tax asset has
been recognised                              -                                  -
Current year losses  for which no deferred tax asset has  been
recognised                              -                                 3
Adjustments  in respect of prior years                            (3)                                  -
Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes  in tax rates                            (4)                               79
Total tax charge                     5,053                         1,418
 
Current tax on profits  reflects  UK  corpora(on tax levied at a  rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 23.5%). The Company is  not subject to the banking surcharge levied at a  rate of 3% (31 December 2023: 3%)
on the profits  of banking companies  chargeable to corpora(on tax a/er an al lowance of £100 mi l l ion (31 December 2023:
£100m) per annum.
 
Expenses  that are not deduc(ble in determining taxable profits/losses  include impairment losses , amor(sa(on of
intangible assets , depreciation of fixed assets , cl ient and staff entertainment costs , and profess ional  fees  which are capital
in nature.
 
A deferred tax asset i s  only recognised to the extent the Group finds i t probable that the prior taxable losses  can be u(l ised
against future taxable profits . As  at 31 December 2024, the Group has  an es(mated unrecognised deferred tax asset of £ni l
(31 December 2023: £0.7m) from prior taxable losses .
 
I n the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has  recognised a deferred tax asset in respect of future taxable profits .
Further detai l  on the deferred taxation asset i s  provided in note 27.
 
 
17.  Property, plant and equipment
 

Leasehold
Improvements

Furniture, Fixtures
& Fittings

Computer
Hardware

Telephony &
Communications

Motor
Vehicles Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Cost:
As at 1 January 2023 10 24 159 - 954 1,147
Additions 13 129 121 - 155 418
Disposals  and write offs -  (1)  (16) - -  (17)
As at 31 December 2023 23 152 264 - 1,109 1,548
Additions 166 13 111 4 103 397
Disposals  and write offs -  -  (8) - -  (8)
As at 31 December 2024 189 165 367 4 1,212 1,937

 
 

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2023 5 12 69 - 16 102
Charge for the year 4 32 65 - 217 318
Disposals  and write offs -  (1)  (16) - -  (17)
As at 31 December 2023 9 43 118 - 233 403
Charge for the year 47 55 105 2 235 444
Disposals  and write offs -  -  (3) - -  (3)
As at 31 December 2024 56 98 220 2 468 844

 
 

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2023 14 109 146 - 876 1,145
At 31 December 2024 133 67 147 2 744 1,093
 
 
In the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group wrote off ful ly depreciated assets  of £ni l  (2023: £17,000).
 
 
18.  Right-of-use assets
 

Buildings
 £'000
 

Cost:  
As at 1 January 2023               1,153
Additions                   407
Disposals  and write offs                        -
Lease modifications                   567
As at 31 December 2023               2,127
Additions                       8
Disposals  and write offs                        -
Lease modifications                        (836)
As at 31 December 2024               1,299

 



 
Accumulated depreciation:  
As at 1 January 2023                   720
Charge for the year                   180
Disposals  and write offs                        -
As at 31 December 2023                   900
Charge for the year                   197
Disposals  and write offs                        -
As at 31 December 2024               1,097

 
Carrying amount:  
At 31 December 2023               1,227
At 31 December 2024               202
 
During the year, the Group agreed to enact the contractual  break clause which wi l l  terminate the lease in August 2025. This
resulted in a  lease modification which reduced the right-of-use asset by £836,000, predominantly due to a  s igni ficant
reduction in future lease payments .
 
The maturi ty analys is  of lease l iabi l i ties  i s  presented in note 34.
 
Amounts  recognised in the income statement:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets                              197                               180
Interest expense on lease l iabi l i ties                              103                                 76
Expense relating to short-term leases                                   -                                    3
Expense relating to leases  of low value assets                                13                                    9
Expenses  relating to variable lease payments  not included in
measurement of lease l iabi l i ty                              126                               112

Total amounts recognised in the income statement                              439                               380
 
 
Some of the property leases  in which the Group is  the lessee contain variable lease payment terms rela(ng to service
charges  and insurance costs  which are included within the contractual  terms of the lease agreement. The breakdown of the
lease payments  for these property leases  are as  fol lows:
                                                                                                                                                                         

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Bui ldings:
Fixed payments 109 227
Variable payments 126                118
Total lease payments 235              345
 
 
19. Intangible assets
 

Computer software

 £'000

 
Cost  
At 1 January 2023                           1,941
Additions  from internal  development                              117
Additions  from separate acquis i tions                                    -

Disposals  and write offs                            (538)

At 31 December 2023                           1,520

Additions  from internal  development                              623

Additions  from separate acquis i tions                                    -

Disposals  and write offs                               (53)

As at 31 December 2024                           2,090
 
 
 

Accumulated amortisation  
At 1 January 2023                           1,064
Charge for the year                              376
Disposals  and write offs                            (538)
At 31 December 2023                              902
Charge for the year                              285
Disposals  and write offs                               (47)
As at 31 December 2024                           1,140

 
Carrying amount  

At 31 December 2023                              618

At 31 December 2024                              950

 



I n the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group capital ised £623,000 (2023: £117,000) of consultancy costs  in rela(on to
the development of so/ware plaRorms to provide an asset finance capabi l i ty, improving the commercial  lending
processes , enhancing the customer journey for commercial  cl ients  and development of the customer deposits  plaRorm. The
amor(sa(on period for these so/ware costs  i s  within a  range of 3-5 years  fol lowing an individual  assessment of the
asset's  expected l i fe. The Group performed an impairment review at 31 December 2024 and concluded an impairment of
£ni l  (2023: £ni l ).
 
In the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group wrote off ful ly depreciated intangible assets  of £ni l  (2023: £538,000).
 
20. Loans and advances to customers

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Loan book principal                 665,709                     580,525
Accrued interest and fees                     4,067                         3,602
Gross carrying amount                 669,776                     584,127

 
less : impairment a l lowance                    (6,577)                     (14,596)
less : effective interest rate adjustment                    (2,427)                        (1,487)
Total loans and advances to customers                 660,772                     568,044
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group released the en(re expected credit loss  provis ion in respect of
RoyaleLi fe. As  at 31 December 2023 this  balance was c.£9.8m.
Refer to note 39 for detai ls  on the expected maturi ty analys is  of the gross  loans  receivable balance.
 
Refer to note 14 and 39 for further detai ls  on the impairment losses  recognised in the periods.
 
Ageing analys is  of gross  loan receivables:

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Not in default:
Not yet past due                 661,391                     566,503
Past due: 1 - 30 days                         435                             467
Past due: 31 - 60 days                         168                               35
Past due: 61 - 90 days                             5                                  -
Past due: 90+ days                              -                                  -

                 661,999                     567,005
Defaulted:
Not yet past due and past due 1 - 90 days                     6,143                         5,020
Past due 90+ days                     1,634                       12,102

                     7,777                       17,122
 

Total gross carrying amount                 669,776                     584,127
 
 
 
 
Analys is  of gross  loans  and advances  to customers:
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

As at 1 January 2024             545,952               21,052               17,123             584,127
 
Transfer to Stage 1               38,281         (38,204)                    (77)                          -
Transfer to Stage 2  (82,317)              82,416  (99)                          -
Transfer to Stage 3  (10,714)  (7,327)               18,041                          -
Net lending/(repayment) 152,311             (39,433)             (19,943)               92,935
Write-offs                          -                     (20)  (7,266)  (7,286)
Total movement in gross loan receivables               97,561              (2,568)  (9,344)               85,649
As at 31 December 2024 643,513               18,484                 7,779 669,776
Loss allowance coverage at 31 December 2024 0.57% 0.90% 34.95% 0.98%

 
 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

As at 1 January 2023 410,756 13,323 17,205 441,284
 

 

Transfer to Stage 1               42,913  (42,913) -
                        

-

Transfer to Stage 2  (88,983) 89,328  (345)
                        

-

Transfer to Stage 3  (2,617)  (3,728) 6,345
                        

-

Net lending/(repayment)
           

183,883  (34,958)  (5,727)
           

143,198



Net lending/(repayment) 183,883  (34,958)  (5,727) 143,198
Write-offs                          - -  (355)  (355)
Total movement in gross loan receivables 135,196 7,729  (82) 142,843

 
As at 31 December 2023 545,952 21,052 17,123 584,127

 
Loss allowance coverage at 31 December 2023 0.46% 0.76% 69.58% 2.50%
 
 
Analys is  of impairment losses  on loans  and advances  to customers:
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

As at 1 January 2024                 2,522
                   

160
             
11,914               14,596

 
Transfer to Stage 1                     277  (275)  (2)                          -
Transfer to Stage 2                   (425) 479  (54)                          -
Transfer to Stage 3                     (69)  (173) 242                          -
Remeasurement of impairment a l lowance  (1,274) 560 3,191                 2,477
Net lending/(repayment)                 2,661  (582)  (3,837)                (1,758)
Write-offs                          -  (3)  (8,735)                (8,738)
Total movement in loss allowance                 1,170 6  (9,195)                (8,019)
As at 31 December 2024                 3,692 166 2,719                 6,577
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

As at 1 January 2023  1,943   84    1,693   3,720
 
Transfer to Stage 1   365   (365)   -   -
Transfer to Stage 2   (464)  606   (142)   -
Transfer to Stage 3  (16)  (174)  190  -
Remeasurement of impairment a l lowance (1,668)   266  10,870   9,468
Net lending/(repayment)  2,362   (257)  (342)   1,763
Write-offs   -   -  (355)   (355)
Total movement in loss allowance   579   76  10,221   10,876

 
As at 31 December 2023   2,522    160   11,914   14,596
 
 
21.  Investment Securities

2024 2023

 £'000 £'000

Investments  not measured at fa i r value:

Money market fund               769                     -

Investment securi ties  measured at FVOCI

UK government gi l ts                     -         14,839

              769         14,839

  

Analys is  of movements  during the period:

At 1 January 2024         14,839         22,964

Purchased investment securi ties         10,659         14,554

Proceeds from sold or maturing securi ties        (25,000)        (23,000)

Coupons received                (75)             (383)

Interest income               271               521

Unreal ised gains                     -               183

Amounts  transferred to the income statement                 75                     -

At 31 December 2024               769         14,839

   

Maturity profi le of investment securi ties :

Within 12 months                     769         14,839

Over 12 months                     -                     -

 
 
I n May 2024 the Group entered into a  cross-currency swap to support lending denominated in non-GBP  currencies . Surplus
funds from the swap were invested into a  low vola(l i ty money market fund to earn a return whi lst retaining same day
l iquidity. The fund invests  in a  range of cash holding and short dated securi(es  which are held to maturi ty. This  materia l ly
removes exposure to market movements , meaning the fund cons istently trades  at par value
 
The fund is  a  type of investment securi ty which required presenta(on under a  new financial  s tatement cap(on. I n addi(on
to this  fund, the Group also held investment securi(es  in the form of UK  government gi l ts  which matured during the year
that represent a  sub-category of investment securi ties .



that represent a  sub-category of investment securi ties .
 
I n the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group purchased treasury bi l l s  which matured before year end. The impact of the
purchase and maturi ty has  been reflected within the analys is  of movements  during the period table above.
 
I n accordance with I F RS 9, a l l  investment securi(es  were assessed for impairment and treated as  Stage 1 assets  in both
reporting periods.
 
 
22.  Derivatives
 
The table below reconci les  the gross  amount of deriva(ve contracts  to the carrying balance shown in the consol idated
statement of financial  pos ition:
 

Gross amount of
recognised

financial
assets/(liabilities)

Net amount of
financial

assets/(liabilities)
presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

Cash collateral
paid/(received) not

offset in the
Statement of

Financial Position Net amount

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 

31 December 2024  

Derivative assets :

Interest rate risk hedging 154 154 180 334

Foreign currency risk hedging 141 141 - 141

Derivative l iabi l i ties :

Interest rate risk hedging  (6)  (6) -  (6)

31 December 2023  

Derivative assets :

Interest rate risk hedging 537 537  (372) 165

Foreign currency risk hedging - - - -

Derivative l iabi l i ties :

Interest rate risk hedging  (565)  (565) 222 (343)
 
 
Al l  interest rate derivative instruments  which have been entered into are transacted against SONIA. Al l  foreign currency risk
derivative instruments  which have been entered into are transacted against the Euro.
 
Margin cal l  col lateral  i s  ei ther paid or received with the swap counterpar(es  on al l  ac(ve swap contracts  - this  has  been
included in the above table. As  at 31 December 2024, the Group has  a  varia(on margin payable of £180,000 (2023:
£150,000 receivable) with swap counterpar(es. Further, the Group holds  £2,000,000 (2023: £2,000,000) of independent
col lateral  with banks  for the swap faci l i ty, which is  not included within the above table. See note 28 for the balance of cash
col lateral  held with banks.
 
The table below profiles  the maturi ty of nominal  amounts  for interest rate risk hedging deriva(ves  based on contractual
maturi ty:
 

Total nominal
amount

Less than 3
months 3 - 12 months 1 - 5 years

More than 5
years

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

31 December 2024  
Derivative assets
Interest rate risk hedging 10,000 - - 10,000 -
Foreign currency risk hedging 4,283 - 4,283 - -
Derivative l iabi l i ties
Interest rate risk hedging 5,000 - 5,000 - -

 19,283 - 9,283 10,000 -
 

31 December 2023  
Derivative assets
Interest rate risk hedging 45,000 - 30,000 15,000 -
Foreign currency risk hedging - - - - -
Derivative l iabi l i ties
Interest rate risk hedging 100,000 45,000 55,000 - -

 145,000 45,000 85,000 15,000 -
 
The Group has  3 (2023: 10) interest rate swap contracts  with an average fixed rate of 4.50% (2023: 4.65%).
The Group has  1 FX swap and 1 cross  currency swap contract which make up the foreign currency risk hedging balance.
 
 
23.  Hedge Accounting
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000



 £'000 £'000
 

Hedged l iabi l i ties :  
Current hedge relationships                      167                     407
Swap inception adjustment                       (31)                        17
Fair value adjustments on hedged liabilities                      136                     424
 
As  at the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group only hedges  l iabi l i(es  in the form of i ts  customer deposits  and
subordinated l iabi l i(es. The Group does  not hedge i ts  loans  and advances  to customers  given these assets  are expected to
reprice within a  short time frame.
 
Refer to note 39 for further detai ls  on the Group's  interest rate risk management.
 
The swap incep(on adjustment relates  to hedge accoun(ng adjustments  aris ing when hedge accoun(ng commences,
primari ly on derivative instruments  previous ly taken out against new hedged l iabi l i ties .
 
At present, the Group expects  i ts  hedging rela(onships  to be highly effec(ve as  the Group hedges  only fixed term deposit
accounts  and subordinated l iabi l i(es  for which the fa ir value movements  between the hedged i tem and hedging instrument
are expected to be highly correlated. Further, the Group does  not an(cipate having to rebalance the rela(onship once
entered into due to the contractual  terms of these financial  l iabi l i(es. I n the year ended 31 December 2024, there has  been
no cancel led or de-des ignated hedge relationships  due to fa i led hedge accounting relationships .
 
The tables  below analyse the Group's  portfol io hedge accounting for fixed rate amounts  owed to retai l  depositors :
 
 

2024 2023

 
Hedged

item
Hedging

instrument
Hedged

item
Hedging

instrument
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Customer deposits :
Carrying amount of hedged i tem/nominal  value of hedging
instrument

              
15,167

              
15,000

                
150,639

            
145,000

Cumulative fa ir value adjustments  of hedged i tem/fair value of
hedging instrument

                  
(136)

                   
148

                       
(424)

                     
(28)

Changes  in the fa ir value adjustment of hedged i tem/hedging
instrument used for recognis ing the hedge ineffectiveness  for
the period

                  
(251)

                    
(56)

                       
(542)

                    
133

 
 
I n the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i(on, £295,000 (2023: £537,000) of hedging instruments  were recognised
within derivative assets ; and £6,000 (2023: £565,000) within derivative l iabi l i ties .
 
 
24.  Trade and other receivables
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Trade receivables                        3,316                           3,965
Impairment a l lowance                         (216)                            (259)

                        3,100                           3,706
 

Other debtors                           528                              452
Accrued income                                 -                                    -
Prepayments                        1,050                           1,177

                        1,578                           1,629
 

Total trade and other receivables                        4,678                           5,335
 
 
Al l  trade receivables  are due within one year, refer to note 39 for the expected maturi ty profi le.
 
The trade receivable balances  are assessed for expected credit losses  (EC L) under the 's impl ified approach', which requires
the Group to assess  a l l  balances  for l i fetime ECLs  and is  not required to assess  s igni ficant increases  in credit risk.
 
Ageing analys is  of trade receivables:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Not in default:
Not yet past due                        3,125                           3,513
Past due: 1 - 30 days                             45                                21
Past due: 31 - 60 days                                5                              176
Past due: 61 - 90 days                                8                                12
Past due: 90+ days                                 -                                   1

                        3,183                           3,723
Defaulted:
Not yet past due and past due 1 - 90 days                             94                                65
Past due 90+ days                             39                              177

                           133                              242
 



 
Total trade receivables                        3,316                           3,965
 
Analys is  of movement of impairment losses  on trade receivables:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January                           259                              101
Amounts  written off                         (223)                                 (8)
Amounts  recovered                                 -                                    -
Change in loss  a l lowance due to new trade and other
receivables  originated net of those derecognised due to
settlement                           180                              166
At 31 December                           216                              259
 
 
25.  Current taxation asset
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January                           55                               55
Repayments                         (55)                               -
At 31 December                              -                               55
 
 
 
26.  Current taxation liability
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January                              (73)                                  -
Charge to profi t and loss  account                    (1,925)                             (73)
Payments                         736                                  -
Adjustments  in respect of prior years                             3
At 31 December                    (1,259)                             (73)
 
 
Refer to note 27 for further detai ls  of the deferred taxation asset.
 
 
27.  Deferred taxation asset
 
Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i(es  are recognised on temporary differences  between the carrying amounts  of assets  and
l iabi l i(es  in the balance sheet and the amounts  aKributed to such assets  and l iabi l i(es  for tax purposes. Deferred tax
l iabi l i(es  are general ly recognised for a l l  taxable temporary differences  and deferred tax assets  are recognised to the
extent i t i s  probable that future taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable against which deduc(ble temporary differences  can be
u(l ised. Deferred tax is  determined us ing tax rates  and legis la(on in force at the balance sheet date and is  expected to
apply when the deferred tax asset i s  real ised, or the deferred tax l iabi l i ty i s  settled.
 
 
The table below shows the movement in net deferred tax assets :
 
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January                     7,111                         8,457
Charge to profi t and loss  account                    (3,135)                       (1,346)
Adjustments  in respect of prior years                             4                                  -
At 31 December                     3,980                         7,111
 
 
See below for an analys is  of the deferred taxation asset balance:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Losses                  4,232                  7,402
Short term timing di fferences                         8                         8
Fixed assets (260)                                     (299)
Deferred taxation asset                  3,980                  7,111
 
The Group has  recognised a deferred tax asset in rela(on to tax losses  carried forward of £17m, short term (ming
difference of £30,000, and a deferred tax l iabi l i ty in relation to tangible fixed assets  di fferences  of £1m.
 
The Group has  an unrecognised deferred tax asset value of £0.7m (2023: £0.7m).
 
 
28.  Loans and advances to banks



2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Unencumbered:
Included in cash and cash equivalents : balances  with
less  than three months  to maturi ty at inception
Encumbered:

                       1,764                         1,315

Cash col lateral  on derivatives  placed with banks                        2,007                         2,160
Total loans and advances to banks                        3,771                         3,475
 
 
 
29.  Notes to the cash flow statement
 
See below for reconci l ia(on of balances  class ified as  cash and cash equivalents , which are recognised within the
consol idated cash flow statement:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Cash and balances  at central  banks          110,030             89,552
Loans and advances  to banks              1,764                1,315
Euro l iquidity fund                  769 -
Total cash and cash equivalents          112,563             90,867
 
 
 
 
Adjustments  for non-cash i tems and other adjustments  included in the income statement:
 
 
 
 2024 2023

Note £'000 £'000

 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 444                                 318

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 18 197                                 180

Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment 17 5 -

Amortisation of intangible assets 19 285                                 376

Loss  on disposal  of intangible assets 19 6 -

Loss  on lease modification 30 -

Share based payments 10 985                                 905

Impairment a l lowances  on receivables 14  (241)                           11,598

Movement in other provis ions 13 50                                 (15)

Dividend income on money market funds 21 (28) -

Interest income on investment securi ties 21  (243)                               (521)

Finance costs 12 103                                   76

Unwind of discount 13 6                                     5

Interest on subordinated l iabi l i ties 6 1,272                                 269

Amortisation of subordinated l iabi l i ties  acquis i tion costs 29 10                                     3

Movement in effective interest rate adjustment    20 941                               (194)
Total non-cash items and other adjustments  3,822                           13,000
 
 
Net change in operating assets :

2024 2023
  £'000 £'000
 

Increase in loans  and advances  to customers  (93,048)  (141,648)
Derivative financial  instruments  241  (480)
Decrease in other assets  417  (7,328)
Increase in operating assets   (92,390)  (149,456)
 
 
Net change in operating l iabi l i ties :
 

2024 2023
  £'000 £'000
 

Increase in customer deposits 75,043 94,886
Derivative financial  instruments  (559) 522
Fair value adjustments  for portfol io hedged risk  (288) 508
Increase in other l iabi l i ties 5,180 (1,745)
Increase in operating liabilities  79,376 94,171
 
 
Changes  in l iabi l i ties  aris ing from financing activi ties :
 



 
The table below detai ls  changes  in the Group's  l iabi l i(es  aris ing from financing ac(vi(es, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabi l i(es  aris ing from financing ac(vi(es  are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows wi l l  be,
class i fied in the Group's  consol idated cash flow statement as  cash flows from financing activi ties .
 

2024 2023

 
Lease

liabilities
Subordinated

Liabilities
Own

Shares  
Lease

liabilities
Subordinated

Liabilities
Own

Shares  

(see note
34) (see note 37)

(See
note

32) Total
(see note

34) (see note 37)
(See note

32) Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 

At 1 January
            
1,205             10,221  (401) 11,025 395 -  (364) 31

   

Financing cash
flows:  
Recognition of
subordinated
l iabi l i ties

                     
-                         - - - -

             
10,000 - 10,000

Subordinated
l iabi l i ties
acquis i tion costs

                     
-                         - - - -  (51) -  (51)

Interest payments  (252)
            

(1,273) -  (1,525)  (227)
                        

- - (227)
Purchase of own
shares

                     
-                         -  (142)  (142) -

                        
-

                   
(67)  (67)

  
Non-cash
movements:   
Interest expense
on subordinated
l iabi l i ties

                     
-                1,272 - 1,272 -

                  
269 - 269

Amortisation of
subordinated
l iabi l i ties
acquis i tion costs

                     
-                     10 - 10 -

                       
3 - 3

Recognition of
lease l iabi l i ties

                     
-                         - - - 365

                        
- - 365

Interest expense
on lease
l iabi l i ties

                
103                         - - 103 76

                        
- - 76

Lease
modification  (966)                         - -  (966) 596

                        
- - 596

Settlement of
employee share
awards

                     
-                         - 103 103 -

                        
- 30 30

At 31 December 90             10,230  (440) 9,880 1,205
             
10,221  (401) 11,025

 
 
 
 
 
30.  Investment in subsidiaries
 

Subsidiary
Principal
activity Shareholding %

Class of
shareholding

Country of
incorporation Registered address

 
DF Capital  Bank
Limited

Financial
Services 100% Ordinary UK

St James' Bui lding, 61-95 Oxford
St, Manchester, M1 6EJ

DF Capital
Financial  Solutions
Limited
 

Financial
Services
 

100%
 

Ordinary
 

UK
 

St James' Bui lding, 61-95 Oxford
St, Manchester, M1 6EJ
 

DF Capital  Retai l
Finance Limited

Financial
Services 100% Ordinary UK

St James' Bui lding, 61-95 Oxford
St, Manchester, M1 6EJ

 
 
 
 
 
31.  Equity

2024 2023 2024 2023
 No. No. £'000 £'000
 

Authorised:  
Ordinary shares  of 1p each    179,369,199    179,369,199   1,793   1,793
Al lotted, i ssued and ful ly paid: Ordinary shares  of 1p
each    179,369,199    179,369,199   1,793   1,793
 
 



 
Analys is  of the movements  in equity:
 
The below table detai ls  equity movements  within the share capital , share premium and merger rel ief accounts  during the
years  ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:
 

Date No. of shares Issue Price
Share

Capital
Share

Premium
Merger

Relief Total
  # £ £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Balance at 1 January
2023  

      
179,369,199  

            
1,793

     
39,273

    
94,911

    
135,977

 
Share premium
account cancel lation

29-Jun-
23

                            
-

                        
-

                     
-

    
(39,273)

               
-

     
(39,273)

Balance at 31
December 2023  179,369,199 - 1,793 - 94,911 96,704
No movements  in the
year

                            
-

                        
-

                     
-

                 
-

               
-

                  
-

Balance at 31
December 2024  179,369,199  1,793 - 94,911 96,704

 
32.  Own shares
 
At 31 December 2024 the Group's  Employee Benefit Trust held 2,677,998 (2023: 2,926,617) ordinary shares  in Distribu(on
Finance Capital  Holdings  plc to meet obl iga(ons under the Company's  share and share op(on plans. The shares  are stated
at cost and their market value at 31 December 2024 was £990,859 (2023: £658,489).
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January                  (401)                    (364)
Acquis i tion of shares                  (142)                      (67)
Settlement of employee share awards                    103                        30
At 31 December                  (440)                    (401)
 
 
33.  Merger reserve
 
There were no movements  rela(ng to the merger reserve account during years  ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.
 
 
34.  Lease liabilities

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January                          1,205                               395
Ini tia l  recognition                                   -                               365
Interest expense                              103                                 76
Lease payments                            (252)                             (227)
Lease modification                            (966)                               596
At 31 December                                90                            1,205
 
 
During the year, the Group agreed to enact the contractual  break clause which wi l l  terminate the lease in August 2025. This
resulted in a  lease modifica(on which reduced the lease l iabi l i ty by £966,000, predominantly due to a  s ignificant
reduction in future lease payments
 
The Group does  not face a  s ignificant l iquidity risk with regard to i ts  lease l iabi l i(es. Lease l iabi l i(es  are monitored within
the Group's  treasury function.
 
Al l  lease obl igations  are denominated in currency units .
 
The maturi ty analys is  of lease l iabi l i ties  i s  as  fol lows:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

Analysed as :
Current                                90                               148
Non-Current                                   -                            1,057
Total lease liabilities                                90                            1,205

 
Maturity analys is  of expected lease payments:
Year 1                              109                               253
Year 2                                   -                               252
Year 3                                   -                               252
Year 4                                   -                               253
Year 5                                   -                               252
Onwards                                   -                               360
Total expected lease payments                              109                            1,622



Total expected lease payments                              109                            1,622
 

Less: unearned interest  (19)                               (417)

Total lease liabilities                          90                              1,205
 
 
35.  Customer deposits

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Customer deposits                          649,665                       574,622
Total customer deposits                          649,665                       574,622
 
Amounts  repayable within one year                          513,226                       512,168
Amounts  repayable after one year                          136,439                         62,454

                          649,665                       574,622
 
 
Refer to note 39 for the maturi ty profi le of the customer deposit balances.
 
 
 
36.  Financial liabilities
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Lease l iabi l i ties                 90                     1,205
Preference Shares                    -                           50
Total financial liabilities                 90                     1,255
 
 
Lease l iabi l i ties :
 
See note 34 for further detai ls  on the lease l iabi l i ties  of the Group.
 
 
Preference shares:
 
I n Apri l  2019, a  sole member decis ion was granted the al loca(on of 50,000 non-vo(ng paid up redeemable preference
shares  of £1.00 each. The preference shares  had no aKached interest rate, dividends or return on capital . These preference
shares  were deemed as  paid in ful l  with the Director undertaking to pay the cons idera(on of the preference shares  by 1
Apri l  2024. The preference shares  were redeemed in ful l  in March 2024.
 
The maturi ty profi le of the financial  l iabi l i ties  are as  fol lows:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Current l iabi l i ties                 90                         148
Non-current l iabi l i ties                    -                     1,107
Total financial liabilities                 90                     1,255
 
Refer to note 39 for changes  in financial  l iabi l i(es  balances  during the year, including both cash and non-cash changes, as
class i fied within the Group's  consol idated cash flow statement under cash flows from financing activi ties .
 
 
 
37.  Subordinated liabilities
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Tier 2 notes                           10,000                           10,000
Accrued interest                                 268                                 269
Deferred acquis i tion costs                                 (38)                                 (48)
Total subordinated liabilities                           10,230                           10,221
 
 
Refer to note 39 for the maturi ty profi le of the subordinated l iabi l i ties .
 
 
 
38.  Trade and other payables
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Current liabilities  
Trade payables                                 524                               528
Social  securi ty and other taxes                                   62                               132
Other creditors                             4,165                               875
Pension contributions                                   77                                  71



Pension contributions                                   77                                  71
Accruals                             4,427                            2,621
Total current liabilities                           9,255                            4,227
 
Non-current liabilities  
Social  securi ty and other taxes                                   80                                  70
Total non-current liabilities                                   80                                  70
 
Total trade and other payables                           9,335                            4,297
 
Refer to note 39 for the maturi ty profi le of the trade payables .
 
 
39.  Financial instruments
 
The Directors  have performed an assessment of the risks  affec(ng the Group through i ts  use of financial  instruments  and
bel ieve the principal  risks  to be: Treasury (covering capital  management, l iquidity and interest rate risk); and Credit risk.
 
This  note describes  the Group's  objec(ves, pol icies  and processes  for managing the materia l  ri sks  and the methods used to
measure them. The s igni ficant accounting pol icies  regarding financial  instruments  are disclosed in note 2.
 
Capital  management
 
The Group manages  i ts  capital  to ensure that i t wi l l  be able to con(nue as  a  going concern whi le providing an adequate
return to shareholders .
 
The capital  s tructure of the Group cons ists  of equity (compris ing issued capital , merger rel ief, reserves, own shares  and
retained earnings  - see notes  31 to 33) and subordinated l iabi l i ties  (see note 37).
 
As  a  regulated banking Group, the Group is  required by the P ruden(al  Regula(on Authori ty (P R A) to hold sufficient
regulatory capital . The Group is  required by the P R A to conduct an I nternal  Capital  Adequacy Assessment P rocess  ("I C AAP ")
to assess  the appropriate amount of regulatory capital  to be held by the Group as  a  measure of i ts  risk weighted assets
("RWAs"), in accordance with the Group's  risk management framework. The I C AAP  iden(fies al l  key risks  to the Bank and
how the Group manages  these risks . The document outl ines  the capital  resources  of the Group, i ts  perceived capital
requirements , and capital  adequacy over a  3-year period. W ithin this  process  the Group conducts  a  stress  tes(ng process
to iden(fy key risks , the poten(al  capital  requirements  and whether the Group has  sufficient capital  buffers  to sustain
such events . The Group uses  the Standardised Approach (SA) for calcula(ng the capital  requirements  for credit risk, and
Counterparty Credit Risk (SA-C C R) and the Bas ic I ndicator Approach (B I A) for opera(onal  risk. The I C AAP  is  approved by the
Group Board at least annual ly.
 
The regulatory capital  resources  of the Group were as  fol lows (unaudited):

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
CET1 capital : instruments  and reserves  
Cal led up share capital           1,793           1,793
Share premium accounts                    -                    -
Retained earnings  account        39,624        24,537
Accumulated other comprehensive income & other reserves        73,937        74,084
CET1 capital before regulatory adjustments      115,354      100,414

 
CET1 capital : regulatory adjustments  
Intangible assets            (950)            (618)
Investment in own shares         (1,549)         (2,120)
Prudent valuation adjustment                    -               (15)
Deferred tax asset         (3,980)         (7,111)
Exposure amount qual i fying for a  RW of 1250%       (10,095)       (11,281)
CET1 capital        98,780        79,269

 
Tier 1 capital        98,780        79,269

 
Tier 2 capital        10,230        10,269

 
Total regulatory capital      109,010        89,538
This table is not subject to audit.
 
The return on assets  of the Group (calculated as  profit a/er taxa(on divided by average total  assets) was  1.96% (2023:
0.49%).
 
I nforma(on disclosure under P i l lar 3 of the Capital  Requirements  Direc(ve is  publ ished on the Group's  website at
www.dfcapital -investors .com
 
Principal  financial  instruments
 
The principal  financial  instruments  to which the Group is  party, and from which financial  instrument risk arises , are as
fol lows:
 

·      Cash and balances  at central  banks, which are cons idered risk free;

·      Loans  and advances  to banks, which can be a source of credit risk but are primari ly l iquid assets  avai lable to
further bus iness  objectives  or to settle l iabi l i ties  as  necessary;

·      Loans  and advances  to customers, primari ly credit risk, interest rate risk, and l iquidity risk;

·      Investment securi ties , source of interest rate risk;

http://www.dfcapital-investors.com


·      Investment securi ties , source of interest rate risk;

·      Derivative instruments , credit and l iquidity risk;

·      Customer deposits , primari ly interest rate risk and l iquidity risk;

·      Subordinated l iabi l i ties , primari ly interest rate risk and l iquidity risk;

·      Trade receivables , primari ly credit risk and l iquidity risk;

·      Trade and other payables , primari ly credit risk and l iquidity risk;

 
Summary of financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties :
 
Below is  a  summary of the financial  assets  and l iabi l i(es  held on the Group's  statement of financial  pos i(on at the
reporting dates . These values  are reflected at their carrying amounts  at the respective reporting date:
 
 

Amortised cost

Fair value through
other

comprehensive
income

Fair value
through profit or

loss Total
31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Financial  assets :
Cash and balances  at central
banks               110,030                                 -                              -               110,030
Loans and advances  to banks                    3,771                                 -                              -                    3,771
Investment securi ties 769                           -                              -                       769
Derivative assets                             -                                 -                         295                       295
Loans and advances  to customers               660,772                                 -                              -               660,772
Trade receivables                    3,100                                 -                              -                    3,100
Other receivables                       528                                 -                              -                       528
Total financial assets               778,970                                 -                         295               779,265

 
31 December 2024     

 
Financial  l iabi l i ties :
Customer deposits               649,665                                 -                              -               649,665
Derivative l iabi l i ties                             -                                 -                             6                            6
Other financial  l iabi l i ties                          90                                 -                              -                         90
Subordinated l iabi l i ties                  10,230                                 -                              -                 10,230
Trade payables                       524                                 -                              -                       524
Other payables                    4,384                                 -                              -                    4,384
Preference shares                             -                                 -                              -                             -
Total financial liabilities               664,893                                 -                             6               664,899
 
 
 

Amortised cost

Fair value through
other

comprehensive
income

Fair value
through profit

or loss Total
31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Financial  assets :  
Cash and balances  at central  banks                  89,552                                 - - 89,552
Loans and advances  to banks                    3,475                                 - - 3,475
Investment securi ties                             -                      14,839 - 14,839
Derivative assets                             -                                 - 537 537
Loans and advances  to customers               568,044                                 - - 568,044
Trade receivables                    3,706                                 - - 3,706
Other receivables                       452                                 - - 452
Total financial assets               665,229                      14,839 537 680,605

 
31 December 2023     

 
Financial  l iabi l i ties :  
Customer deposits               574,622                                 - - 574,622
Derivative l iabi l i ties                             -                                 - 565 565
Other financial  l iabi l i ties                    1,205                                 - - 1,205
Subordinated l iabi l i ties                  10,221                                 - - 10,221
Trade payables                       528                                 - - 528
Other payables                    1,148                                 - - 1,148
Preference shares                          50                                 - - 50
Total financial liabilities               587,774                                 - 565 588,339
 
 
Analys is  of financial  instruments  by valuation model
 
The Group measures  fa i r values  us ing the fol lowing hierarchy of methods:

·      Level  1 - Quoted market price in an active market for an identical  instrument



·      Level  2 - Valua(on techniques  based on observable inputs . This  category includes  instruments  valued us ing
quoted market prices  in ac(ve markets  for s imi lar instruments , quoted prices  for s imi lar instruments  that are
considered less  than ac(ve, or other valua(on techniques  where al l  s ignificant inputs  are directly or indirectly
observable from market data

·      Level  3 - Inputs  for the assets  or l iabi l i ties  that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 

Financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  that are not measured at fa i r value:

Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Financial  assets  not measured at fa i r value:
Cash and balances  at central  banks 110,030 110,030 110,030 - -
Loans  and advances  to banks 3,771 3,771 3,771 - -
Investment securi ties 769 769 769 - -
Loans  and advances  to customers 660,772 660,772 - - 660,772
Trade receivables 3,100 3,100 - - 3,100
Other receivables 528 528 - - 528
 778,970 778,970 114,570 - 664,400

 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  not measured at fa i r value:
Customer deposits 649,665 650,736 - - 650,736
Other financial  l iabi l i ties 90 90 - - 90
Subordinated l iabi l i ties 10,230 10,567 - 10,567 -
Trade payables 524 524 - - 524
Other payables 4,384 4,384 - - 4,384
 664,893 666,301 - 10,567 655,734
 

Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Financial  assets  not  
measured at fa i r value:  
Cash and balances  at central
banks   89,552   89,552  89,552   -   -
Loans  and advances  to banks   3,475  3,475   3,475   -     -
Loans  and advances  to customers  568,044  568,044   -    -  568,044
Trade receivables   3,706   3,706   -   -  3,706
Other receivables   452   452   -    -   452
   665,229  665,229  93,027     -   572,202

 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  not  
measured at fa i r value:  
Customer deposits  574,622   574,177   -   -  574,177
Other financial  l iabi l i ties   1,205   1,205     -   -    1,205
Subordinated l iabi l i ties  10,221 10,742    - 10,742   -
Trade payables   528   528  -   -    528
Other payables   1,148    1,148  -  -  1,148
Preference shares    50   50   -   -     50
  587,774  587,850    -     10,742    577,108
 
W here assets  and l iabi l i(es  are not measured at fa i r value, the Group has  calculated their fa i r values  at the repor(ng date
as  fol lows:
 
Cash and balances at central banks
 
This  represents  cash held at central  banks  where fa ir value is  cons idered to be equal  to carrying value.
 
Loans and advances to banks
 
This  mainly represents  the Group's  working capital  current accounts  with other banks  with an original  maturi ty of less
than three months. Fair value is  not cons idered to be materia l ly di fferent to carrying value.
 
Investment securities
 
The investment securi(es  carried at amor(sed cost represent the Groups investment in a  money market fund. Due to the
short-term nature of the underlying investments  which are held to maturi ty, the fund has  never deviated from par value. The
carrying value is  therefore cons idered to be approximately equal  to the fa ir value.
 
Loans and advances to customers
 
Due to the short-term nature of loans  and advances  to customers, their carrying value is  cons idered to be approximately
equal  to their fa i r value. These i tems are short term in nature such that the impact of the choice of discount rate would not
make a materia l  di fference to the calculations.
 
Customer deposits
 



 
The fa ir value of fixed rate customer deposits  has  been es(mated by discoun(ng future cash flows at current market rates
of interest. Customer deposits  at variable rates  and deposits  payable on demand are cons idered to be at current market
rates  and as  such fa ir value is  estimated to be equal  to carrying value.
 
Subordinated liabilities
 
The fa ir value of the subordinated l iabi l i(es  is  es(mated by discoun(ng the expected cashflows us ing an interest rate for
s imi lar l iabi l i ties  with the same remaining maturi ty rate and credit profi le.
 
Trade and other receivables, other borrowings and other liabilities
 
These represent short-term receivables  and payables  and as  such their carrying value is  cons idered to be equal  to their fa i r
value.
 
Financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  included in the statement of financial  pos ition that are measured at fa i r value:
 
 

Carrying
amount Principal amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Financial  assets  measured at fa i r value:
Investment securi ties - - - - -
Derivative assets 295 10,000 - 295 -
 295 10,000 - 295 -

 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  measured at fa i r value:
Derivative l iabi l i ties  6 5,000    -  6      -
   6   5,000     -   6     -
 
 

Carrying
amount

Principal
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Financial  assets  
measured at fa i r value:  
Investment securi ties 14,839 15,000 14,839 -                      -
Derivative assets 537 45,000 - 537                      -
 15,376 60,000 14,839 537                      -

 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  
measured at fa i r value:  
Derivative l iabi l i ties 565 100,000                       - 565                     -
 565               100,000                       - 565                     -
 
Investment securities
 
The investment securi(es  carried at fa i r value by the Company are treasury bi l l s  and government gi l ts . Treasury bi l l s  and
government gi l ts  are traded in active markets  and fa ir values  are based on quoted market prices . 
 
There were no transfers  between levels  during the periods, a l l  investment securi(es  have been measured at level  1 from
acquis i tion.
 
Derivatives
 
Derivative instruments  fa i r values  are provided by a  third party and are based on the market values  of s imi lar financial
instruments . The fa ir value of investment securi ties  held at FVTPL is  measured us ing a  discounted cash flow model .
 
Financial  ri sk management
 
The Group's  activi ties  and the existence of the above financial  instruments  expose i t to a  variety of financial  ri sks .
 
The Board has  overal l  responsibi l i ty for the determina(on of the Group's  risk management objec(ves  and pol icies . The
overal l  objec(ve of the Board is  to set pol icies  that seek to reduce ongoing risk as  far as  poss ible without unduly affec(ng
the Group's  competitiveness  and flexibi l i ty. 
 
The Group is  exposed to the fol lowing financial  ri sks :
 

·      Credit risk

·      Liquidity risk

·      Interest rate risk

 

Further detai ls  regarding these pol icies  are set out below.
 
Credit risk
 
Credit risk i s  the risk that a  customer or counterparty wi l l  default on i ts  contractual  obl iga(ons resul(ng in financial  loss
to the Group. O ne of the Group's  main income genera(ng ac(vi(es  is  lending to customers  and therefore credit risk i s  a
principal  risk.  Credit risk mainly arises  from loans  and advances  to customers.  The Group cons iders  a l l  elements  of credit



principal  risk.  Credit risk mainly arises  from loans  and advances  to customers.  The Group cons iders  a l l  elements  of credit
risk exposure such as  counterparty default risk, geographical  risk and sector risk for risk management purposes.
 
Credit risk management

The Group has  a  dedicated credit risk func(on, which is  responsible for individual  credit assessment, porRol io
management, asset monitoring, col lections  and recoveries .  Furthermore, i t manages  the Group's  credit risk by:
 

·      Ensuring that the Group has  appropriate credit risk practices , including an effective system of internal  control ;

·      I den(fying, assess ing and measuring credit risks  across  the Group from an individual  instrument to a  porRol io
level ;

·      Crea(ng relevant pol icies  to protect the Group against the iden(fied risks  including the requirements  to obtain
col lateral  from borrowers , to perform robust ongoing credit assessment of borrowers  and to con(nual ly monitor
exposures  against internal  risk l imits ;

·      Limiting concentrations  of exposure by type of asset, counterparty, industry, credit rating, geographic location;

·      Establ ishing a  robust control  framework regarding the authorisa(on structure for the approval  and renewal  of
credit faci l i ties ;

·      Establ ished practises  to identi fy and manage risks  within the portfol io;

·      Developing and maintaining the Group's  risk grading to categorise exposures  according to the degree of risk
default. Risk grades  are subject to regular reviews; and

·      Developing and maintaining the Group's  processes  for measuring Expected Credit Loss  (EC L) including monitoring
of credit risk, incorporation of forward-looking information and the method used to measure ECL.

 
Signi ficant increase in credit risk
 
The Group con(nuously monitors  a l l  assets  subject to Expected Credit Loss  as  to whether there has  been a s ignificant
increase in credit risk s ince ini(al  recogni(on, ei ther through a s ignificant increase in P robabi l i ty of Default ("P D") or in
Loss  Given Default ("LGD").
 
The fol lowing is  based on the procedures  adopted by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023:
 
Granting of credit
The commercial  team prepare a  Credit Appl ica(on which sets  out the ra(onale and the pricing for the proposed loan
faci l i ty, and confirms that i t meets  the Group's  product, manufacturer programme and pricing pol icies . The Appl ication wi l l
include the proposed counterparty's  latest financial  information and any other relevant information but as  a  minimum:
 

·      Detai ls  of the l imit requirement e.g. product, amount, tenor, repayment plan etc;
·      Faci l i ty purpose or reason for increase;
·      Counterparty detai ls , background, management, financials  and ratios  (actuals  and forecast);
·      Key risks  and mitigants  for the appl ication;
·      Conditions, covenants  & information (and monitoring proposals) and securi ty (including comments  on valuation);
·      Pricing;
·      Confirmation that the proposed exposure fa l ls  within risk appeti te;
·      Clear indication where the appl ication fa l ls  outs ide of risk appeti te.

 
Other information which can be cons idered includes  (where necessary and avai lable):
·      Existing counterparty which has  met a l l  obl igations  in time and in accordance with loan agreements;

·      Counterparty known to credit personnel  who can confirm pos itive experience;

·      Additional  securi ty, ei ther tangible or personal  guarantees  where there is  veri fiable evidence of personal  net worth;

·      A commercial  ra(onale for approving the appl ica(on, a l though this  mi(gant wi l l  general ly be in addi(on to at least
one of the other mitigants .      

The credit risk func(on wi l l  analyse the financial  informa(on, obtain reports  from a credit reference agency, a l locate a
risk ra(ng, and make a decis ion on the appl ica(on. The process  may require further dia logue with the Bus iness
Development Team to ascertain additional  information or clari fication.
 
Each mandate holder is  authorised to approve loans  up to agreed financial  l imits  and provided that the risk ra(ng of the
counterparty is  within agreed parameters . I f the financial  l imit requested is  higher than the credit authori ty of the first
reviewer of the loan faci l i ty request, the appl ication is  sent to the next credit authori ty level  with a  recommendation.
 
Transac(onal  Credit CommiKee cons iders  a l l  appl ica(ons that are outs ide the credit approval  mandate of the Director -
Credit due to the financial  l imit requested. There is  an agreed further escala(on to the Board Risk CommiKee for the largest
transactions  which fa l l  outs ide of the Transactional  Credit Committee.
 
Identifying significant increases in credit risk
The short tenor of the current loan faci l i(es  reduces  the poss ible adverse effect of changes  in economic condi(ons and/or
the credit risk profi le of the counterparty.
 
The Group nonetheless  measures  a  change in a  counterparty's  credit risk mainly on payment performance and end of
contract repayment behaviour. The regular col lateral  audit process  and interim reviews may highl ight other changes  in a
counterparty's  risk profile, such as  the securi ty asset no longer being under the control  of the borrower.  The Group views a
s igni ficant increase in credit risk as :

·      A two-notch reduc(on in the Company's  counterparty's  risk ra(ng, as  no(fied through the credit ra(ng agency
alert system;

·      a presump(on that an account which is  more than 30 days  past due has  suffered a s ignificant increase in credit
risk. I F RS 9 a l lows this  presump(on to be rebuKed, but the Group bel ieves  that more than 30 days  past due to be
an appropriate back stop measure and therefore has  not rebutted the presumption;



an appropriate back stop measure and therefore has  not rebutted the presumption;
·      A counterparty defaults  on a payment due under a  loan agreement;
·      Late contractual  payments  which al though cured, re-occur on a regular bas is ;
·      Counterparty confi rmation that i t has  sold Group financed assets  but delays  in process ing payments;
·      Evidence of a  reduc(on in a  counterparty's  working capital  faci l i(es  which has  had an adverse effect on i ts

l iquidity;
·      Evidence of actual  or attempted sales  out of trust or of double financing, of assets  funded by the Group.

 
An increase in s igni ficant credit risk i s  identi fied when any of the above events  happen after the date of ini tia l  recognition.
 
Identifying loans and advances in default and credit impaired
The Group's  defini tion of default for this  purpose is :

·      A counterparty defaults  on a payment due under a  loan agreement and that payment is  more than 90 days  overdue;

·      A counterparty commits  an event of default under the terms and condi(ons of the loan agreement which leads  the
lending company to bel ieve that the borrower's  abi l i ty to meet i ts  credit obl iga(ons to the lending company is  in
doubt; or

·      The Group is  made aware of a  severe deteriora(on of the credit profile of the customer which is  l ikely to impede
the customers ' abi l i ty to satis fy future payment obl igations.

I n the normal  course of economic cycl ical i ty, the short tenor of the loans  extended by the Group means that s ignificant
economic events  are unl ikely to influence counterparties ' abi l i ty to meet their obl igations  to the Group.
 
Exposure at default (EAD)
Exposure at default ("EAD") i s  the expected loan balance at the point of default. W here a receivable is  not class ified as
being in default at the repor(ng date, the Group have included reasonable assump(ons to add unaccrued interest and fees
up to the receivable becoming 91 days  past due, which is  cons idered to be the point of default.
 
Expected credit losses  (ECL)
The EC L on an individual  loan is  based on the credit losses  expected to arise over the l i fe of the loan, being defined as  the
difference between al l  the contractual  cash flows that are due to the Group and the cash flows that i t expects  to receive. 
This  difference is  then discounted at the original  effec(ve interest rate on the loan to reflect the disposal  period of such
assets  underlying the original  contract.

Regardless  of the loan status  stage, the aggregated EC L is  the value that the Group expects  to lose on i ts  current loan book
having assessed each loan individual ly.

To calculate the ECL on a loan, the Group considers :
1.     Counterparty PD; and
2.     LGD on the asset

 
whereby: ECL = EAD x PD x LGD
 
Forward looking information
I n i ts  EC L models , the Group appl ies  sens i(vity analys is  of forward-looking economic inputs . W hen formula(ng the
economic scenarios , the Group cons iders  both macro-economic factors  and other specific drivers  which may trigger a
certain stress  scenario. The impact of movements  in these macro-economic factors  are assessed on a 12-month bas is
from the reporting date (31 December).
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Loans  and advances  to banks                    3,771                        3,475
Derivative assets                       295                           537
Loans and advances  to customers               660,772                   568,044
Trade and other receivables                    3,627                        4,158
               668,465                   576,214
 
Col lateral  held as  securi ty:

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Ful ly col lateral ised:
Loan-to-value* ratio:
Less  than 50%                   15,539                         14,261
51% to 70%                   75,391                       56,482
71% to 80%                   120,027                       93,582
81% to 90%                 104,174                       108,833
91% to 100%                 305,906                     291,266
Total collateralised lending                 621,037                     564,424

 
Partially collateralised lending                              -                                  -

 
Unsecured lending                   48,739                         19,703
 
* Calculated us ing wholesale col lateral  values. W holesale col lateral  values  represent the invoice total  (including
appl icable VAT) from the invoice received from the suppl ier of the product. The wholesale amount is  less  than the
recommended retai l  price (RRP) of the product.
 
The Group's  lending ac(vi(es  are asset based so i t expects  that the majori ty of i ts  exposure is  secured by the col lateral
value of the asset that has  been funded under the loan agreement. The Group has  (tle to the col lateral  which is  funded
under loan agreements . The col lateral  includes  boats , motorcycles , recrea(onal  vehicles , caravans, l ight commercial
vehicles , industria l  and agricultural  equipment. The col lateral  has  low deprecia(on and is  not subject to rapid
technological  changes  or redundancy. There has  been no change in the Group's  assessment of col lateral  and i ts  underlying
value in the reporting period.



value in the reporting period.
 
The assets  are general ly in the counterparty's  possess ion, but this  i s  control led and managed by the asset audit process . 
The audit process  checks  on a periodic bas is  that the asset i s  in the counterparty's  possess ion and has  not been sold out of
trust or i s  otherwise not in the counterparty's  control .  The frequency of the audits  i s  ini(al ly determined by the risk ra(ng
assessed at the time that the borrowing faci l i ty i s  fi rst approved and is  assessed on an ongoing bas is .
 
Addi(onal  securi ty may also be taken to further secure the counterparty's  obl iga(ons and further mi(gate risk. Further to
this , in many cases, the Group i s  often granted, by the counterparty, an option to sel l -back the underlying col lateral .
 
Based on the Group's  current principal  products , the counterparty repays  i ts  obl iga(on under a  loan agreement with the
Group at or before the point that i t sel ls  the asset. I f the asset i s  not sold and the loan agreement reaches  maturi ty, the
counterparty is  required to pay the amount due under the loan agreement plus  any other amounts  due. I n the event that the
counterparty does  not pay on the due date, the Group's  customer management process  wi l l  maintain frequent contact with
the counterparty to establ ish the reason for the delay and agree a (mescale for payment. Senior Management wi l l  review
actions  on a regular bas is  to ensure that the Group's  pos ition is  not being prejudiced by delays .
 
In the event the Group determines  that payment wi l l  not be made voluntari ly, i t wi l l  enforce the terms of i ts  loan agreement
and recover the asset, ini(a(ng legal  proceedings  for del ivery, i f necessary. I f there is  a  shorRal l  between the net sales
proceeds from the sale of the asset and the counterparty's  obl igations  under the loan agreement, the shortfal l  i s  payable by
the counterparty on demand.  
 
As  at 31 December 2024, 92.7% of the loan portfol io was  ful ly col lateral ised (2023: 96.6%).
 
 
Concentration of credit risk

The Group maintains  pol icies  and procedures  to manage concentra(ons of credit at the counterparty level  and industry
level  to achieve a divers i fied loan portfol io.
 
The below table analyses  gross  carrying amount and impairment a l lowance by counterparty industry sector:
 

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
 £'000 Portfolio % £'000 Portfolio %

 
Gross  carrying amount:
Leisure:
Lodges  and hol iday homes 91,473 13.7% 148,441 25.4%
Motorhomes and caravans 207,948 31.0% 131,478 22.5%
Marine 72,120 10.8% 55,981 9.6%
Motorsport 35,264 5.3% 27,458 4.7%
Automotive 31,562 4.7% 8,366 1.4%

438,367 65.4% 371,724 63.6%
Commercial :
Transport 93,314 13.9% 130,982 22.4%
Industria l  equipment 33,128 4.9% 35,926 6.2%
Agricultural  equipment 24,720 3.7% 26,995 4.6%

151,162 22.6% 193,903 33.2%

Wholesale and receivables  funding 80,247 12.0% 18,500 3.2%
Total gross carrying amount 669,776 100% 584,127 100%

 

 £'000
ECL

coverage % £'000
ECL

coverage %
 

Impairment a l lowance:
Leisure:
Lodges  and hol iday homes (944) 1.0% (11,428) 7.7%
Motorhomes and caravans (1,439) 0.7% (454) 0.3%
Marine (342) 0.5% (773) 1.4%
Motorsport (387) 1.1% (312) 1.1%
Automotive (912) 2.9% (40) 0.5%

(4,024) 0.9% (13,007) 3.5%
 
Commercial :
 
Transport (330) 0.4% (563) 0.4%
Industria l  equipment (126) 0.4% (87) 0.2%
Agricultural  equipment (830) 3.4% (688) 2.5%

(1,286) 0.9% (1,338) 0.7%

Wholesale and receivables  funding (1,267) 1.6% (251) 1.4%
Total impairment allowance (6,577) 1.0% (14,596) 2.5%
 
 
Credit qual i ty
 
The Risk Ra(ng is  an internal  ra(ng system of counterparty credit risk whereby the Group wi l l  a l locate a  ra(ng from 1 to 9,
1 being the highest level  of credit qual i ty and 9 being the lowest level  of credit qual i ty. The Group uses  Experian Delphi
scores  to set Risk Ra(ngs  which in turn determine the probabi l i ty of default for each Counterparty. I n the majori ty of cases ,
the Experian Delphi  score wi l l  be used without management override adjustments . However, where the Delphi  score differs
from the Group's  assessment of credit risk and/or where a Delphi  score cannot be derived such as  in the case of sole
traders  or unincorporated partnerships , ei ther a  Delphi  score upl i/ or a  Delphi  score equivalent is  u(l ised to calculate
D FC's  internal  risk ra(ng. The Risk Ra(ng for each counterparty is  reviewed on an ongoing bas is  and recorded as  at the



D FC's  internal  risk ra(ng. The Risk Ra(ng for each counterparty is  reviewed on an ongoing bas is  and recorded as  at the
reporting date.
 
An analys is  of the Group's  credit risk exposure for loan and advances  to customers, internal  ra(ng and "stage" is  provided
in the fol lowing tables .  A descrip(on of the meanings  of Stages  1, 2 and 3 was  given in the accoun(ng pol icies  set out
above. See below table of gross  loan receivables  by Risk Rating and IFRS 9 stage al location:
 
 
 
 

 
31 December 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

 £'000
Portfolio

% £'000
Portfolio

% £'000 Portfolio % £'000 Portfolio %
 

Gross  carrying amount:
Above average (Risk rating 1-
2) 459,277 68.6% 13,996 2.1% 4,075 0.6% 477,348 71.3%
Average (Risk rating 3-5) 173,037 25.8% 2,092 0.3% 1,157 0.2% 176,286 26.3%
Below average (Risk rating 6+) 11,199 1.7% 2,396 0.4% 2,547 0.4% 16,142 2.4%
Total gross carrying amount 643,513 96.1% 18,484 2.8% 7,779 1.2% 669,776 100.0%

 

 £'000

ECL
coverage

% £'000

ECL
coverage

% £'000
ECL

coverage % £'000
ECL

coverage %
 

Impairment a l lowance:
Above average (Risk rating 1-
2)  (1,686) 0.4%  (89) 0.6%  (1,700) 41.7%  (3,475) 0.7%
Average (Risk rating 3-5)  (1,839) 1.1%  (11) 0.5%  (430) 37.1%  (2,280) 1.3%
Below average (Risk rating 6+)  (167) 1.5%  (66) 2.8%  (589) 23.1%  (822) 5.1%
Total impairment allowance  (3,692) 0.6%  (166) 0.9%  (2,719) 35.0%  (6,577) 1.0%

 
 

 
31 December 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

 £'000
Portfolio

% £'000
Portfolio

% £'000
Portfolio

% £'000 Portfolio %
 

Gross  carrying amount:
Above average (Risk rating 1-
2) 432,493 74.0%    - 0.0% 763 0.1% 433,256 74.2%
Average (Risk rating 3-5) 93,568 16.0% 17,729 3.0% 1,850 0.3% 113,147 19.4%
Below average (Risk rating 6+) 19,891 3.4% 3,323 0.6% 14,510 2.5% 37,724 6.5%
Total gross carrying amount 545,952 93.5% 21,052 3.6% 17,123 2.9% 584,127 100.0%

 

 £'000

ECL
coverage

% £'000

ECL
coverage

% £'000

ECL
coverage

% £'000
ECL

coverage %
 

Impairment a l lowance:
Above average (Risk rating 1-
2) (1,483) 0.3%  - 0.0% (526) 68.9% (2,009) 0.5%
Average (Risk rating 3-5)  (860) 0.9% (150) 0.8% (315) 17.0% (1,325) 1.2%
Below average (Risk rating 6+)  (179) 0.9%  (10) 0.3% (11,073) 76.3% (11,262) 29.9%
Total impairment allowance (2,522) 0.5% (160) 0.8% (11,914) 69.6% (14,596) 2.5%

 
 
 
See note 20 for analys is  of the movements  in gross  loan receivables  and impairment a l lowances  in terms of IFRS 9 staging.
 
Analys is  of credit qual i ty of trade receivables:
 
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Status  at balance sheet date:
Not past due, nor defaulted                        3,125                           3,513
Past due but not in default                             58                              210
Defaulted                           133                              242
Total gross carrying amount                        3,316                           3,965

 
Impairment a l lowance                         (216)                            (259)
Carrying amount                        3,100                           3,706
 
 
See note 24 for analys is  of the movements  in gross  trade receivables  and impairment a l lowances  in terms of IFRS 9 staging.
 
Financial  guarantee schemes
I n the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into financial  guarantee schemes which al low the Group to reduce
its  regulatory capital  requirements .
 



I n January 2023 the Group entered into the ENABLE guarantee scheme with the Bri(sh Bus iness  Bank for an ini(al  faci l i ty of
£175m, in August 2023 the faci l i ty s ize was  increased to £250m, and in July 2024 the faci l i ty s ize was  increased to i ts
maximum of £350m.  The Group has  cons idered the impact of the ENABLE guarantee scheme on i ts  expected credit losses
which has  been deemed to have an immateria l  net impact on the Group's  impairment a l lowances  given the recourse
cri teria  thresholds  on the scheme. The ENABLE guarantee is  a  mi(gant against s ignificant systemic, porRol io-level  loss
events  but is  very unl ikely to be drawn upon in the natural  course of bus iness .
 
I n December 2023, the Group entered into a  trade credit insurance pol icy covering a  por(on of the Group's  loan book
exposure in the case of default. Given the scheme s ize at the year-end i t i s  deemed to have an immateria l  net impact on the
Group's  impairment a l lowances.
 
Amounts  written off
The contractual  amount outstanding on financial  assets  that were wriKen off during the repor(ng period and are s(l l
subject to enforcement activi ty i s  £ni l  at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: £208,000).
 
Liquidity risk
 
Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the Group does  not have sufficient financial  resources  to meet i ts  obl iga(ons as  they fa l l  due
or wi l l  have to do so at an excess ive cost. This  risk arises  from mismatches  in the (ming of cash flows which is  inherent in
al l  finance operations  and can be affected by a  range of Group-speci fic and market-wide events .
 
Liquidity risk management
The Group has  in place a  pol icy and control  framework for managing l iquidity risk. The Group's  Asset and Liabi l i ty
Management CommiKee (ALCO ) is  responsible for managing the l iquidity risk via  a  combina(on of pol icy forma(on, review
and governance, analys is , s tress  tes(ng, l imit seUng and monitoring. The ALCO  meets  on a monthly bas is  to review the
l iquidity pos ition and risks .
 
The Bank has  a  comprehensive suite of l iquidity management processes  in place, which al low the Bank to monitor l iquidity
risk on a dai ly bas is . Dai ly l iquidity repor(ng is  supplemented by Early Warning I ndicators  and a Liquidity Con(ngency
Plan.
 
Liquidity stress testing
Stress  Tes(ng is  a  key risk management tool  for the Bank and is  used to inform the seUng of risk appe(te l imits  and
required buffers .
 
A range of l iquidity stress  scenarios  has  been conducted (as  detai led in the I nternal  Liquidity Adequacy Assessment
Process  "ILAAP" document), which demonstrates  that the Group's  l iquidity profi le i s  sufficient to withstand a severe stress .
 
Maturity analys is  for financial  assets : 
 
The fol lowing maturi ty analys is  i s  based on expected gross  cash flows:
 
 

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal

inflow
Less than 1

month
1 - 3

months
3 months to

1 year 1 - 5 years
>5

years
31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Cash and balances  at central
banks 110,030 110,030 110,030 -                      - - -
Loans  and advances  to banks 3,771 3,771 1,951 -                      - 1,820
Investment securi ties 769 769 769 -                      - - -
Derivative assets 295 295 - -                 141 154 -
Loans  and advances  to customers 660,772 666,484 120,052 169,333         293,082 83,417 600
Trade receivables 3,100 3,316 3,251 26                   39 - -
Other receivables 528 528 188 22                 217 1 100
 779,265 785,193 236,241 169,381         293,479 85,392 700

 
 

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal

inflow
Less than 1

month
1 - 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 - 5
years >5 years

31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Cash and balances  at central  banks  89,552   89,552  89,552    -      -   -    -

Loans  and advances  to banks  3,475  3,475  1,325   (49)   (173)  2,372
Investment securi ties  14,839  15,075    -   -  15,075    -  -
Derivative assets   537   537   -      -     7   530  -
Loans  and advances  to customers  568,044  573,485  77,060  174,366   280,617  41,442    -
Trade receivables   3,706  3,965  3,965   -   -   -    -
Other receivables  452  452   145     1  51    4   251
 680,605  686,541  172,047 174,318  295,577   44,348   251

 
 
 
Maturity analys is  for financial  l iabi l i ties :
 
The fol lowing maturi ty analys is  i s  based on contractual gross  cash flows:
 

Carrying
amount

Gross nominal
outflow

Less than
1 month

1 - 3
months

3 months to
1 year 1 - 5 years >5 years

31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Customer deposits 649,665 667,834 115,854 52,120 352,490 147,370 -
Derivative l iabi l i ties 6 6 - - 6 - -



Derivative l iabi l i ties 6 6 - - 6 - -
Other financial
l iabi l i ties 90 109 - 63 46 -
Subordinated l iabi l i ties 10,230 15,080 - 318 953 13,809 -
Trade payables 524 524 524 - - - -
Other payables 4,384 4,702 4,197  (72) 101 476 -
Preference shares - - - - - - -
 664,899 688,255 120,575 52,429 353,596 161,655 -

 

Loan commitments     -   5,972 5,972      -     -         -     -
 
 

Carrying
amount

Gross nominal
outflow

Less
than 1
month

1 - 3
months

3 months to
1 year 1 - 5 years >5 years

31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Customer deposits  574,622   588,866
 

82,022 83,486 355,709  67,649   -
Derivative l iabi l i ties   565   565  -   220  345    -   -
Other financial
l iabi l i ties  1,205   1,622   -    64      189    1,008   361
Subordinated
l iabi l i ties  10,221   16,350     -    318   953  15,079   -
Trade payables   528   528    528     -   -      -    -
Other payables   1,148   1,337   1,045    27   7    258    -
Preference shares    50     50    -     -  50    -    -
 588,339 609,318 83,595 84,115 357,253 83,994 361

 
Loan commitments     -   7,833   7,833     -     -         -     -

 
 
Market risk
Market risk i s  the risk that movements  in market factors , such as  foreign exchange rates , interest rates , credit spreads,
equity prices  and commodity prices  wi l l  reduce the Group's  income or the value of i ts  assets .
 
The principal  market risk to which the Group is  exposed is  interest rate risk.
 
Interest rate risk management
The Group is  exposed to the risk of loss  from fluctua(ons in the future cash flows or fa i r values  of financial  instruments
because of the change in market interest rates .
 
The Group's  borrowings  are ei ther fixed rate, or administered, (being products  where the rate is  set at the DFC's  discretion). 
The Group has  no exposure to LIBOR.  These borrowings  fund loans  and advances  to customers  at fixed rate. 
 
The l imited average dura(on of the loan and deposit book provide a natural  mi(gant against interest rate risk. The Bank
aims to natural ly hedge interest rate risk through rais ing funding of a  s imi lar profile of the loans  being funded. W here this
is  not poss ible, interest rate swaps are used to manage repricing mismatches.
 
The Bank evaluates  changes  in the economic value of equity calculated under the fol lowing s ix supervisory shock scenarios
referred to in Rule 9.7 of the ICAA Part of the PRA Rulebook as  issued by the Prudentia l  Regulation Authori ty (PRA).
 
The impact of changes  in interest rates  has  been assessed in terms of economic value of equity (EVE) and profit or loss .
Economic value of equity (EVE) i s  a  cash flow calcula(on that takes  the present value of a l l  asset cash flows and subtracts
the present value of a l l  l iabi l i ty cash flows.  This  i s  a  long-term economic measure used to assess  the degree of interest
rate risk exposure.
 
The es(mate that a  200bps upward and downward movement in interest rates  would have impacted the economic value of
equity (EVE) i s  as  fol lows:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Change in interest rate (bas is  points):  
Sensitivi ty of EVE +200bps                      (186)                          (268)
Sens itivi ty of EVE -200bps                       156                           273
 
 
 
The es(mate of the effect on the next 12 months  net interest income us ing a  200bps upward and 200bps downward
movement in interest rates  is  as  fol lows:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Change in interest rate (bas is  points):  
Sensitivi ty of profi t +200bps                    1,040 911
Sensitivi ty of profi t -200bps                  (2,233)                      (1,755)
 
 
I n preparing the sens i(vity analyses  above, the Group makes  certain assump(ons cons istent with the expected and
contractual  re-pricing behaviour as  wel l  as  behavioural  repayment profi les  under the two interest rate scenarios .
 
 



 
40.  Earnings per share

2024 2023
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders  £'000  £'000

Profi t after tax attributable to the shareholders
                    

14,021                 3,155

Weighted average number of shares, thousands  

Basic
                 

179,369             179,369

Di lutive impact of share-based payment schemes
                      

9,669                 8,125

Di luted
                 

189,038             187,494

Earnings per share, pence per share  

Basic
                           

7.8                      1.8

Di luted
                           

7.4                      1.7
 
 
41.  Controlling party
 
As at 31 December 2024 there was no control l ing party of the ul(mate parent company of the Group, Distribu(on Finance
Capital  Holdings  plc.
 
 
42. Country by country reporting (CBCR)
 
C BC R was introduced through Ar(cle 89 of C R D I V, a imed at the banking and capital  markets  industry. The name, nature of
activi ties  and geographic location of the Group's  companies  are presented below:
 
Jurisdiction Country Name Activities

UK England
Distribution Finance Capital  Holdings
plc Holding company

DF Capital  Bank Limited
Commercial  lending and special is t personal
savings

DF Capital  Financial  Solutions  Limited
DF Capital  Retai l  Finance Limited

Commercial  lending
Retai l  lending

 
 
Other disclosures  required by the CBCR directive are provided below:
 
UK totals 2024 2023

 
Average number of employees                                     136 126
Turnover, £'000                                76,805 60,350
Profi t before taxation, £'000 19,074 4,573
Taxation charge/(credit), £'000                                  5,053  1,418
 
 
The table below reconci les  tax charged and tax paid during the year.
 

2024 2023
UK totals £'000 £'000
 
Taxation charge/(credit)                                  5,053 1,418
Effects  of:
Deferred taxation asset
recognition

                                          -  (1,345)

Deferred taxation asset uti l i sation                                (3,178)  (73)
Movement in current tax l iabi l i ty                                (1,192) -
Other timing di fferences                                           - -
Taxation paid                                     683 -
 
Al l  ac(vi(es  rela(ng to the Group are conducted within the United K ingdom and the Group is  not subject to non-domes(c
taxation.
 
 
43.  Related party disclosures
 
In the year ended 31 December 2024, Directors  were awarded share-based payments , refer to note 10 for further detai ls .
 
Directors ' emoluments  are disclosed in note 9 of these consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
In the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no other related party transactions.
 
 
44. Transactions with key management personnel
 
Al l  related party transac(ons were made on terms equivalent to those that prevai l  in arm's  length transac(ons. During the
year, there were no related party transac(ons between the key management personnel  and the Group other than as
described below.
 



 
The Directors  and Senior Leadership team are cons idered to be key management personnel . D irectors ' remunera(on is
disclosed in note 9 and in the Directors ' Remunera(on Report on pages  82-85. The Senior Leadership team are a l l
employees  of the Group.  The aggregate remunera(on of the key management personnel  (including Directors) i s  shown in
the table below:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
 

Short-term employment benefi ts 5,072                                    3,808
Share-based payments - 54
Total key management personnel remuneration 5,072                                3,862
 
Key management personnel  held deposits  with the Group of £256,000 (2023: £117,000).
 
 
45. Subsequent events
 
I n January 2025 the Group announced the commencement of a  share buyback programme to purchase ordinary shares
of £0.01 each in the capital  of the Company up to a  maximum aggregate cons idera(on of the lower of ei ther £5 mi l l ion or
17.5 mi l l ion Ordinary Shares.
 
I n February 2025, the Group's  subs idiary, D F Capital  Retai l  F inance Limited, was  granted the relevant regulatory
permiss ions  by the Financial  Conduct Authori ty in order to provide asset finance to consumer borrowers .

 
The Company Statement of Financial Position

2024 2023
 Note £'000 £'000

Assets  
Loans  and advances  to banks 5                      132                      81
Trade and other receivables 7                    106                    157
Amounts  receivable from Group Undertakings 443 86
Investment in subs idiaries 8             136,225             135,604
Total assets              136,906             135,928

 
Liabilities  
Trade and other payables 10                   1,027                    836
Financial  l iabi l i ties 11                            -                      50
Amounts  payable to Group Undertakings 9                   8,270                 6,742
Total liabilities                    9,297                 7,628

 

Equity  

Issued share capital 12                   1,793                 1,793

Share premium 12                            -                          -

Merger rel ief 12                94,911              94,911

Retained earnings                31,345              31,997

Own shares 13                    (440)                  (401)

Total equity               127,609            128,300

Total equity and liabilities              136,906             135,928
 
The notes  on pages  188 to 194 are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements .
 
D istribu(on Finance Capital  Holdings  plc recorded loss  a/er taxa(on for the year ended 31 December 2024 of £1,535,000
(2023: loss  of £779,000). These financial  results  are derived entirely from continuing operations.
 
These financial  s tatements  were approved by the Board of Directors  and authorised for i ssue on 01 Apri l  2025.  They were
s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 
 
 
……………………………
Carl  D'Ammassa
Director
01 Apri l  2025
 
 
Registered number: 11911574

 

The Company Cash Flow Statement

2024 2023
 Note £'000 £'000
 

Cash flows from operating activities:  
Loss  before taxation  (1,892)            (865)



Loss  before taxation  (1,892)            (865)
Adjustments  for non-cash i tems and other adjustments  included in the income statement 6  (1,175)            (1,970)
Decrease in operating assets               1                 (2)
Increase in operating l iabi l i ties             192                137
Taxation paid                 -                     -
Net cash used in operating activities   (2,874)            (2,700)

 
Cash flows from investing activities:
 
  
Net cash used in investing activities   -           -
    
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from intercompany loan          3,067             2,702
Purchase of own shares 13             (142)  (67)
Net cash generated from financing activities  2,925                     2,635
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents             51             (65)
Cash and cash equivalents  at start of the year     5             81             146
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5               132               81

 

The Company Statement of Changes in Equity

 
Issued share
capital

Share
premium3

Merger
relief Own shares2

Retained
earnings/(loss) Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,793 39,273 94,911  (364)  (7,371) 128,242
 
(Loss) after taxation - - - -  (779)  (779)
Share-based payments1 - - - - 905 905
Employee Benefi t Trust2 - - -  (37)  (31)  (68)
Share premium account cancel lation3 -  (39,273) - - 39,273 -

Balance at 31 December 2023
               
1,793

                      
-

             
94,911

                     
(401)

                 
31,997

     
128,300

 
(Loss) after taxation - - - -  (1,535)  (1,535)
Share based payments1 - - - - 985 985
Employee Benefi t Trust2 - - -  (39)  (102)  (141)
Share premium account cancel lation - - - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,793 - 94,911  (440) 31,345 127,609
 
1Refer to note 10 of the consol idated financial  s tatements  for further detai ls  of movements  in the year.
2The Company has  adopted look-through accoun(ng (see note 1.3 to the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements) and
recognised the Employee Benefi t Trusts  within the Company. Refer to note 13 for further detai ls  on movements  in the year.
3I n the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company cancel led i ts  share premium account - refer to note 31 of the
consol idated financial  s tatements  for detai ls .

 

Noes to the Company Financial Statements
1. Basis of preparation
 
1.1 Accounting basis
These standalone financial  s tatements  for Distribu(on Finance Capital  Holdings  plc (the "Company") have been prepared
and approved by the Directors  in accordance with I nterna(onal  F inancial  Repor(ng Standards  ("I F RSs") as  adopted by the
United Kingdom (UK) and interpretations  issued by the IFRS Interpretations  Committee (IFRS IC).
 
1.2 Going concern
As detai led in note 1 to the consol idated financial  s tatements , the Directors  have performed an assessment of the
appropriateness  of the going concern bas is . The Directors  cons ider that i t i s  appropriate to con(nue to adopt the going
concern bas is  in preparing the financial  s tatements .
 
1.3 Income statement
Under Sec(on 408 of the Companies  Act 2006 the Company is  exempt from the requirement to present i ts  own income
statement.
 
2. Summary of material accounting policies
 
These financial  s tatements  have been prepared us ing the materia l  accoun(ng pol icies  as  set out in note 2 to the
consol idated financial  s tatements . Any further accoun(ng pol icies  provided below are solely appl icable to the Company
financial  s tatements .
 
2.1 Investment in subsidiaries
 
I n accordance with I AS 27 Separate F inancial  Statements  the Company has  elected to account for an investment in
subs idiary at cost. The Company performs an impairment assessment on the investment in subs idiary at each repor(ng
date to assess  whether the cost bas is  reflects  an accurate value of the investment at the reporting date.



date to assess  whether the cost bas is  reflects  an accurate value of the investment at the reporting date.
 
3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
 
I n the financial  s tatements  for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has  not made any cri(cal  accoun(ng
judgements  and key sources  of es(ma(on which are cons idered to be materia l  in value or s ignificance to the performance
of the Company.
 
 
4. Net loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Net loss  attributable to equity shareholder of the Company (1,535)             (779)
 
 
 
5. Loans and advances to banks
 
 2024 2023

 £'000 £'000
 

Included in cash and cash equivalents : balances  with
less  than three months  to maturi ty at inception              132                 81
Total loans and advances to banks              132                 81
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Notes to the cash flow statement
 
See below for reconci l ia(on of balances  class ified as  cash and cash equivalents , which are recognised within the cash
flow statement:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Loans  and advances  to banks    132                81
Total cash and cash equivalents    132                81
 
 
Adjustments  for non-cash i tems and other adjustments  included in the income statement:
 

2024 2023
  £'000 £'000

 
Management fee recharge                          (1,540)                          (2,287)
Share-based payments                              365                              317
Total non-cash items and other adjustments                            (1,175)                             (1,970)
 
 
 
Changes  in l iabi l i ties  aris ing from financing activi ties :
 
Please see note 9 for changes  in the Company's  l iabi l i ties  aris ing from financing activi ties , including both cash and non-
cash changes, for the years  ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
 
 
7. Trade and other receivables
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Other debtors                       -                 50
Indirect taxes                   55                 11
Prepayments                   51                 96
Total trade and other receivables                 106               157
 
 
8. Investment in subsidiaries
 

 £'000

Balance at 1 January 2023       134,213
 
Capital  contribution - parent equity-settled share-based payments            1,391

Balance at 31 December 2023       135,604
 
Capital  contribution - parent equity-settled share-based payments               621



Capital  contribution - parent equity-settled share-based payments               621

Balance at 31 December 2024       136,225
 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company conducted an impairment assessment of the investment in subs idiaries
and concluded that there is  no impairment required (2023: £ni l ).
 
9. Amounts payable to Group undertakings
 
 2024 2023

 £'000 £'000
 
Amounts  payable to DF Capital  Bank Limited            8,270            6,742
Total amounts payable to Group undertakings            8,270            6,742
 
Al l  amounts  drawn and outstanding under the intercompany loan faci l i ty, including al l  accrued interest and costs , are
payable on demand by the lender D F Capital  Bank Limited. I nterest on the loan shal l  accrue dai ly and is  charged at 4% over
the Sterl ing O vernight I ndexed Average (S O NI A) rate at the end of each calendar month. This  contractual  agreement has  an
expiry date of 31 December 2024.
 
10. Trade and other payables
 
 2024 2023

 £'000 £'000
 
Trade payables               194               187
Accruals                  678               593
Social  securi ty taxes               155                 56
Total trade and other payables               1,027               836
 
 
 
11. Financial liabilities
 
 2024 2023

 £'000 £'000
 
Preference shares -                50
Total financial liabilities                -                50
 
 
Reconci l iation of movements  in financial  l iabi l i ties :

 Preference Shares
 £'000

 
Balance at 1 January 2023                                      50
 
No transactions in the year                                         -

Balance at 31 December 2023                                      50
 
Preference shares redemption                                         (50)

Balance at 31 December 2024                                      -
 
 
 
12. Share capital

 2024 2023 2024 2023
 

 No. No. £'000 £'000
 

Authorised:
 

Ordinary shares  of 1p each 179,369,199 179,369,199              1,793              1,793
 

Al lotted, i ssued and ful ly paid: Ordinary shares  of 1p each 179,369,199 179,369,199              1,793              1,793
 

Date No. of shares
Issue
Price

Share
Capital

Share
Premium

Merger
Relief Total

  # £ £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

At 1 January 2023
  

179,369,199        1,793       39,273
  

94,911   135,977
 

Share premium account cancellation 29-Jun-23                       -
              

-               -     (39,273)              -     (39,273)

At 31 December 2023  
  

179,369,199        1,793 -
  

94,911       96,704
 

No transactions in the year                       -
              

-               - -              - -

At 31 December 2024  
  

179,369,199        1,793                -
  

94,911     96,704



At 31 December 2024  179,369,199        1,793                - 94,911     96,704
 
 
 
 
 
13. Own shares

 £'000
 
Balance at 1 January 2023             (364)
 
Acquis i tion of shares                (67)
Settlement of employee share awards                 30

Balance at 31 December 2023             (401)
 
Acquis i tion of shares             (142)
Settlement of employee share awards               103

Balance at 31 December 2024             (440)
 
 
14. Financial instruments
 
The Group monitors  and manages  risk management at a  group-level  and, therefore, the Risk Management Framework
stipulated in note 39 of the consol idated financial  s tatements  encompasses  the Company risk management environment.
 
The Company and Directors  bel ieve the principal  risks  of the Company to be credit risk, l iquidity risk and capital  ri sk. The
Directors  have evaluated the fol lowing risks  to ei ther not be relevant to the Company or of immateria l  s ignificance: market
risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk.
 
The regulatory capital  requirements  in respect of capital  ri sk are assessed at both a consol idated group level  and for D F
Capital  Bank Limited at an enti ty level .
 
See note 39 of the consol idated financial  s tatements  for further detai ls  on how the Company defines and manages  credit
risk, l iquidity risk and capital  ri sk.
 
 
 
F inancial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i(es  included in the statement of financial  pos i(on that are not measured at fa i r
value:
 

Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 
Financial  assets  not
measured at fa i r value
Loans and advances  to banks 132 132               132                  - -
Other receivables               55               55                  -                  - 55
Amounts  receivable from Group Undertakings 144 144 - - 144

 
           

331             331 132                  - 199
 
31 December 2024      
 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  not
measured at fa i r value

Trade payables
           

194             194                  -                  - 194

Other payables
           

155             155                  -                  - 155
Preference shares               -               -                  -                  - -

Amounts  payable to Group Undertakings
        

8,270
        

8,270                  -                  - 8,270
        

8,619
        

8,619                  -                  - 8,619
 
 
 

Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Financial  assets  not

measured at fa i r value:

Loans  and advances  to banks             81             81             81                  -                  -

Other receivables               61               61                  -                  -               61

Amounts  receivable from Group Undertakings 86 86 - - 86

             228             228             81                  -             147



             228             228             81                  -             147
 
 

  

31 December 2023      
 
Financial  l iabi l i ties  not

measured at fa i r value:

Trade payables 187 187 - - 187

Other payables               56               56                  -                  -               56

Preference shares               50               50                  -                  -               50

Amounts  payable to Group Undertakings
        

6,742
        

6,742                  -                  -          6,742

 
        

7,035
        

7,035                  -                  -          7,035
 
 
 
 
 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk:
 

2024 2023
 £'000 £'000

 
Loans  and advances  to banks             132             81
Trade and other receivables               55               61
Amounts  receivable from Group Undertakings 144 86

             331             228
 
 
Maturi ty analys is  for financial  assets  
 
The fol lowing maturi ty analys is  i s  based on expected gross  cash flows:
 

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal

inflow
Less than
1 months

1 - 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 - 5
years >5 years

31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Loans  and advances  to banks               132
             

132
             

132
                

-                  -                  -                  -
Other receivables 55 55 55 - - - -
Amounts  receivable from
Group Undertakings 144 144 - - 144 - -

             331             331             187 -               144 -                  -
 

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal

inflow
Less than 1

months
1 - 3

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 - 5
years >5 years

31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Loans  and advances  to banks  81  81  81   -   -   -   -

Other receivables   61   61   11  -  50    -    -
Amounts  receivable from Group
Undertakings 86 86 - - 86 - -

  228   228   92   -    136    -     -
 
 
Maturi ty analys is  for financial  l iabi l i ties
 
The fol lowing maturi ty analys is  i s  based on contractual gross  cash flows:

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal
outflow

Less than 1
months

1 - 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 - 5
years >5 years

31 December 2024 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 

Trade payables 194 194 194 -                  - - -

Other payables 155 265                 59 -              33 173 -
Preference shares - -                  - -               - - -
Amounts  payable to Group
Undertakings 8,270 8,270                  - - 8,270 - -

 8,619 8,729 253 - 8,303 173 -
 
 

Carrying
amount

Gross
nominal
outflow

Less than 1
months

1 - 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 - 5
years >5 years



amount outflow months months to 1 year years >5 years
31 December 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Trade payables 187 187 187 -                  - - -
Other payables 56 111               33 -               - 78 -
Preference shares 50 50                  - -               50 - -
Amounts  payable to Group Undertakings 6,742 6,742                  - - 6,742 - -

 7,035 7,090 220 - 6,792 78 -
 
 
 
 
15. Subsequent events
 
I n January 2025 the Company announced the commencement of a  share buyback programme to purchase ordinary shares
of £0.01 each in the capital  of the Company up to a  maximum aggregate cons idera(on of the lower of ei ther £5 mi l l ion or
17.5 mi l l ion Ordinary Shares.
 

Appendix - Alternative Performance Measures
Certain financial  measures  disclosed in this  Annual  Report do not have a standardised meaning prescribed by
International  Financial  Reporting Standards  (IFRS) and may therefore not be comparable to s imi lar measures  presented by
other issuers . These measures  (defined below) are deemed to be al ternative performance measures  ("APMs").

APMs may be cons idered in addition to, but not as  a  substi tute for, the reported IFRS results . The Group bel ieves  that these
APMs, when cons idered together with reported IFRS results , provide stakeholders  with additional  information to better
understand the Group's  financial  performance.

Gross revenues (£m)  

 2024 2023

 
Interest and s imi lar income 76.8 60.0

Fee income 1.2 1.4

Fee expenses (1.6) (0.7)
Net gains/(losses) on derivatives  at fa i r value through profi t or
loss  and other operating income

0.4 (0.3)

Total gross revenues 76.8 60.4
Sum of interest and s imi lar income, fee income less  fee expenses, net gains/ (losses) on disposal  of financial  assets  at fa i r
value through other comprehensive income, net losses  from derivatives  measured at fa i r value through profi t or loss  and
other operating income.

Gross yield (%)  

2024 2023

 
Interest and s imi lar income on loans  and advances  to customers
(£m)

71.6 55.2

Fee income (£m) 1.2 1.4

72.9 56.6

Average gross  receivables  (£m) 595.0 508.8

Gross yield (%) 12.2% 11.1%
The effective interest rate we charge our customers  including fees.

Net interest margin (%)  

2024 2023

 
Total  operating income (£m) 45.6 38.0

Add back: Fee expenses  (£m) 1.6 0.7

Adjusted total  operating income (£m) 47.2 38.7

Average gross  receivables  (£m) 595.0 508.8

Net interest margin (%) 7.9% 7.6%
Total  operating income adding back fee expense, as  a  % of gross  receivables  at the year end.

Cost of risk (%)  

2024 2023

 
Impairment charges  (£m) 0.2 (11.6)

Average gross  receivables  (£m) 595.0 508.8

Cost of risk (%) 0.04% (2.28%)
Impairments  charges  in the year as  a  % of average gross  receivables

Cost to income ratio (%)  

2024 2023

 
Staff costs  (£m) 16.0 13.4

Other operating expenses  (£m) 10.7 8.4

Total  operating expenses  (£m) 26.7 21.8
Total  operating income (£m) 45.6 38.0



Total  operating income (£m) 45.6 38.0

Cost to income ratio (%) 59% 58%
Total  operating expenses  as  a  % of total  operating income

Tangible net asset value per share  

2024 2023

 
Total  assets  (£m) 786.5 691.9

Total  l iabi l i ties  (£m) (671.2) (591.5)

Net assets  (£m) 115.4 100.4
Less: Intangible assets  (£m) (1.0) (0.6)

Net assets  less  intangible assets 114.4 98.8

Weighted average number of shares  in issue ('000) 179,369 179,369

Tangible net asset value per share (p) 63.8p 55.6p
Net assets  less  intangible assets  divided by the weighted average number of shares  in issue during the year.

Impairment loss coverage on loans to customers (%)  

2024 2023

 
Impairment a l lowance on loans  and advances  to customers  (£m) 6.6 14.6

Gross  carrying amount of loans  and advances  to customers  (£m) 669.8 584.1

Impairment loss coverage on loans to customers (%) 0.98% 2.50%
Impairment a l lowance as  a  % of gross  carrying amount of loans  and advances  to customers  at the year end.

Adjusted profit before tax (£m)  

 2024 2023

 
Profi t before tax 19.1 4.6

Real location of RoyaleLi fe write back from 2024 to 2023 (4.7) 4.7

Adjusted profit before tax 14.4 9.3
This  adjusted profi t before tax figure real locates  the 2024 write back on RoyaleLi fe to 2023 to match the timing of when the
original  provis ion was recognised.

Adjusted cost of risk (%)  

2024 2023

 
Impairment charges  (£m) 0.2 (11.6)

Real location of RoyaleLi fe write back from 2024 to 2023 (4.7) 4.7

Adjusted impairment charges  (£m) (4.5) (6.9)

Average gross  receivables  (£m) 595.0 508.8

Adjusted cost of risk (%) 0.75% 1.36%
Impairments  charges  in the year as  a  % of average gross  receivables  real locating the 2024 write back on RoyaleLi fe to 2023
to match the timing of when the original  provis ion was recognised.

 

Adjusted return on customer assets (%)  

2024 2023

 
Profi t after tax (£m) 14.0 3.2

Post tax real location of RoyaleLi fe write back from 2024 to 2023 (3.5) 3.5

Adjusted profi t after tax (£m) 10.5 6.7

Average gross  receivables  (£m) 595.0 508.8

Adjusted return on customer assets (%) 1.8% 1.3%
Profi t after tax adjusted to real locate the post-tax 2024 write back on RoyaleLi fe to 2023 to match the timing of when the
original  provis ion was recognised.  This  i s  then divided by average gross  receivables  during the year.

 

Adjusted return on equity (%)  

2024 2023

 
Profi t after tax (£m) 14.0 3.2

Post tax real location of RoyaleLi fe write back from 2024 to 2023 (3.5) 3.5

Adjusted profi t after tax (£m) 10.5 6.7

Average equity (£m) 107.4 100.3

Adjusted return on customer assets (%) 9.8% 6.7%
Profi t after tax adjusted to real locate the post-tax 2024 write back on RoyaleLi fe to 2023 to match the timing of when the
original  provis ion was recognised.  This  i s  then divided by average equity during the year.

Adjusted basic earnings per share  

2024 2023

 
Profi t after tax (£m) 14.0 3.2



Profi t after tax (£m) 14.0 3.2

Post tax real location of RoyaleLi fe write back from 2024 to 2023 (3.5) 3.5

Adjusted profi t after tax (£m) 10.5 6.7

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  outstanding ('000) 179,369 179,369

Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence) 5.9p 3.7p
Adjusted bas ic EPS is  calculated by dividing profi t attributable to ordinary equity holders  of the Company, after adjusting
to real locate the post-tax 2024 write back on RoyaleLi fe to 2023 to match the timing of when the original  provis ion was
recognised, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares  outstanding during the period.

 

Regulatory capital (£m)  

2024 2023

 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital 98.8 79.3

Tier 2 capital 10.2 10.3

Regulatory capital 109.0 89.5
Regulatory capital  i s  the Common Equity Tier 1 capital  together with Tier 2 capital .

Number of dealers

Number of borrower relationships .

Number of manufacturer partners

Number of vendors  and manufacturers  with whom we have programs that support our lending.

Total credit available to dealers

Amount of credit avai lable to our customers  to draw (uncommitted) including existing drawings.
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